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Due to the importance of Cecil Co. as a jumping-off point for migrations into Virginia, the 
Carolinas, Ohio, Western Pennsylvania, etc., and also because we found so many contradictory 
statements about particular wills from this county, we decided to abstract the early will books, 
attempting to get all of the heirs, and all of the dates.  With this information, the genealogist will be 
able to find the full text on the microfilms.  We happened to start with the Family History Library 
microfilm that has books ―CC 3‖ to ―FF 6‖. 
 
The wills contain much additional information about slaves.  Many are mentioned by name, and 
there are a few whose parents are named as well.  We have not attempted to extract this information. 
 
Some of the wills express confusion about whether the testators were living in Chester Co., PA or 
Cecil Co., MD, because of the boundary disputes of that period.  We only list locations when there 
is specific information. 
 
Some individuals are identified as Quakers in these records.  This happens most often when they 
appear as witnesses who ―affirm‖ rather than ―swear‖ to the authenticity of a will. 
 
Original spellings are used (barring typographical errors in the abstracts!), but names are frequently 
spelled in different ways in the same record.  Alternate spellings attested within a given probate are 
shown in parentheses.  When we have guessed, through internal evidence or otherwise, the modern 
equivalent of a particular spelling, we show that in parentheses with an equal sign:  Mevey (=McVey).  
Names that could not be read with certainty are indicated with a question mark.  When the day of a 
month is not indicated, it is represented with a double question mark:  ?? dec 1805.  In wills written 
by Quakers, months are usually indicated (even when the name of the month is not idolatrous) as 
―first month‖, ―tenth month‖, etc.  The point of reference for this style of dates, at least from the 
1770’s forward, is January, as shown in such constructions as ―third month commonly called 
March‖ (book EE 5, probate 95). 
 
Book ―CC 3‖, 177 pp., containing 63 numbered probates (FHL microfilm #0013868).  The 
following pages were missed on the microfilm:  165-166, 169-170, and 173-174. 
 

1.  Rebecca Armstrong (p. 1), 04 apr 1777, son Caleb, daughter Martha (<16), son Richard, son 
Lewis, sons Noble and William.  Residual heirs daughters Mary and Martha, son John.  
Executor Jeremiah Taylor, friend.  Witnesses Benjamin Bravard, Noble Beddil (=Biddle), 
Margarat Curtney.  Proved 20 jun 1777.  Recorded 16 mar 1778. 

2. George Ford (p. 3), 24 may 1777, eldest son Thomas, younger son Richard (<21) (guardian 
Frederick Stem?), daughter Mary Smith, daughter Ann, daughter Susannah (<18), son-in-law 
Elijah Bouldin, ―grown daughter‖ Susannah (=wife of Elijah Bouldin, thus he had two 
daughters named Susannah, implying perhaps 2 marriages?), son-in-law John Smith, grand-
daughters Sarah, Elizabeth, and Augusteen Bouldin.  Residual heirs daughters Ann, Sarah, 
and Susannah.  Witnesses Valentine Carpenter, Michael Chairn?  Proved 20 jun 1777.  
Recorded 16 mar 1778. 



3. Jethro Baker (p. 7), 02 jun 1777, wife Ann, son Nathan <21, son Jethro <21 (land my father 
Henry Baker lived on in the Manor of Cecil Co.), daughters Siney and Lydia both <18.  
Executor James Orrack (Orrick).  Witnesses Samuel Maffit, Andrew Reed, Thomas Silson.  
Proved 30 jun 1777.  Recorded 16 mar 1778. 

4. Elisabeth Hyland (p. 10), 06 oct 1775, son Isaac, son Nicholas, grand-daughters Mary, 
Elisabeth, and Meliscent Williamson all <16, daughter Meliscent Williamson, grand-daughter 
Racheal Lum, grand-daughter Elisabeth Hyland.  Residual heirs Isaac Hyland, Nicholas 
Hyland, Meliscent Williamson, and Jacob Hyland.  Witnesses Nicolas George, William 
Crouch, Michael Lum.  Proved 28 jun 1777.  Testimony of Stephen Hyland regarding 
changes to will in his presence 29 may 1777.  Testator Elisabeth Hyland died the next day, 
30 may 1777.  Recorded 19 mar 1778. 

5. Samuel Anderson of Millford (p. 13), 20 may 1777, wife Ann, daughter Sarah, brother John 
Anderson.  Executors his wife and Samuel Maffit.  Witnesses Matthew Taylor, John 
Anderson, Samuel Maffet.  Proved 01 jul 1777.  Recorded 19 mar 1778. 

6. Nicholas Dorrell (p. 16), 28 jan 1777, son James Dorrel Fitchgarrell (=an attempt at 
Fitzgerald?), son Hyland Fitchgarrall, son Shaddrack Dorrell, all <14.  Executor brother 
James Dorrell.  Witnesses James Coppin, Joseph Pennington, Joseph Hutcheson.  Proved 25 
jul 1777.  Recorded 20 mar 1778. 

7. William Beddle (=Biddle) (p. 18), 12 mar 1776, wife Mary.  Executors Andrew Miller, Jeremiah 
Taylor.  After wife’s decease, remainder of the estate will go to Andrew Biddle, son of Noble 
Biddle.  Witnesses Joseph Cooper, John Howard.  Proved 26 jul 1777.  Recorded 20 mar 
1778. 

8. Nathaniel Chick (Cheek) millar (p. 20), 08 mar 1777, wife Mary, daughter Susannah, son 
Perigan?, daughter Sarah, daughter Tabitha, son Nathaniel, daughter Mary, daughter Nancy.  
Executor his wife.  Witnesses (partly illegible) Peregrine Vandergrift, William …  Proved 28 
jun 1777.  Recorded 20 mar 1778. 

9. Jean (=Jane) Borland of West Nottingham (p. 23), 04 mar 1777, son Samuel, daughter Racheal, 
son John, son James, sister Martha Hunter, son William.  Executors sons John and James, 
friends James Maxwell and William Johnson.  Witnesses Henry Anderson, William Coard 
(Cord), Elener Marquis.  Codicil 03 jun 1777.  Proved 20 aug 1777.  Recorded 20 mar 1778. 

10. Joseph Rich of the township of West Nottingham (p. 27), 07 nov 1775, wife Sarah, son 
Stephen, daughter Martha McReynolds, daughter Mary Blackburn, daughter Rachel Hains, 
daughter Hannah Hains, son Thomas.  Residual heirs daughters Prudence Rich and 
Elizabeth Rich.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Elisha Gatchel, James Evans, Nathan Harris.  
(nothing further for this entry) 

11. John Veazey (p. 30), 04 mar 1776, eldest son Edward, third son William, daughter Rebeccah 
Sturgis (wife of Joseph Sturgis) including part of a pew at St. Stephen’s Church, grand-
daughter Susannah Veazey daughter of Rebecca Sturgis, fourth son Thomas Brockus 
Veazey.  Executor Thomas Brockus Veazey.  Witnesses William Coursey?, Lewis Price, John 
Ward.  Proved 27 sep 1777.  Recorded 22 mar 1778. 

12. James Meely of East Nottingham (p. 33), 08 aug 1777, Thomas Brisland (no relationship 
stated), wife and four children not named.  Witnesses Patrick Power, Ann Mealy.  Proved 13 
nov 1777.  Recorded 30 mar 1778. 

13. Richard Dobson (p. 35), 13 aug 1777, son George <21, son Stephen, daughter Mary 
(guardian:  Mr. Samuel Wallis of Pennsylvania), step-daughter Cassandra Jacobs, step-
daughter Gracey Jacobs.  Witnesses James Booth, Abraham Mitchell, John Simpers.  Proved 
15 nov 1777.  Recorded 30 mar 1778. 



14. Mary Harrison widow (p. 38), 02 nov 1777, son Samuel Crockett; grandchildren Benjamin 
and John sons of Dr. Benjamin Crockett, Richard son of Philip Nelson, Gilbert, Samuel, and 
Benjamin sons of Gilbert Crockett, Ann and Elizabeth daughters of the aforesaid Samuel 
Crockett, Philip and Burgess sons of Philip Nelson aforesaid, Sarah and Gilbert children of 
aforesaid Dr. Benjamin Crockett.  Executors son Samuel Crockett, grandson John Crockett.  
Witnesses Andrew Barratt, Casandra Durbin, Francis Boyd.  Proved 22 nov 1777.  Recorded 
30 mar 1778. 

15. Thomas Frisby Henderson (p. 40), 18 feb 1777, daughter Frances, daughter Cordelia, son 
Frisby, wife Hannah.  Witnesses Benjamin Thomas, William Buchanan, John Howard.  
Proved 25 nov 1777.  Recorded 30 mar 1778. 

16. Catharine Evans (p. 43), 07 apr 1777, sons John and Amos, daughter Margaret Moor, 
daughter Elianor Duguet.  Executor son John.  Witnesses Edward Dougherty, John Wood, 
John Stump.  Proved 26 jan 1778.  Recorded 04 apr 1778. 

17. Robert Thackery (p. 45), 21 oct 1777, eldest son James, daughter Racheal, wife Racheal.  
Residual heirs children James, Mary, Christy, Ann, Rebecca, Roberd (=Robert), Thomas.  
Executor his wife and son James Thackery.  Witnesses Stephen Hyland, John Crouch, 
Rebecca Jones.  Proved 10 feb 1778 (executor James Thackery withdraws).  Recorded 04 apr 
1778. 

18. Samuel Ralston (p. 48), 16 dec 1777, brother William and sister Elizabeth Ralston of County 
Donegall near Castle Fin in Kingdom of Ireland.  Executor friend Benjamin Bravard.  
Witnesses Andrew Wallace, Andrew Miller, William Hyde.  Proved 10 feb 1778.  Recorded 
11 apr 1778. 

19. James Wroth being a member of the Church of England (p. 49), 06 may 1777, son James, 
grand-daughter Tamar Childs, grand-daughter Amy Wroth daughter of son James, daughter-
in-law Ruth Gofton, daughter-in-law Sarah Hayes.  Residual heirs daughter Catherine Rice, 
daughter Mary Hanson, and children of my daughter Ann deceased.  Executors friend John 
Hall, son James Wroth.  Witnesses Henrietta Rachel Hall, John Credich, R. Seurrey Jr.  
Proved 12 feb 1778.  Recorded 13 apr 1778. 

20. John White of the township of East Nottingham (p. 52), 07 jun 1775, son William, son John, 
daughter Mary Shepherd, son Joshua, daughter Sarah Shepherd, son Jonathan (and 
Jonathan’s son Jacob), wife Agnes, grandsons:  John son of William White, Eley son of 
Samuel White, grand-daughters: Phebe White daughter of Patience White, Elizabeth White 
daughter of Samuel White.  Executors his wife, son John, Archibald Job.  Witnesses William 
Cole, Jesse Brown, George Day.  Proved 27 mar 1778.  (no recording date) 

21. Nicholas Carter of Susquehannah Hundred (p. 56), 04 jun 1776, brother Nathaniel, friend 
Mordecai James, ―Samuel, Thomas, and Edward Kelly, grandsons to Hannah Kelly‖.  
Residual heir friend Hannah Kelly.  Witnesses Arthur Alexander, Robert McMaster.  Proved 
06 apr 1778.  Recorded 03 jul 1778. 

22. Thomas Cosden (p. 59), 09 apr 1778, daughter Catharane, children of brother Alphonso (not 
specified).  Executor uncle James Cosden.  Witnesses Thomas Price, Isaac Holt.  Proved 12 
apr 1778.  Recorded 03 jul 1778. 

23. Dennis Keys (p. 61), 15 apr 1777, Michael Connely, Edward Shields.  Witnesses Benjamin 
Sluyter, James Tagus, Rebecca Whitesides.  Proved 28 apr 1778.  Recorded 03 jul 1778. 

24. James Porter of Octorara Hundred (p. 63), 23 jan 1775, wife Elionor, son William, son 
Alexander, son Stephen, son James, daughters Elizabeth and Elionor, son George, nephew 
James Porter Ewing, daughter Mary Ewing.  Mention of land in Cumberland Co., PA.  
Executors sons William and Stephen.  Witnesses Nathan Ramsey, Thomas Porter, James 



Carrithers.  Proved 27 apr 1778.  On 04 jun 1778 widow accepts legacies in lieu of dower.  
Recorded 08 jul 1778. 

25. William Barroll clerk of St. Stephen’s Parish (p. 68), 30 mar 1778, son William, son Richard, 
mention of uncle Hugh Jones, son James, wife Ann, daughters Ann, Sarah, and Abigail.  
Executor his wife.  Witness Joseph Lusby.  Proved 05 may 1778.  Recorded 09 jul 1778. 

26. Charles Whitelock (p. 72), 22 feb 1752, wife not named, son James, son Edward.  Witnesses 
William Welsh, John Welsh.  Proved 13 jun 1778 (by Andrew, son of John Welsh, and by 
Jean (=Jane) Commey alias Whitelock, who had possession of the will).  Recorded 09 jul 
1778. 

27. Maurice Rogers of Philadelphia, now of Worset Manor in Cecil County (p. 75), 24 jun 1778, 
wife Mary, cousin Alexander Foster, the youngest child of Thomas Rogers of Killard in the 
County of Waterford (Ireland), also minor bequests to Catharine Scott, Sarah Neile, 
Elizabeth Nixon, and Alexander Foster.  Executors John Nixon, John Maxwell.  Proved 20 
jul 1778.  Recorded 11 sep 1778. 

28. Dr. Robert Johnson of Cecil County now in Philadelphia, surgeon in the Continental service 
(p. 79), 10 dec 1776, wife Margaret, three children not named.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses 
John Ord, William Web.  Proved 19 oct 1778 (widow elects dower).  Recorded 18 nov 1778. 

29. George Johnson (p. 81), 07 jul 1776, wife Ann, eldest son Thomas.  Residual heirs the rest of 
his children:  Mary, William, Millicant (=Millicent), Benjamin.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses 
John Patterson, David Patterson Jr., Robert Porter.  Proved 31 oct 1778.  Recorded 18 nov 
1778. 

30. Philemon Noble (p. 84), 22 sep 1778, wife Margaret.  Executors his wife and Edward Ford.  
Witnesses Daniel Charles Heath, William Heath.  Proved 10 nov 1778.  Recorded 18 nov 
1778. 

31. Morrill Allen of Nottingham (p. 86), 09 mar 1779, daughters Mary and Elizabeth.  Executors 
James Doherty and Joseph Coulson.  Witnesses Thomas Coulson, a Quaker, Joseph Porter, 
a Quaker, and Anne Morris.  Proved 19 mar 1779.  Recorded 25 mar 1779. 

32. John Johnson of West Nottingham Hundred farmer (p. 88), 31 dec 1778, wife Mary, son 
William, daughter Mary, daughter Rose, daughter-in-law Margret, daughter Sarah (and her 
son John), daughter Anne (and her son John).  Residual heir son William.  Executors wife 
Mary and son William.  Witnesses James Maxwell Esq., Andrew Wark, Robert ffinley 
(Finley).  Proved 20 mar 1779.  Recorded 25 mar 1779. 

33. John Holland (p. 91), 21 feb 1779, brother Thomas Bouchelle, mentions estate of his 
mother, Dr. Joshua Clayton.  Residual heirs Margdalin McClary for her lifetime, then reverts 
to Dr. Joshua Clayton.  Executor Dr. Joshua Clayton.  Witnesses John Dockery Thompson, 
William Mathews, John McClary.  Proved 29 mar 1779.  Recorded 24 apr 1779. 

34. Mary Ward (p. 94), 02 apr 1779, son Peregrine Ward’s four children (Peregrine Ward, Mary 
Chew Ward, Rebeccah Ward, and Elisabeth Harrison Ward).  Executor his son Peregrine 
Ward.  Witnesses John Stoops, William Stoops, Henry Pryce.  Proved 04 may 1779.  
Recorded 10 may 1779. 

35. Robert Lesslie (Laslie) (p. 96), 02 may 1779, wife Deborah, unnamed grandchildren, son 
Robert (among other properties, ½ of lot 12 in Charlestown, and ½ of lot 15 in 
Charlestown), son Thomas (the other ½ of lot 12 in Charlestown), son William (and 
William’s son Robert and William’s wife Christian Lesslie), grand-daughter Deborah 
(daughter of Thomas Lesslie), Thomas Nixon (other ½ of lot 15 in Charlestown), William 
Domaign (―plantation where he lives, left to me by my father‖).  Minor bequests to Dr. John 
Beard and Thomas Russel.  Executors his wife and son Robert.  Witnesses John Beard, 



Robert Oar, David Worley, William Stephenson.  Proved 29 may 1779.  Recorded 15 jul 
1779. 

36. James Alexander (p. 100), 17 jun 1772, wife Abigail (mentions a marriage contract), grandson 
George Alexander, son Josiah, son Amos, son Ezekiel (land in Mecklenburg Co., NC), 
grandson James (son of Hezekiah Alexander), grandson Amos (son of Amos Alexander), 
son Hezekiah, daughter Jemima Sharp, daughter Elizabeth Sample, daughter Abigail Bradley, 
daughter Margaret McCay.  Residual heirs:  children Hezekiah, Amos, John, Josiah, Ezekiel, 
Jemima, Elizabeth, Abigail, and Margaret.  Executors sons Amos and Josiah Alexander and 
Hezekiah South.  Witnesses John Alexander, Andrew Wark, John McGregor?  Proved 31 
may 1779.  Recorded 15 jul 1779. 

37. Samuel Love (p. 104), 21 apr 1779, wife Roseanna (Rosanna), daughter Jean (=Jane), 
daughter Mary Borland, daughter Margret, daughter Elizabeth, daughters Ann and Rosanna 
both <17.  Residual heirs sons Robert, Samuel, and James.  Executors wife Rosanna and 
friend Alexander Read.  Witnesses James Maxwell, John Welch, Samuel Willson.  Proved 14 
jun 1779.  Recorded 16 jul 1779. 

38. John White of Charleston, marriner (mariner) (p. 107), 13 nov 1776, ―being forthwith to 
depart upon a voyage in the brigantine Sturdy Beggar bound from Baltimore… into parts 
unknown‖, wife Sarah, children James, Thomas, and Hannah.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses 
James Cunningham, John Cunningham, James Campbell.  Proved 17 jun 1779.  Recorded 16 
jul 1779. 

39. Samuel Paterson (Patterson) (p. 109), 01 apr 1779, wife Mary Patterson, nephew Michael 
Wallace (Wallis) second son of my sister Easter Wallis, brother John, nephew Samuel 
Patterson Wallis, eldest son of my sister Easter Wallis, sister Elizabeth Maxwell, nieces Sally 
and Polley Wallis.  Residual heirs sisters Elizabeth Maxwell and Easter Wallis.  Executors his 
wife Mary and Thomas Wallis.  Witnesses John Hammond Cromwell, John Patterson, James 
Pallen.  Proved 26 jun 1779.  Recorded 16 jul 1779. 

40. Mary George (p. 113), 28 apr 1778, daughters Elizabeth Drew and Rebecca Manley, son 
Nicholas George.  Executor son Nicholas.  Witnesses William Crouch and Mary Hall.  
Proved 13 jul 1779.  Recorded 19 jul 1779. 

41. Abraham Emmitt (Emitt) (p. 115), 20 aug 1774, grandson David Emitt, grandson John 
Emitt, grandson Samuel Emitt, wife Rebeckah.  Executors wife Rebeckah and friends 
Robert Evans and Hezekiah South and son John Emitt ―if my son John lived to come 
home‖.  Witnesses Ann South, Magdeline South, Edward Wier, Thomas Weir.  Codicil 03 
oct 1777, John Emitt to be executor, witnessed by Ann South and Magdalene South.  Proved 
09 aug 1779.  Recorded 14 feb [1780]. 

42. John Wilkinson planter (p. 118), 18 jul 1775, wife Mary, son Robert Wilkinson.  Executor 
wife Mary.  Witnesses James Barkey, Catharine Jenny, John Lesslie.  Proved 2 nov 1779.  
Recorded 14 feb [1780]. 

43. John Rankin yeoman (p. 120), 29 may 1779, son Alexander, son Joseph, son John, son 
George, daughter Jane Flanagen, daughter Presila Rankin.  Residual heirs his children 
George (2 shares), Alexander, Joseph, John, Jane, Presila.  Executors his son John , nephew 
Thomas Rankin.  Witnesses Hezekiah South, John Scott, Elizabeth Thomson.  Proved 07 
dec 1779, recorded 15 feb 1780. 

44. Alexander Kirk (p. 123), 17 jun 1779, wife Ann, sons Alexander and John both <21, 
daughters Margaret, Mary, and Elisabeth.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Manasset Logue 
(Loague), Robert Armstrong, Isaac Logue.  Recorded 15 feb 1780. 

45. Henry Reynolds of the township of West Nottingham (p. 125) 08 jan ? (―first month‖) 1777, 
wife Mary, seven sons William, Samuel, Henry, Jacob, Isaac, Jesse, and David, another son 



Elisha, Mary widow of Benjamin Reynolds deceased, six children of Benjamin Reynolds 
(Stephen, Isaac, Jesse, John , Lewis, and David.  Residual heirs his NINE sons William 
Samuel, Henry, Jacob, John, Isaac, Jesse, David, and Elisha.  Executors his sons Samuel and 
Jacob (a Quaker).  Witnesses Henry Sidwel a Quaker, Reuben Reynolds, John Scott.  Proved 
23 dec 1779.  Recorded 15 feb 1780. 

46. Augustina Drummond (p. 129), 27 jan 1780, cousin Edward Larimore Lisby (son of Edward 
and Ann Lisby, upon the death of his father Edward Lisby), cousin Robert Lisby, Ann 
Morgan.  Executor Rev. William Thomson.  Witnesses William Savin, Nathaniel Childs, 
Edward Savin.  Proved 09 feb 1780.  Recorded 15 feb 1780. 

47. Alethea (Alethe) Walmsley (p. 132), 01 dec 1779, son Robert <20, daughter Sarah Aldridge 
(and her daughter Rebecah).  Executors John son of John Ward, Samuel Pennington.  
Witnesses  William Savin, Robert Lusby.  Proved 09 feb 1780. Recorded 15 feb 1780. 

48. William Bristow (p. 134), 22 jan 1778, wife Rachel (also mention of his first wife), son 
William <21, daughter Ann McCrakin, daughter Elizabeth Jackson, daughter Tabitha.  
Residual heirs children John, Meliscent, Tamer, William, and Tabitha.  Executors his wife 
Rachael and John Rankey, Sr.  Witnesses William Veazey, Jacob Lum, Rachel Lum.  Proved 
09 feb 1780.  Recorded 15 feb 1780. 

49. Samuel Sheppard of the Head of Elk, tanner (p. 137), 22 dec 1779, wife Elizabeth, daughter 
Sarah, grandsons Samuel and Thomas Sheppard (sons of his daughter Hanna, who will 
appoint a guardian for them).  Executors his wife and Thomas Huggins.  Witnesses Bernard 
Surrey, Robert Laird, James Fyfe.  Proved 14 mar 1780.  Recorded 05 dec 1780. 

50. John Pennington (p. 139), 06 dec 1779, daughters Sarah and Martha (plantation in York Co., 
PA), son John.  Residual heirs his children John, Rachell, James, Althea, Rebecca, and 
Catharine, and grandchildren the daughters (<16) of my daughter Mary.  Executor son John.  
Witnesses John Dockery Thompson Esq., Will Pearce, James Cosden.  Proved 16 mar 1780.  
Recorded 05 dec 1780. 

51. Amos Alexander, Esq. (p. 141), 26 aug 1779, wife Sarah, son Amos <21, grandson Robert 
(son of Walter Alexander deceased), daughter Rachel, daughter Ruth, daughter Mary, 
daughter Dorcas, son Mark (or Markus) <20, daughter Sarah <16, daughter Margret <16, 
son James <21.  Residual heirs his children Priscilla, Rachel, Jemima, Ruth, Mary, Dorcas, 
Amos, Sarah, Mark, Margaret, and James.  Executors his wife Sarah and son-in-law 
Alexander Read and nephew George Alexander.  Witnesses Robert Willson, Josiah 
Alexander, William Johnston, Hezekiah South.  Proved 01 may 1780.  Recorded 06 dec 
1780. 

52. Benjamin Pearce (p. 145), 10 apr 1780, wife not named, but she was probably the Lydia 
Pearce who presented the will for probate, brother William, sister Sarah Pearce <16, sister 
Charlotte Pearce <16, sister Susannah Hanson, son Benjamin, uncle Isaac Allman.  
Executors his wife and his uncle Isaac Allman.  Witnesses Abraham Bowyer, Abraham 
Cartwright, ―Richet‖ ? Ratchell.  Proved 02 may 1780.  Recorded 06 dec 1780. 

53. Henry Baker (p. 148), 13 dec 1773, mother not named, brother Jethro Baker, Samuel son of 
his brother Francis Baker.  Residual heirs his three brothers Francis, Jethro, and Jeremiah 
Baker.  Executor Jethro Baker.  Witnesses Richard Bond, Samuel Gilpin, John Jones.  
Proved 12 may 1780.  Recorded 06 dec 1780. 

54. Alexander Campbell (p. 150), 24 sep 1779, daughter Ann Scott wife of Samuel Scott 
(plantation in ―Sadsbury Township‖ in Lancaster Co., PA), grandson William Scott, grand-
daughter Mary Scott, grand-daughter Elioner Scott, grand-daughter Elioner Polock daughter 
of John Polock, grandsons Alexander and Thomas Polock, Margaret and Mary Johnson 
daughters of John Johnson, Jane daughter of Thomas Herd?, Elioner Patterson.  Executor 



his son-in-law Samuel Scott.  Witnesses Richard Ellis, Sarah Wayley, Mary Ellis.  Proved 17 
may 1780.  Recorded 06 dec 1780. 

55. Samuel Crocket (Crockett) (p. 152), 16 apr 1780, wife Elisabeth, three children Elizabeth, 
Ann, and John.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Ruelef? Morgan, George Leshley, Andrew 
Barratt.  Proved 10 jun 1780.  Recorded 06 dec 1780. 

56. Joshua Thompson (p. 154), 06 may 1772, brother John Dockery Thompson.  Executor John 
Dockery Thompson.  Witnesses Mary Thompson, Rachell Johnstone.  Proved 14 jun 1780.  
Recorded 07 dec 1780. 

57. Charles Rumsey of New Hall (p. 155), 14 dec 1776, wife Jane Abigail Rumsey, three brothers 
not named, eldest son Henry Caner Rumsey (plantations at New Hall and Concord), son 
Thomas Elison Rumsey, son Benjamin, daughters Elizabeth, Henrietta, and Mary.  
Witnesses John Hamilton, Joseph Baxter, Samuel Davey.  Proved 05, 12, and 19 may 1780, 
recorded 07 dec 1780. 

58. Thomas Singleton of Millford Hundred (p. 159), 29 jun 1780, wife Mary, daughter Feby 
Marshall wife of John Marshall, daughter Katharn Singleton, son John, son Joseph, sons 
George and William.  Executors George and William Singleton.  Witnesses Mary Gray, 
Thomas Jordan.  Proved 07 aug 1780.  Recorded 07 dec 1780. 

59. Lydia Rickets (Richetts) of West Nottingham Hundred widow (p. 162), ?? jun 1780, daughter 
Sarah Ricketts, son Vincent Ricketts, three daughters Mary alias Mitchell wife of John 
Mitchell, Sarah Ricketts, and Lydia Ricketts.  Executor friend Andrews Wark.  Witnesses 
Robert ffinley (Finley), Aaron Wark, Abraham Tidball. 

60. John Bing (pp. 165-166 not filmed).  Witnesses John Sayer, Samuel Logan, James Morrow.  
Proved 28 aug 1780.  Recorded 09 dec 1780. 

61. Robert Rowlands of North Millford (p. 167), 22 jun 1780, to be buried next to his (late) wife 
Izabel, adopted daughter Jean (=Jane) Black.  (Pp. 169-170 were not filmed.)  Recorded 09 
dec 1780. 

62. Mary Van Bebber (=Van Bibber) (pp. 173-174 were not filmed, thus date of will is not 
available), son John Leach Knight, mention of deceased husband Adam Van Bebber, grand-
daughters Mary Chew Knight and Elizabeth Harrison Knight, grandson John Knight.  
Recorded 09 dec 1780. 

63. John Alexander (p. 175), 02 nov 1779, son Robert, William and John sons of John Calender 
and his wife Margaret (plantation in ―Tolbert’s Manner, New Connah, Susquehana 
Hundred‖), Margaret daughter of John Calender and his wife Margaret, Mary Anne daughter 
of Jane Speer.  Executors Andrew Welsh, John Eavens (Evans).  Witnesses Joseph Boon, 
Margaret Watson.  Proved 09 oct 1780 (John Evans withdraws as executor).  Recorded 11 
dec 1780. 
 

Book 4 should have been designated ―DD 4‖, bound with preceding volume but paged separately, 
185 pp., containing 58 numbered probates (FHL microfilm #0013868).  Recording date is not given 
in this volume.  The pagination is irregular; page 90 is followed without a break by page 100.  The 
following pages were missed in filming:  32-33. 
 

1.  George Catts gentleman at the Head of Elk (p. 1), 22 oct 1780, to be ―buried in my own grave 
yard by my dear wife‖, George son of Robert Alexander now at New York, Lawson 
Alexander, Ariminta Alexander, William Alexander, Andrew Alexander, Robert Alexander, 
Lason Alexander, Elizabeth Harris.  Residual heir Isobell (=Isabel) Alexander.  Executors 
Joseph Gillpin, Thomas Huggins at the Head of Elk, until his son-in-law Robert Alexander 



is present to manage the estate.  Witnesses Henry Robinson, James Fyfe, Robert Laird.  
Proved 07 nov 1780 with withdrawal of Thomas Huggins as executor. 

2. Alexander Boyd of West Nottingham (p. 3), 27 nov 1780, wife Margaret, daughter Margaret, 
sons Robert, Hugh, Francis, and Alexander.  Executors his brother Francis Boyd, Robert 
Finley, Robert McDowell.  Witness William Allen.  Proved 14 dec 1780, stating that the 
testator died 27 mar 1780.  The will had been prepared by John Scott and then read twice 
―to the deceased‖ and approved by him, but he then died before he could sign it. 

3. Ezekiel Glasgow (p. 6), 28 dec 1780, brother William, brother James, brother Samuel, brother 
Adam, sister Elisabeth Mary Glasgow, mother Ann, sister Hannah Slicer, ―my honored 
father‖ not named.  Residual heirs:  his 4 brothers William, James, Samuel, and Adam.  
Executors his brothers James and Adam.  Witnesses John Beard M.D., Joseph Stephenson, 
George Cather.  Proved 01 jan 1781 (James Glasgow withdraws as executor). 

4. Robert Harvey of East Nottingham Hundred (p. 10), 26 jan 1781, wife Barbary, son Thomas, 
daughter Margret, daughter Sarah, grandson John Harvey son of my son Thomas, grandson 
William brother of John (and thus son of Thomas also).  Residual heirs children Thomas and 
Margret.  Executors his ―neibour‖ Archibald Job, Thomas Gilliland.  Witnesses Philip 
Turner, John Moore, William Moor (sic), Francis Crauthers (Caruthers).  Proved 21 feb 
1781. 

5. Benjamin ―Meve‖ (McVey!) (p. 13), 28 nov 1780, wife Martha, children to have a ―liberal 
education‖, son John, son Jacob, son William, son Benjamin, daughter Elizabeth Bond, son 
Edmund, son Passmore, son Enoch, daughter Hannah, son George.  Executors wife Martha 
and sons Jacob and Benjamin.  Witnesses Edward Justice, Arthur Alexander, John Carrol.  
Proved 22 feb 1781 (Martha is a Quaker, but her two sons swore the usual oath). 

6. Francis McCutchen (McCutchan) cordwainer (p. 17), 10 jul 1780, son William Hathorn 
(=Hawthorn) McCutchan.  Executors brother John McCutchan and John Boggs, these will 
also be the guardians of his son.  Witnesses Robert Boyd, James Davison.  Proved 05 mar 
1781 (witnesses were with him in Philadelphia when he signed the will, they remember the 
event ―because he and they were on their way to join the Army and because they remember 
he left them an hour or two on the Day they left Philadelphia to carry some Papers to leave 
with his sister‖). 

7. Hannah Slicer (p. 19), 12 feb 1781, grand-daughter Hannah Cather, grand-daughter Mary 
White daughter of my son Samuel White, the 5 children of her son William White of NC, 
the children of her deceased son Samuel White who are Rebecca Wilkerson, Mary White, 
and David White <21.  Executors friends William Allmand, John Adams.  Witnesses John 
Lawson Beard Jr., John Roddey, Thomas Underhill (Quaker).  Proved 05 mar 1781 
(presented by William Allen, Quaker). 

8. Henry Sidwell of West Nottingham (p. 22), 13 mar 1781 (third month—there are several 
instances in this volume where Quakers refer to the months by number, but in situations 
where they are evidently counting January as the first month rather than March, as was done 
in much earlier Quaker records), daughter Mary Taylor, daughter Susannah Harriss, son 
Elisha Sidwell, wife Margaret (Quaker), son Henry <21, three daughters Elizabeth, 
Prudence, and Deborah.  Executor his wife and friend Samuel Reynolds (Quaker).  
Witnesses John Blackburn (Quaker), Joseph Reynolds (Quaker), and Levi Reynolds.  Codicil 
25 mar (third month) 1781, witnessed by Samuel Reynolds, Isaac Sidwel, and Lydia Sidwell. 
Proved 19 apr 1781 (Samuel Reynolds withdraws as executor). 

9. John Bateman farmer (p. 26), 15 apr 1781, after his mother’s death, everything to John Cox 
and John Nowland until his son William Bateman reaches age 21, son John <21.  Executors 



John Cox and John Nowland.  Witnesses Joseph Davis, Benjamin Cox, Mathias 
Hendrickson.  Proved 01 may 1781. 

10. James Steel of East Nottingham (p. 29), 23 apr 1781, wife Sarah, son-in-law John Clendenin, 
daughter Margret Clendenin, son-in-law John McMullin, daughter Mary McMullin, son 
James.  Executor his son James.  Witnesses Joseph Mahafey, Joseph Mahafey Jr., William 
Mackey.  Proved 30 jun 1781. 

11. Ephraim Price (p. 31) (pp. 32-33 not filmed), son Noble Price, son Edward.  (Apparently 
proved between 30 jun and 14 aug 1781.) 

12. Robert Mansfield (p. 34), 07 apr 1777, children James, Elizabeth, William, Mary, Samuel, and 
Jemima, daughter Ann, son John.  Residual heirs his children Margaret, Sarah, James, 
Elizabeth, William, Mary, Samuel, and Jemima.  Executor his wife not named, but she was 
probably the Jemima Mansfield who presented the will.  Witnesses William Pycklin, Isaac 
Hearsey Jr., William Miller.  Proved 14 aug 1781 (presented by Jemima Mansfield). 

13. Richard Clayton (p. 36), 08 jul 1781, friend Richard Bond (Senior?), Pheby Whiteacre, Mary 
Becket, John Hilley, Hannah Davis, Jonathan Jannans.  Exeucutor Richard Bond Esq.  
Witnesses Samuel Gilpin, William Burke, Jacob ―Meve‖ (=McVey). 

14. Ann Veazey widow (p. 38), 14 feb 1781, son George <21, son Robert, son William, grand-
daughter Ann Veasey daughter of Samuel, grand-daughter Sarah Louttis Veazey.  Residual 
heirs her sons Samuel, William, and George.  Executor her friend Edward Veazey.  
Witnesses John Ward son of John, Richard Bird. Proved 09 oct 1781. 

15. Hugh Farris (verbal will) (p. 41), dictated to witnesses 08 sep 1781, only heir Anne Criag 
(Craig).  Witnesses James Allen, Elinor (Eleanor) Allen.  Recorded 20 sep 1781. 

16. John Hawthorn of East Nottingham Hundred (p. 42), 29 sep 1781, John Hawthorn (<21) 
son of his nephew Samuel Hawthorn, wife Hannah (money owed by John Mitchell relating 
to land in York Co., PA purchased from the testator), nephew James Hawthorn.  Residual 
heirs his wife, children of his deceased brother Samuel, and his sister Agness Templeton.  
Executors his wife, Archibald Job, James Mackey.  Witnesses Robert Cochran, Samuel Duff, 
Mary Meheffee.  Proved 16 oct 1781. 

17. Nathan Oldham (p. 45), 24 sep 1781, wife Elizabeth, son Nathaniel.  Residual heirs daughter 
Elizabeth, son Nathaniel, son Absolam (<21).  Executors his wife, friend Samuel Gilpin.  
Witnesses Richard Oldham, James Channel (Quaker).  Proved 10 oct 1781 (Samuel Oldham 
withdraws as executor). 

18. James Barkley farmer (p. 48), 12 may 1781, wife Ann, son John (plantation in Hartford Co.), 
son Joseph <21, sons James, William, and Isaac, Anne Foster, daughter Sarah Porter, 
daughter Elizabeth Lisle, sons-in-law James Foster, George Porter, and Henry Lisle.  
Residual heir his son William.  Executor his son William.  Witnesses Samuel Hynnan 
(perhaps = Hindman?), John Nisbett, Jonathan Nisbett.  Proved 22 oct 1781. 

19. James Wallace farmer (p. 52), 22 feb 1777, wife Rachal, son James, daughter Rachel, sister 
Mary Canten?, brother Andrew Wallace (and his 3 children Adam, Margaret, and Darcas).  
Executors his wife and Samuel Hutchinson.  Witnesses Samuel Bradford, Samuel McIntyre, 
Paterson Cantwell.  Proved 30 oct 1781. 

20. Edward and William Justice (joint testament, but it was William who had died on this 
occasion) (p. 54), 30 sep 1776, everything to the survivor, who will also be the executor, if 
both should die, then the residual goes to the children of our 4 sisters Miriam, Rebecca, 
Cathrine, and Elizabeth.  Witnesses John Carswell (Cresswell), Hugh Moor, John Hadaburk 
(Hardwick?).  Proved 23 nov 1781 (presented by Edward Justice). 

21. William Savin of Sassafras Neck (p. 56), 17 nov 1781, wife Mary, son Edward ―commonly 
known by the name of Edward Savin, if he is distinguished in Law by any other name, it 



being my present intention to consider him as my eldest son‖ (a similar disclaimer repeated 
later in the will), son Thomas, son William, daughter Elizbeth, daughter Rebecca.  Executors 
his wife Mary and his brother Richard Savin.  Witnesses Alexander Williamson, William 
Jackson, John Ward Veazey, John Davis.  Proved 18 dec 1781 (Richard Savin withdraws as 
executor). 

22. William Mitchel (p. 59), 12 dec 1781, son Edward, son Richard <21, Fridius? Aldridge, son 
Thomas (mill in Hartford Co.), son William, daughter Martha, daughter Mary, daughter 
Elizabeth, daughter Clemency, daughters Ann and Sarah, Archibald Mecurdy (=McCurdy).  
Execurots his brother Kent Mitchel and son Edward.  Witnesses Samuel Durbin, Richard 
Chew, John Stump.  Proved 24 jan 1782. 

23. Rebeccah Cooper (p. 64), 12 dec 1781, son John Cooper, son Hezekiah, son Elisha, son 
Ephraim, daughter Eve.  Residual heirs son Elisha and daughter Eve.  Executor James 
Hughes.  Witnesses Jemima Hughes, John Miller, Joseph Pennington.  Proved 26 feb 1782. 

24. Samuel Slicer (p. 66), 30 mar 1782, wife Hannah.  Executors his wife, and friend James 
Glasgow Jr.  Witnesses Thomas McCleary, David Worley. Proved 0 apr 1782. 

25. Joseph Haines of West Nottingham (p. 68), 09 apr 1782 (―9th day of the 4th month called 
April‖), wife Lydia, kinsman Reuben son of Job Haines, sons of his ―other brothers‖ (these 
other brothers are:  William, Nathan, Isaac, and Job), Joseph son of his brother Isaac, 
Samuel Daveson apprentice lad <21.  Executor his wife Lydia (Quaker).  Witnesses Elisha 
Brown (Quaker), Joseph England (Quaker). Proved 20 may 1782. 

26. Thomas Hynson (Hinson) (p. 71), (no date given?), son John, son Perigan (=Peregrine) 
(plantation in lower part of Kent Co.), daughters Sarah, Anne, Martha, and Hannah Hinson.  
Executors his son John, daughter Martha Garison, daughter Hannah.  Residual heirs his 
children John, Sarah, Anne, Martha (Garison), Hannah, and Perigan.  Witnesses Mary 
Coppin (Senior?), James Coppin, Joseph Miller (Quaker).  Proved 22 may 1782. 

27. Oliver Caulk yeoman (p. 73), 08 apr 1776 (―fourth month‖), wife Phebe (Quaker), son Isaac 
<21, daughter Mary Nock (land in Kent Co., DE, her husband is Thomas Nock), youngest 
son Oliver, mention brother Jacob Caulk who owns or owned land in Kent Co., MD.  
Residual heirs his wife and sons Isaac and Oliver.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses James 
Smith, Richard Caulk, Sarah Hynson (Quaker).  Proved 22 may 1782. 

28. Thomas Savin Esquire farmer (p. 77), 20 may 1782, mentions expected reimbursement for 
―losses sustained by the enemy in August, 1777‖, Mary Pennington, wife Anne, children not 
named.  Executor his wife Anne.  Witnesses William Veazey, James Fuller, Michael 
Morrison.  Proved 03 jun 1782. 

29. Augustine Passmore (p. 80), 15 jun 1776, daughter Ann Oglevee, daughter-in-law Rebeckah 
Passmore, grandsons Jesse and Joel Passmore, son Richard, daughter Alace (=Alice) 
Howard, daughter Mary Bond, daughter Hannah, son Henry, daughter Phebee, daughter 
Abigail, son Augustine Passmore, son-in-law Richard Bond.  Executor his son Augustine 
(Quaker).  Witnesses Lawson Beard, Henry McCulley, Samuel Bond.  Proved 18 jun 1782. 

30. Dr. William Macky (Maky) (surgeon) (p. 84), 04 feb 1779, brothers John and James, sister 
Jane Macky, sister Ann Beacham, cousin Dr. Robert Macky, Charles Goldsborough son of 
Charles, Elizabeth wife of William Ennalls Esq.  Residual heirs his brothers and sisters.  
Executors John Goldsborough Esq. of Dorchester Co., and cousin James Macky and 
brother John Macky.  Witnesses Joshua Clayton, David Macky.  Proved 03 aug 1782 (John 
―Goldsbury‖ withdraws as executor). 

31. John Reynolds of East Nottingham (p. 86), 14 aug 1782, mother (father is already deceased), 
brother Jesse, brother David, Amy Reynolds, John <20 son of my brother Benjamin, 



brother Isaac (Quaker) in PA.  Executors his brother Isaac, wife Rachel.  Witnesses Thomas 
Brabson (Quaker), Thomas Coulson (Quaker), Robert McClellan.  Proved 16 sep 1782. 

32. Elis Biddle (p. 89), 18 aug 1782, daughter Mary, son Thomas, daughters Sarah and Rachel, 
Andrew son of Noble Biddle, Mary wife of my son Noble Biddle, grand-daughter Mary, 
Amelia natural daughter of the above-mentioned grand-daughter Mary.  Residual heir Noble 
Biddle.  Executor Noble Biddle.  Witnesses Richard Boldin, Lewis Baldin (sic), Benjamin 
Taylor.  Proved (see p. 182) 08 oct 1782. 

33. John McNeal of Charles Town (p. 100), 02 oct 1782, wife Mary (two dwelling houses in 
Philadelphia).  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Alexander McCaskey, Joseph Mifflin, Elizabeth 
Pritchard.  Proved (see p. 183) 12 oct 1782. 

34. James Scott (p. 101), no date given?, son John, son James, daughter Mary Brown, daughter 
Martha McClur (=McClure), Elizabeth McNutt, grand-daughter Elizabeth McClewr 
(=McClure).  Residual heir his son Robert.  Executors his sons John and James.  Witnesses 
William Allen (Quaker), James Maxwell, William Cord.  Proved (p. 184) 02 nov 1782. 

35. James Lyon (p. 103), 11 sep 1782, children Joseph, Elener, Elisabeth, Augness, Rebekah (2 
shares).  Executors his sons-in-law Jacob Death and Stephan Horner.  Witnesses James 
Maxwell, Robert McMaster, Joseph Nisbett.  Proved 09 nov 1782 (Stephen Horner 
withdraws as executor). 

36. Nicholas Troy of Octorarah Hundred yeoman (p. 104), 20? or 15? oct 1782, son John <21, 
wife Elizabeth, daughter Mary, daughter Catharine Gordon.  Executors Ignoties (Ignatius) 
Whiller of Hartford Co., Andrew Dunbarr, James Hanna of Little Britain Township, 
Lancaster Co., PA.  Witnesses Philip Maguire, James Hanna, Robert Preston.  Proved 11 nov 
1782. 

37. Manassah Logue (p. 106), 04 nov 1782, son Ephraim, grandson Manassah, children of 
daughter Sarah Laurence deceased (James, Rachel, Susannah, Sarah, Hannah, Andrew, and 
Isaac), son Isaace.  Executor his son Isaac.  Witnesses ―Rob‖ (Robert Armstrong, Rebecca 
McCoy, Nathan Moor.  Proved 04 dec 1782. 

38. Andrew Wallace (p. 110), 17 oct 1782, nephew James Wallace, son Adam, daughter 
Margaret, daughter Dorcas, nephew Andrew son of my brother Adam, wife Margaret.  
Residual heirs his son Adam and daughter Dorcas.  Executor his wife Margaret.  Witnesses 
Benjamin Bravard, James Thomson, James Alexander, Jesse Thomas.  Proved 10 dec 1782 
(his wife withdraws as executor). 

39. Joseph Rutherford (p. 114), 01 dec 1782, issue of my nephew and neice William and Esther 
Givens of South Carolina (these are Mary, Catherine, and Joseph Givens).  Executor his 
friend William Rowlands (Rowland).  Witnesses George Kerr, James Pattn (Patten), Amos 
Ewing.  Proved 08 jan 1783. 

40. John Roberts (p. 117), ?? nov 1782, wife Ann, son Lewis <21, son John (now apprenticed or 
indentured in some way), sons Robert and Eli, daughter Sarah Morgan, daughter Mary Price, 
daughter Pamela Lusby.  Residual heirs his 4 sons Lewis, John, Robert, and Eli.  Executor 
James Morgan.  Witnesses James Wroth, Robert Money, William Hall.  Proved 18 feb 1783. 

41. John McCay (=McCoy) cooper (p. 121), 04 jun 1781, wife Easther, grandsons John and 
Henry McCay, son Batey McCay (who has a son John—it seems most likely that the 2 
grandsons just named are his children), daughter Ann Johnston (wife of John), brother 
Robert McCay, daughter Lilly Sharp, daughter Jane Crothers.  Residual heirs in 7 shares 
divided as follows. 

a. Two grandsons John and Henry McCay; 
b. Grandchildren who are the children of daughter Martha Sample; 
c. Lilly Sharp; 



d. Mary; 
e. Easther; 
f. Elisabeth; 
g. Jane Crothers. 

Executors his sons-in-law George and Josiah Alexander, friend Hezekiah South.  Witnesses 
Hugh Fulton, William Cochran, John Low.  Proved 24 feb 1783. 

42. William Knight of West Nottingham (p. 125), 24 feb 1783, wife Elizabeth, eldest son John, 
sons William and Thomas, grandson Jeremiah (son of William), daughter Sarah (wife of Levi 
Baily, their sons Jeremiah, William, and Knight, and daughter Elizabeth), more grandsons 
William Knight (son of John), William Knight (son of Thomas), daughters Elizabeth Brown, 
Judith Kirk, Anne Churchman (she has 4 children), Mary Reynolds (she has 2 children).  Son 
William has 4 children:  John, Hannah, Immer, and Elizabeth).  Residual heirs:  1 share to 
each of his 8 children before named (i.e., John, William, Thomas, Elizabeth, Judith, Anne, 
Mary, and Sarah).  Executors, son John and son-in-law Levi Bailey (Quaker).  Witnesses 
Daniel Job (Quaker), Jacob Brown Jr. (Quaker), William Rogers Jr. (Quaker), John Scott.  
Proved 05 may 1783. 

43. Ephraim Beaston (p. 134), Ephraim (<21) son of my brother Benjamin, brothers Zebulon, 
Joseph, and Andrew.  Residual heirs, his brothers George and Andrew.  Witnesses James 
Laurenson, Joseph Taylor, Andrew Crow.  Proved 05 mar 1783. 

44. Dr. William Gibson of Charlestown (p. 137), 25 feb 1783, wife Mary, aunt Martha Smith, 
executor his wife.  Witnesses Joseph Couden, Nathan Norton, David Smith.  Proved 11 mar 
1783. 

45. Samuel Bond of Milford Hundred (p. 138), 08 oct 1776, wife Ann, grandson Samuel Bond, 
son Richard, daughters Saral Howell, Margaret Davis, Susannah Davis.  Witnesses Richard 
Clayton, Samuel Gilpin, Ann Smart, Magery Gilpin, Elnathan Davis, Elija Cole.  Codicil 06 
nov 1776.  Proved 30 apr 1783. 

46. Adam Glasgow (p. 141), 19 aug 1782, parents James and Ann Glasgow, brothers William, 
James, Samuel, sister Hannah Sliser, mention testament of deceased brother Ezekiel 
Glasgow, sister Elizabeth Mary Dougherty.  Residual heirs his 3 brothers William, James, 
and Samuel.  Executor his brother James.  Witnesses John Cather, Joshua Hartshorn.  
Proved 03 may 1783. 

47. John Neide (p. 145), 21 apr 1783, sons John and Michael, daughter Mary.  Executors William 
Price, Richard Ellis.  Witnesses Richard Ellis, Ephraim Logue, John Bauchell.  Proved 08 
may 1783 (William Price withdraws as executor). 

48. Zebulon Beaston (p. 148), 13 jan 1775, wife Ann, sons Charles, Thomas, Zebulon.  
Executors wife Ann, friend Andrew Hughes.  Witnesses William Taylor, John Ford.  Proved 
27 may 1783. 

49. John Stockton (p. 150), 29 jan 1783, wife Elizabeth, sons John and Joseph, daughter 
Elizabeth.  Witnesses John Ward, Thomas Brocas Veasy (=Veazey), Joseph Lusby.  Proved 
05 jun 1783. 

50. Thomas Wallace (p. 153), 08 may 1783, wife Sarah (after she dies, plantation goes to Thomas 
son of Thomas Price over Elk), Benjamin Simons, Sarah daughter of John Price, Ephraim 
Oldham’s eldest daughter Ann, Hannah wife of John Castevens (Caststephens), children of 
his brother John Wallace.  Executors his wife Sarah, Thomas ―Price over Elk‖.  Witnesses 
Rachel Holthen(?), Francina Hodgson, John Hearsey.  Proved 05 jun 1783. 

51. Thomas Bouchell (p. 157), 01 apr 1783, wife Sarah, sons John, Sluyter, Thomas, Peter 
(guardian:  his son Sluyter), daughter Mary.  Executors his wife Mary and son Sluyter.  
Witnesses Ephraim Logue, William Pycklen, Richard Ellis.  Proved 10 jun 1783. 



52. David Wallace (p. 161), 12 mar 1777, brothers Thomas, Michael, sisters Rachel Coudon, 
Mary Wallace, Sally Wallace, Betsey Wallace, Catherine Boyd.  Residual heirs:  his brothers 
Thomas and Michael.  Also Michael son of his brother Thomas.  Executors his brothers 
Thomas and Michael, friend Archibald Job blacksmith.  Witnesses Andrew Read, Samuel 
McKeown, Isaac Hall.  Proved 01 sep 1783 (widow Eleanor claims ½ personal estate and 
her dower according to law). 

53. John Green (p. 164), 11 mar 1780, wife Jane, children John Green Jr., Martha Gardner, Mary 
McBride, Margarett Marshall, Prudence McMullin, Hannah Gordon, Rebecca Crabson, 
Sarah Rock, Ann McGown.  Residual heir:  son William.  Executor his son William.  
Witnesses Arthur Alexander, William Rock (Quaker).  Proved 15 oct 1783. 

54. John Mercer (p. 166), 28 jun 1783, sisters Sarah and Ann Mercer, stepfather James Bacwell.  
Executors his sisters.  Witnesses William Matthews Esq., Benjamin Walmsley, Bartholomew 
Etherington.  Proved 15 oct 1783. 

55. William Glasgow Sr. (p. 168), 09 may 1777, eldest son Robert, daughters Rose Cord and 
Margaret McClure, grandson Glasgow McClure, granddaughter Elizabeth Cord, daughter-in-
law Apply(?) Glasgow, daughter (?) Elizabeth.  Jonathan Hartshorn and David Smith 
guardians of the children and grandchildren.  Residual heirs his sons Jonathan and William.  
Executors his eldest son Robert and son-in-law Thomas Cord.  Witnesses James Glasgow, 
John Hartshorn, Joshua Hartshorn.  Proved 22 oct 1783. 

56. William Maxwell of West Nottingham (p. 172), 01 jan 1780, daughter Mary Merchant, 
daughter Rebeccah Rankin, daughter Elliner, granddaughter Mary Armstrong, grandsons 
William and Robert Welch, grandsons John, William, and James McNaught.  Residual heir 
son James.  Executor son James.  Witnesses William Johnson, William Courd.  Proved 22 
oct 1783. 

57. John Hall (p. 175), 10 may 1777, ―or until my return‖, two youngest sisters Prudence and 
Lydia (if Lydia dies, then to John Earl son of my sister Susanna Earl, and William Andrew 
Hall son of Prudence Hall).  Executors his sister Lydia and Thomas Huggans. Witnesses 
Richard Boldin, Lewis Boldin, John Grey.  Proved 28 oct 1783. 

58. Rebeckah Davis (p. 177), 17 jul 1783, daughter Mary Savin, grandson Edward (son of 
daughter Mary Savin), granddaughters Rebecca and Sarah Ward (daughters of daughter 
Rebecca Ward), grandson Thomas Davis (son of son Thomas Davis), grandchildren Rebeca, 
Thomas, and James (children of son William), sons William, Joseph, and John, daughter 
Rachel Porter (her daughter Mary), grandson John Davis (son of John).  Residual heirs sons 
William and John.  Witnesses Mathias Hendrickson, John Lassel.  Proved 01 nov 1783. 
 

Book 5 should have been designated ―EE 5‖, 351 pp., containing 207 numbered and 1 unnumbered 
probates (FHL microfilm #0013868).  (The estate after number 91 is not numbered, we call it 
91bis.) 
 

1.  Thomas Ramsay (p. 1), 05 nov 1783, verbal will, ―my little girl‖, friend Bernard Swinney.  
Statement of witnesses 12 nov 1783 (Jonas Chambers, Hugh Wallace, Alexander Work).  
Proved 25 nov 1783. 

2. Samuel Hill (p. 1), 30 nov 1783, wife Agnas, sons Samuel, Thomas, John, James, daughters 
Jane Lowery (wife of John), Ann (and her husband George, surname not given?), Margaret.  
Executors his wife and Samuel Hill of East Nottingham.  Witnesses James Pury, William 
Jamison.  Proved 18 dec 1783 (both executors withdraw). 

3. Anna Ozier (p. 3), 20 nov 1779, daughter Mary Linch, granddaughter Sarah Numbers, 
daughter Sarah Price, granddaughter Elizabeth Smith, daughters ―Cathairne‖, Anna, and 



Elisabeth, now in the back country.  Residual heirs her children (including property from 
Richard Thompson Jr. the surviving executor of my deceased husband Jacob Ozeer, and as 
administrator of Stephen Ozier deceased).  Sons Joseph Neide, John Neide.  Executor John 
Neide.  Witnesses John Hearsey, John Bouchbell, Sluyter Bouchell.  Proved 20 dec 1783. 

4. John Concoa (p. 4), 22 dec 1783, children James (guardian ―his‖ granduncle John Anderson?), 
Elizabeth, Jane ―junior‖.  Executor Henry Robinson.  Witnesses John Kinkead, Samuel 
Negle, James Fife.  Proved 29 dec 1783. 

5. James Glasgow Sr. (p. 5), 07 jan 1783, wife not named, Eleanor daughter of my son James, 
Ann daughter of my son Samuel, ―any children of‖ daughter Elizabeth Mary Dougherty.  
Executors son James and friends Robert Glasgow and Joshua Hartshorn.  Witnesses 
Thomas Cord, George Cather.  Codicil 07 jan 1784, same witnesses.   Proved 05 feb 1784. 

6. Mathew Taylor (p. 7), 03 feb 1784, wife Mary, son Henry, daughters Jane, Mary, and Esther.  
Husbands of Mary and Esther are Mattheu Thin(?) and James(?) Campbell.  Old woman 
Catherine Clifford.  Executors Samuel Maffitt, Samuel McKeown.  Witnesses William 
Passmore, John Anderson, Robert Lutton.  Proved 17 feb 1784. 

7. James Maxwell Esq. of West Nottingham Hundred, farmer (p. 9), wife Isabella, daughters 
Elizabeth, Mary, Margaret, Rebecca (all <16), son James (<20).  Executors wife Isabella and 
friend Robert Welch.  Witnesses William Johnson, William Cord, Robert Williams.  Proved 
15 mar 1784. 

8. James Eakins farmer (p. 10), 04 jan 1784, James Alexander, James son of Samuel Hunter, John 
Cooper, sister Catherine, James Maxwell Jr., wife Susannah.  Executors wife Susannah and 
John Cooper.  Witnesses Edward Booth, John Willson, Eleanor Wilson (Willson).  Proved 
15 mar 1784. 

9. William Currier (Currer) (p. 11), 07 apr 1783, wife Mary, John Currer son of John Currer who 
is my nephew, two daughters of Jacob Jones by his wife Augustine Currer, Samuel son of 
Ann Cummings.  Executor his wife Mary.  Witnesses Baruch Williams, James Morrow, 
Noble Hamm.  Proved 17 mar 1784. 

10. Jonathan Hodgson (p. 13), 07 feb 1784, wife Franscina, son Robert, daughter Arminta.  
Residual heirs his children, equal shares except for Benjamin.  Executor his wife and his son 
Jonathan.  Witnesses Peter Lawson Esq., Michell Bassett, John Armstrong.  Proved 24 mar 
1784 (executors withdraw). 

11. James Coppin (p. 15), 25 apr 1786 (obviously an error!), sons John and James, daughters 
Anne Coppin and Sarah Matilda Coppin (land in Newcastle County).  Executor his wife not 
named.  Residual heirs his children.  Witnesses John Hynson, John Carteshew?, John Welch.  
Proved 25 mar 1784. 

12. Sarah Cunningham (p. 16), 03 nov 1783, brother John Copin, Ann Cowanden.  Executor 
James Hughs.  Witnesses John Millar (Miller), John McGowan, John Laing.  Proved 26 mar 
1784. 

13. Joseph Phelps (p. 18), 01 nov 1783, James Cosden, James Kirk?, ―the poor of St. Stivens 
Parish‖.  Executor James Hughes.  Witnesses Malachi Ambros, Benjamin Comegys, Gilbert 
Falcoper.  Proved 26 mar 1784. 

14. George Millegan (p. 19), 23 jun 1782, son Robert, land from his wife’s father Col. John 
Baldwin (Col. Baldwin’s other daughter is the wife of Dowdle Thompson), grandson 
Thomas Christie, daughter Margaret, daughter Catherine, brother-in-law William 
McClamrock of Creager Bay in North Britain, sister Barbara wife of William McClamrock, 
son Croso, nephew George McClamrock (late a surgeon in the West Indies hospitals), 
Robert McClamrock third son of Barbara Calder, son of James Calder and grandson of my 



worthy old friend James Calder that was of Chester Town, Samuel Chew.  Residual heir his 
son Robert.  Witnesses John Ward, Peregrine Ward, John Miller.  Proved 27 mar 1784. 

15. Hugh Thompson a ―solder‖ of the Pennsylvania line (p. 25), 17 dec 1783, wife Isabella, 
William Mearlin.  Witnesses Hugh Wallace, William McCausland.  Proved 26 apr 1784. 

16. Edward Veazey (p. 26), 24 nov 1782, wife Elizabeth, daughter Rebecca Lusby wife of James, 
daughter Elizabeth Miller wife of John, daughter Ann (<18), daughter Sarah (<18), son 
Edward Henry Veazey.  Residual his children Rebecca Lusby, Elizabeth Miller, Edward H. 
Veazey, Ann Veazey, Sarah Veazey, Thomas Ward Veazey.  Executor his wife Elizabeth.  
Witnesses John Stockton, John Ward son of John, Joseph Stockton.  Proved 13 may 1784. 

17. John Hynson (p. 30), 14 may 1777, brother Perry Hynson (<21).  Executors his sister 
Martha’s husband John Galison?, sisters Sara, Ann, and Hannah Hynson.  Mentions will of 
his deceased father that made him guardian of his brother Perry.   Witnesses Nathaniel 
Hynson, James Coppin, George Moore, Nicholas Wallace.  Proved 16 jun 1784. 

18. William Whan (p. 31), ?? dec 1783, son John, daughter Jane Miller, daughter Mary 
Thompson.  Residual heir his son Samuel.  Executor his son Samuel.  Witnesses Hezekiah 
Scott, John Scott.  Proved 26 jun 1784. 

19. Samuel Thomas (p. 33), 07 apr 1784, son Richard Snowden Thomas, son Samuel, son John 
Chew Thomas, daughter Ann Russel, granddaughter Mary Russell.  Residual heirs his 4 sons 
Richard Snowden Thomas, John Chew Thomas, Samuel Thomas, and Evan Thomas.  
Executors Richard Snowden Thomas, John Chew Thomas.  Witnesses Robert Knox, 
Charles Whitelock ―seigner‖ (=senior), Thomas Chandler.  Proved 17 aug 1784. 

20. Matthew Wilkin of New Munster (p. 35), 10 aug 1784, friend Elijah McCrea, natural son 
Robert.  Executors his brother Robert, friend John Perry.  Witnesses John Alexander, 
Robert Wallace.  Proved 18 aug 1784. 

21. John Bavington (p. 36), 09 feb 1784, daughters Rebecca and Jane, residual heirs his children.  
Executor Thomas Dickson.  Witnesses Adam Boyles, William Whittam.  Proved 30 aug 
1784. 

22. William Rowland (p. 37), 07 nov 1781, wife Sarah, sons Robert, Thomas (<21), John, 
William, George?, James, daughters Jane, Margrett Little, Pibalew (perhaps Isabelew?) Lile.  
Executors sons James and John, plus John McCay, Andrew Wear, and Amos Ewing.  
Witnesses George Kerr, Isabel (written like ―Pabel‖) Kerr, John McCoy (written twice as 
McCoy, possibly the same person as the administrator John McCay).  Proved 05 oct 1784. 

23. Barnabas Meloy of West Nottingham (p. 39), 11 oct 1784, wife Sarah, children John, 
Elizabeth, and James.  Executors friends Job Haines, James Evans.  Witnesses Thomas 
Simmons, Jessie Reynolds.  Proved 30 oct 1784. 

24. Joshua Donohoe (p. 41), 01 feb 1783, executor his wife Cornelia.  Witnesses Benjamin 
Ricketts, Jacob Hollingsworth, Joseph Ensor.   Proved 17 nov 1784. 

25. James Wroth (p. 42), 22 apr 1784, sons James, Thomas, John, daughters Ann Severson and 
Elizabeth Wroth.  Residual his children Elizabeth and John.  Executor his wife Ann.  
Witnesses John Cox, John Lusby, Benjamin Walmsley.  Proved 13 nov 1784. 

26. Timothy Kirk Esq. (p. 44), 12 jul 1784, wife Ann, sons Levi, Roger (his son Timothy), Elie, 
daughters Esther (Haines?), Ann Mann, Elizabeth, Deborah, Eleonar Kirk, grandson 
Timothy Haines.  Executors his wife and 2 sons Roger and Timothy.   Witnesses Febe 
Alson, James Trinkle, Elisha Trinkle.  Proved 04 dec 1784. 

27. Samuel Kerr (p. 46), 08 oct 1784, ―each of my grandsons named Samuel Kerr‖, wife Jean, 
sons Nathaniel and John.  Executors his sons Nathaniel and John and his brothers Henry 
and George Kerr.  Witnesses Robert Lyon, Saray Honeyman. Proved 10 jan 1785. 



28. Thomas Love late of Octorara Hundred (p. 47), 06 mar 1771, sons Robert, James, and 
Thomas, wife Elizabeth, daughters Jean, Elizabeth, Mary, Esther, Rachel, and Ann.  
Executors his sons Robert and James.  Witnesses Thomas Love Jr. of Baltimore Co. son of 
the testator, David Henderson, John Beard.  Proved18 jan – 16 feb 1785. 

29. John Carson (p. 49), ―three miles of Orange Burg July 12th 1781.  Dear Sir, in hourly 
expectation of engageing the Enemy…‖  ―12 July 1781.  Captn Brown will be pleased to 
send this letter with all Bagage in camp to Mr. Barnaby…‖   (mentions his uncle’s estate, 
executor to hold the estate until suitable heir is found).  Witnesses W. Brown, Captain Ml. 
Artillery, Mr. John Barnaby.  Proved 25 jan 1785. 

30. Thomas Ward (p. 50), 18 oct 1784, brother James, sister Elizabeth.  Executor brother James.  
Witnesses Thomas Brocus Veazy, Joseph Stockton, John Ward son of John.  Proved 18 feb 
1785. 

31. John Coppin (p. 51), ?? 1785, John Coppin woodmason (mentions estate of his grandfather 
John Acty?), brother James is deceased, sister Ann Cowarding (her son James Cowarding), 
Captain William Frazer of Dorset Co., sister Sarah Cunningham is deceased.  Executor 
friend James Hughs.  Witnesses Archibald Chessholm, Edward Pennington, Mary 
Pennington.  Proved 18 mar 1785 (James Hugues withdraws). 

32. Robert Kirkpatrick of Charlestown (p. 53), 17 mar 1785, father Samuel, sister Hannah, 
brothers John, Samuel, William (<21), John.  Executor his father.  Witnesses James Creswell, 
David L. Corbet, William Linton.  Proved 07 apr 1785. 

33. Eli Alexander (p. 55), 31 mar 1785, wife Tamizon, sons Josiah, Richard Foard (Ford) 
Alexander, Harmon, Levi, Eli, Jeremiah, and Hezekiah, daughters Araminta, Susannah, 
Lidea, Kiphin?  Executors Benjamin Brivard and Hezekiah Foard.  Witnesses Jeremiah 
Foard, Isaac Taylor, W. Price Junior.  Proved 26 apr 1785. 

34. Richard Ford of Bohemia Manor farmer (p. 56), 04 jan 1784, sons Hezekiah, Josiah, Edward, 
Jeremiah, Richard Bouldan Foard, daughter Tamizen, daughter Lydia.  Residual heirs sons 
Hezekiah and Josiah.  Executors sons Hezekiah and Josiah.  Witnesses Samuel Bayard, 
Edmond Shields, Andrew Crow.  Proved 26 apr 1785. 

35. John Hamilton Jr. of Charleston (p. 53), 30 mar 1785, wife Frances Darcos, infant son 
Thomas, my wife’s 2 daughters Deborah and Catherine Hughes, my wife’s son Edward 
Foster Hughes.  Executor James Creswell.  Guardians Coll. Nathaniel Ramsey, Baruch 
Williams Esq., Dr. John Harford Montgomery.  Witnesses Alexander Husson, William 
Linton, Alexander Smith.  Proved 19 may 1785. 

36. Nicholas Hyland (p. 60), 16 mar 1785, only daughter Ann Hart, nephew Jacob Hyland, wife 
Margery.  Executor his wife Margery.  Witnesses Robert Crouch, Daniel Sullivan, John 
Crouch brother of Robert.  Proved 07 jun 1785. 

37. Captain William Thomas Sr. (p. 61), 20 dec 1784, document is partly obscured by an inserted 
slip of paper relating to the previous estate, wife Mary?, son William, mentions previous wife 
Sarah, ―James my natural son by Ann Archer‖ (<21), Samuel son of James Creswell.  
Executors his son William, friend James Creswell.  Witnesses Joseph Baxter, George 
Hamilton, Edward Mitchell.  Proved 21 jun 1785. 

38. John Cox Esq. of Sassafrass Neck (p. 63), 05 may 1785, wife Rebecca, son John, children 
Sophia, Benjamin, Thomas, Samuel, Rebecca, George, Elija, Alice, sister Rebeca Little.  
Executors his wife and son John.  Witnesses John Othoson, Robert Harimer, Susannah 
Etherington.  Proved 23 jun 1785. 

39. Robert Hart (p. 64), 26 jun 1778, grandson Robert Hart, granddaughters Mary and Margery 
Hart.  Witnesses John Kankey, Thomas Dickson, William Crouch.  Proved 28 jun 1785 
(Kankey and Crouch now deceased). 



40. James Steel of Kent Co., MD (p. 66), 26 jul 1785, wife Martha, daughters Rebecca and 
Hannah.  Executors his wife, kinsman James Steel of Cecil Co.  Witnesses Archibald Job, 
Edward Bigley, James Frazier.  Proved 09 aug 1785 (James Steel withdraws). 

41. Robert Oldham of East Nottingham (p. 67), 05 mar 1785, wife Rachel, youngest sons 
Robert and William, daughter Rachel.  Residual heirs Mary Ewing, Margaret Anderson, Sarah 
Graham, Jeremiah, Hannah, Elizabeth, Edward, Rachel, Robert, and William (all his 
children?).  Executors his wife and son Jeremiah.  Witnesses John Oglevie, Benjamin Wilson, 
John Leslie (Lesslie).  Proved 13 aug 1785. 

42. Robert Thompson (p. 68), 28 jun 1780, wife Mary, nephew Thomas son of Isaac Ham, 
nephew Noble Ham son of Jacob, Araminta Hyland wife of Stephen Hyland, nephew 
Michael Bassett, friend Hester (?) Lawson, John son of John Eliason, James son of Dr. 
James Bayard deceased (possibly=Beard?), friend Edmond Shields, nephew Richard Bassett, 
―society of people called Methodists‖, Rev. Francis Asbury.  Executor his nephew Richard 
Bassett.  Witnesses Jacob Hudson, Andrew Miller, Deborah Miller.  Proved 17 aug 1785. 

43. John Bailey (Bayley, Baley) (p. 71), 29 jul 1785, wife Isabela, Thomas Geney and his wife 
Cathern, Thomas Ansseil and Moory his wife, Robert Wilkinson son of John, Isabella 
daughter of John Wilkinson, John Baders and Isabella his wife, daughter Ann, son James.  
Executors his son James and daughter Ann.  Witnesses Thomas Rogers, Samuel Rogers, 
Jeremiah Rogers.  Proved 19 aug 1785. 

44. Elizabeth Welsh (p. 72), 07 sep 1785, nephew Robert Roberts, Joseph Watson, Richd 
Megarity, Jane Patterson, Michael Hedrick.  Residual heir her niece Elizabeth Hendrickson.  
Executor Michael Hendrickson.  Witnesses Lydia Howell, John Adear (Adair).  Proved 31 
oct 1785. 

45. William Woodland of the Head of Elk (p. 73), 02 nov 1785, wife Elizabeth, children 
Jonathan, Rebecca, Sarah, William.  Executor his wife, friend Henry Robinson.  Witnesses 
Rueben Harding, William Hugg, James Fyfe.  Proved 22 nov 1785. 

46. Thomas Sharpe (Sharp) (p. 75), 31 oct 1785, sons (these all in North Carolina, mention of 
land in Rutherford Co., NC) William, John, James, Joseph, Samuell, children of his son 
Wolter Sharp deceased, daughter Isbel Wallace in North Carolina, daughter Sarah Reed, 
daughter Mary Phymota (?), wife Mary, four sons at home Thomas, Amos, Daniel, Ebenezer 
(the last three are minors), daughter Elizasbeth.  Executors his wife and son Thomas.  
Witnesses Abram Mitchell, Frances (Francis?)  Caruthers, Walter Caruthers, Hugh Black.  
Undated (?) codicil.  Proved 22 nov 1785. 

47. Joseph Trimble of East Nottingham (p. 77), 09 feb (second month) 1785, wife Ann, 
daughter Sarah, daughter Mary Hanson, son John. Residual heirs his 8 children William, 
Thomas, John, Joseph, Elisha, Jacob, Sarah, and James.  Executors his sons William and 
Thomas (of Baltimore Co.).  Witnesses William Brown (Quaker), Timothy Kirk hatter 
(Quaker), David Brown.  Proved 29 nov 1785. 

48. Robert Hynman (Hindman) of West Nottingham Township late of Pennsylvania but now of 
Maryland farmer (p. 80), 02 may 1775, wife Mary, three eldest children Alexander Hindman, 
Mary Blackburn, Samuel Hindman, daughter Martha (<18), son John.  Executors his wife 
and son Samuel, with Samuel Scott, Thomas Scott, John Walker, and Samuel Love.  
Witnesses Samuel Scott, John Walker.   Proved 29 nov 1785. 

49. John Ward ―inspector‖ (p. 81), 14 oct 1785, sons John, George, William, daughter Sarah 
Etherington, daughter Susannah Evertson.  Executors sons John and George.  Witnesses 
John Ward son of John, Joseph Stockton, Alexander McLoude.   Proved 08 dec 1785. 



50. William Jackson (p. 83), 04 jun 1785 (?), son John, sisters Perpetual Jackson and Mary 
Jackson.  Executor Dr. William Rogers of Kent Co., MD.  Witnesses James Hughes, Henry 
Hendrickson, John Laing, William Jackson.  Proved 08 dec 1785. 

51. William Marcer (Mercer) yeoman (p. 85), 14 nov 1778, son John, daughter Ruth Beedle.  
Executor son John.  Witnesses Silvester Nowland, Abraham Pennington, Otho Pennington.  
Proved 08 dec 1785. 

52. William McKeown (p. 86), 10 oct 1785, son-in-law James Smith and his wife Isabel (?), son-
in-law John Stevenson and his wife Mary, son-in-law Thomas McCreary and his wife 
Margret, son Samuel, grandson Samuel (<20) son of James, grandson James (<20) son of 
James.  Residual heir his son William.  Executor his son William.  Witnesses John Alexander, 
Samuel McCoullough, Edward Alexander.  Proved 14 dec 1785. 

53. Jonathan Hartshorn (p. 87), 10 sep 1785, daughters Elizabeth Patterson, Rebecca 
McCullough, and Mary, granddaughter Ann Patterson.  Residual heirs his five sons John, 
Joshua, Jonathan, Benjamin, and Samuel.  Executors his sons John and Joshua.  Witnesses 
James Orrick, Matthew Mak (?), John Brown.  Proved 27 dec 1785. 

54. Elizabeth Smith (p. 88), 24 feb 1783, verbal will, Sarah Poak (Poake) (<21), David Smith’s 
children, Elizabeth Allon, Ann Alon, sisters Mally and Nely (and Sarah?).  Witnesses Andrew 
Brisbin, Ann Brisbin, Sarah Poake.  Proved 11 jun 1783 (thus recorded out of order). 

55. John Hall an unworthy member of the Church of England (p. 89), 10 apr 1785, son John, 
mention deceased friend George Hall, son Gideon, grandson John son of John, 
granddaughter Mary daughter of John, daughter Henrietta Rachel Hall, daughter Frances 
Mary Hall, grandson Samuel Daviss (his mother Ann Davis).  Residual heirs sons William, 
Gideon, daughter Henrietta Rachel, and his grandchildren children of Ann Davis.  Pews at 
St. Stephens Church and at Shrewsbury Church in Kent Co.  Executor his brother-in-law 
James Pearce of Kent Co.  Witnesses Spencer Etherington, William Walmsley, John 
Etherington.  Proved 21 jan 1786. 

56. Nathan Brown (p. 91), 04 feb 1786, heir and executor George Simpers, testator was in 
service of State of Dellorway (=Delaware) about 5 years.  Witnesses Jesse Manley, Jacob 
Simpers, John Daughtery.  Proved 14 feb 1786. 

57. John Mather Jackson of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 92), 16 aug 1785, wife Mary, brother 
David Jackson, sister Mary Jackson.  Executors his wife Mary and Dr. David Jackson.  
Codicil of 16 nov 1785, executor James Miller of Philadelphia.  Witnesses Daniel Job, Joseph 
Reynolds.  Proved 16 feb 1786. 

58. James Creswell (p. 93), 18 feb 1786, wife Elizabeth, daughter Sarah, sons Samuel and John, 
son Hartford Montgomery Creswell.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Charlotte Forester, 
Barack Williams, George Bird.  Proved 21 feb 1786. 

59. Edward Jackson of Charlestown carpenter (p. 95), 09 feb 1786, wife Sarah, George 
Hamilton of Charlestown.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Andrew Wilson, John Young, 
Andrew Hart.  Proved 21 feb 1786. 

60. Michael Bassett (p. 96), 15 jan 1786, brother Richard (1000 acres, part of Bohemia Manor 
―as it was granted to me by my cousin M… (?) Lawson…).  Executor his brother Richard.  
Witnesses Hyland Price, Richard Taylor, Henry Frassnel?  Proved 132 mar 1786. 

61. Phebe Harris of West Nottingham (p. 97), 13 mar 1786, daughters Charity, Phebe, and 
Dinah, sons John and Nathan Harris, three children of son Richard Harris (Isaac, Elijah, and 
Elisha), grandson Joshua Harris, mention her deceased father in North Carolina, 
granddaughter Susannah (<16) daughter of Nathan Harris.  Residual heirs her 5 children.  
Witnesses Thomas Rankin (Quaker), Sarah Stephenson, Jesse Reynolds (Quaker).  Proved 17 
mar 1786. 



62. Lawson Beard of South Millford Hundred (p. 99), 26 jan 1786, wife Mary, brother Hugh, 
brother John.  Executor his wife and Major Samuel Maffitt.  Witnesses Richard Passmore, 
Robert Barr, John McVea.  Proved 27 feb 1786. 

63. Edmund Shields (p. 100), 20 dec 1785, sons of Mary Bill (William, Isaac, and James), 
Reverend Mr. Lewis, friend Dr. Joshua Clayton (and his eldest son James Lawson Clayton).  
Executors Dr. Clayton and his son.  Witnesses George Veazey, Rebeckah Agelsbury?  
Proved 27 feb 1786. 

64. Robert Marques of North Susquehanna (p. 101), 13 aug 1785, children George, Robert, 
Samuel, and Elinor Moor, wife Elinor.  Witnesses James Evans, William McKnight, John 
Laverty (Lafferty).  Proved 03 may 1786. 

65. Thomas Russell of Birmingham, County of Warwick in the Kingdom of Great Britain but 
now of Cecil Co. (p. 102), 21 jun 1783, son Thomas, wife Ann (Quaker), sisters Elizabeth 
and Frances, cousin Ann Chace daughter of the late Reverend Thomas Chace, daughters 
Mary, Frances, and Ann.  Witnesses Benjamin Rumsey, John Rumsey, Jacob Maxwell.  
Proved 20 may 1786. 

66. Elizabeth Sheppard of the village of Elk, widow (p. 105), 13 may 1786, daughter Sara 
(Sarah).  Executor her daughter.  Witnesses Henry Robinson, Thomas Huggins, Thomas 
Manuel.  Proved 12 jun 1786. 

67. Joanna Newlin (p. 106), 31 jan 1785, daughter Tamrance Bary, son Nicholas Newlin, 
guardians Gilbert Simons, James Kent Ford?  Witnesses Benjamin …?, Thomas Kertford, 
Thomas Forden?  Proved 17 feb 1785. 

68. Bartholomew Etherington (p. 106), 29 mar 1786, sons John and Bartholomew, wife 
Elizabeth, daughters Sarah, Rebekah Price.  Executors his 2 sons.  Witnesses Benjamin 
Walmsley, Richard Roach, Dennis Burn.  Proved 20 jul 1786. 

69. John Leach Knight (p. 107), 03 jan 1782, wife Catherine, sons John and William, daufhters 
Catherine, Molly, Betsey.  Residual heirs his 4 children John, William, Catherine, and Delia; 
also daughter Kitty (=Catherine?).  Executor his daughter Catherine.  Witnesses John Neide, 
Mary McLaughlin, Thomas Bouchell.  Proved 21 jul 1786 (Catherine withdraws). 

70. Samuel Thompson of East Nottingham (p. 112), 10 nov 1773, Tobias Rudolph, mention 
uncle Mathew Thompson deceased, his grandfather John Thompson deceased. Wife Mary.  
Executors his wife Mary and neighbor Archibald Job.   Witnesses Elisha Gatchel (Quaker), 
Thomas Gilliland.  Proved 19 aug 1786 (presented by Mary Hussern? Lately called Mary 
Thompson). 

71. John Blair (p. 114), verbal will dictated at the house of Robert Hart about 7-8 aug 1786 and 
8-9 days before his death, witnesses Robert Hart, John Manley.  Heir was Hugh Manough.  
Proved 29 aug 1786. 

72. Samuel Pennington (p. 114), 18 sep 1786, son-in-law John Ward, sons Robert and Samuel 
(<21), granddaughter Elizasbeth Ward, friend Nicholas Hyland.  Residual heirs his sons 
Robert and Samuel.  Executor his son-in-law John Ward.  Witnesses Noble Price, Edward 
Frico, Benjamin Porter.  Proved 02 oct 1786. 

73. Samuel Galbraeth (Galbraith) (p. 116), 27 sep 1786, sister Sarah, bothers John, William, 
Hugh, James, Robert, and Thomas, sisters Jean (Jeane), Susan, Rebeckah, and Sarah.  
Executor his brother Hugh.  Witnesses Joshua Hartshorn, Jehoiachim Braickly (Braickley).  
Proved 04 oct 1786. 

74. William and Edward Justice (p. 117), joint will dated 13 sep 1776 (see Book DD 4 probate 
no. 20).  The same will, now probated 30 nov 1786 for the death of Edward Justice late of 
said county deceased. 



75. Edward Armstrong (p. 119), 10 oct but no year given, sons Edward and Adam, ―provided 
that my son Ewdard lays noe clame to the part of Boulden’s Rest left to his mother by hir 
Brother Richard Bouldin‖, Noble Bedle (=Biddle), Benjamin Tapington.  Executors his sons 
Edward and Adam.  Witnesses Noble Biddil (=Biddle), Daniel Hukil, Thomas Hukil.  
Proved 27? Jan 1787. 

76. Edward Parker (p. 121), 02 oct 1786, wife Margery, children Joseph, Robert, and Hester, to 
sons Joseph and Robert… ―all my right and title to a tract of land purchased of and 
conveyed to me by Ratchford Duffiold? (=Drisscold?) deceased containing one thousand 
acres more or less lying and being on the waters of Salt Licke Creek supposed to be in the 
state of Virginia, the right to which is founded on a military warrant made out to said 
Duffiold (?) and located for him in consideration of service done during the former 
American, French, and Indian War…‖, daughter Jane Morrow, friend Baruck Williams, 
William Mullen, Archibald Job, Joseph Cowden.  Executors his wife and son Joseph.  
Witnesses Joseph Cowden, George Wilson, John Boggs.  Proved 18 feb 1787. 

77. William Price Sr. (p. 124), 12 oct 1785, wife Mary, daughter Fanny.  Executor his wife Mary 
and friends Benjamin Bravard and James Foster.  Witnesses Thomas Price, William Clift, 
Mary Alexander.  Proved 25 feb 1787. 

78. Hannah Henderson widow in Backcreek Hundred (p. 126), 30 dec 1786, daughter Ann 
Dougherty, daughter Mary Osbourn, daughter Sarah Punteny’s children, daughter Frances 
Wallace, daughter Cordelar Pennington, son Frisby Henderson.  Executor his son Frisby.  
Witnesses Isaac Lewis, George Thomas.  Proved 12 mar 1787. 

79. Rowland Rogers (p. 127), 02 feb 1786, wife Rachel, sons Elisha, Joseph, Thomas, daughter 
Elizabeth, son William’s heirs-at-law, daughter Nancy’s son Eli, son John’s son Levi, 
daughter Catherine, son Elijah, daughter Lydia.  Witnesses William Bean, William Mullin, 
Moses Patterson.  Proved 06 apr 1787. 

80. James Fyfe of the Vilage of Elk taylor (p. 131), 22 feb 1787, Isaac Burke, Grace Burke, son 
William, daughter Elizabeth.  Executors Tobias Rudolph and Abraham Mithel.  Witnesses 
Henry Robinson, Benjamin Hugg, James Buchannan.  Proved 10 apr 1787. 

81. John Dockery Thompson (p. 132), 01 nov 1786, son John (<21), late wife Hester, daughter 
Mary (<21), brother Edward, Samuel son of Dr. Samuel Thompson of Queen Anne’s Co., 
―Mary Thompson sister of my late wife Hester‖, friend Peregrine Letterbury, sister’s 
daughter Sarah Wilson (Wilsin), Captain John Sword of Philadelphia.  Executors Mary 
Thompson sister of my late wife Hester and James Lonthill and Dr. William Matthews.  
Witnesses James Matthews, John Laing.  Proved 13 apr 1787. 

82. Rachel Money (p. 137), 05 feb 1787, sons Robert, Isaac, granddaughter Mary Walmsley 
daughter of Benjamin Walmsley.  Residual heirs his daughters Anne and Rachel.  Executor 
Benjamin Porter.  Witnesses James Morgan, Benjamin Money.  Proved 13 apr 1787. 

83. Benjamin Thomas (p. 138), 19 jun 1786, daughter Rachel Henderson, daughter Precilla 
Hukill, sons John, Jerman, and Thomas, daughters Marget Thomas and Precilla Foreman, all 
other grandchildren, son Evan James Thomas, son Benjamin Thomas.  Executor Evan 
James Thomas.  Witnesses Benjamin Hugg, James Fyfe, Andrew Harvey.  Proved 22 may 
1787. 

84. William Buchanan (Buchannan) of Back Creek Hundred (p. 140), 15 may 1787, wife 
Margaret, son William, daughter Mary Bouldin, daughter Eliner Buchannan, ―youngest child 
now named John Buchannan‖.  Executors his wife and his son-in-law Lewis Bouldin.  
Witnesses Alexander Scott, Frisby Henderson, Michael Kelly.  Proved 22 may 1787. 



85. Tobias Rudolph Sr. of the Head of Elk (p. 142), 26 may 1787, son Tobias, other children not 
named, two daughters Susana Ervin and Mary Ervin.  Executors Dr. Joshua Clayton, Daniel 
Robertson.  Witnesses Donalsdon Yeates, Joshua Clayton.  Proved 30 may 1787. 

86. James Mackey (p. 144), 26 may 1786, son James, daughter Rachel Whorry.  Residual heirs his 
daughter Margaret Whorry, Agnes Bigham, Elinor Wills, Jane Mackey, Mary Mackey, 
Catherine Mackey, Rachel Whorry.  Witnesses Archibald Job, David Mackey, William 
Mackey.  Proved 26 jun 1787. 

87. David Barr yeoman (p. 146), 08 apr 1787, daughter Ann Gitchel, daughter Sinah? Wattson 
(Watson), daughter Mary Rickett (Ricketts), daughter Elizabeth Barr, granddaughter Jane 
Stewart, mention grave of my daughter Jane Stewart.  Executors his sons-in-law Joseph 
Watson and John Thomas Ricketts.  Witnesses Joseph Gilpin, John Gilpin, Abel Herman.  
Proved 12 jul 1787. 

88. John Russell of North Milford Hundred (p. 147), 21 may 1787, his mother not named, 
daughter Esther, sister Mary, brother George.  Executors his brother George and friend 
James Black Esq of Newcastle Co., and Samuel Trueland of Cecil Co.  Witnesses Benjamin 
Means, Jean Evar?, Joseph Wallace.  Proved 30 jul 1787. 

89. William Davidson of Milford Hundred (p. 148), 11 aug 1787, wife Agness, daughter Jane 
Leach, sons John, Robert, William, James.  Executors his wife and William and James 
Davidson.  Witnesses James Lutton, James Hall, James Evans.  Proved 18 aug 1787. 

90. Sarah Barrington of Cecil Co. at present of the City of Philadelphia (p. 151), 20 may 1786, 
sister Mary Rogers of the City of Philadelphia widow, aunt Sara Neill of the said city widow, 
nephew Maurice Rogers son of my said sister Mary, grandmother Catherine Scott, mention 
late father’s estate, Mrs. Sarah McKeun wife of the honorable Thomas McKeun, and Mrs. 
Eliza McKeun.  Executors friends James Hugues of Cecil Co. miller and Perigrine Ward of 
the same Esq.  Witnesses Samuel Powell Griffiths[, ?] Ascheton Humphreys.  Proved at 
Philadelphia 24 jul 1786. 

91. John Poack (p. 182), 19-20 dec 1786, 3 eldest daughters not named, sons John, William, 
James, daughters Martha, Frances.  Executor his son James.  Witnesses Abraham Hillis, 
James Hillis, John Grubb.  Proved 13 sep 1787. 

91bis.  Samuel Gillispie (Gillespie (p. 154), 21 jul 1787.  This estate is not numbered in the will 
book.  Wife Mary, son George, daughter Hannah, brother Nathaniel, aged mother not 
named, sister Elinor Ewing, brother-in-law James Ewing, sister Margaret, sister Anne.  
Executors my relation and friend Patrick Ewing and brother Nathaniel.  Witnesses Patrick 
Ewing, Samuel Ewing, James Sims.  Proved 13 sep 1787. 

92.  Benjamin Pearce (p. 157), no date?, wife Sarah, daughters Rebecca, Mary Ann, Hester, and 
Rachel, sons Benjamin, Andrew, Henry, and William.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses William 
Pearce, William Pearce Jr., Rebecca Pearce, Thomas Jones.  Proved 15 sep 1787. 

93. Jacob Notherman of Charlestown (p. 159), 13 jan 1787, son John, daughter Ann Maccrackin, 
granddaughter Mary Maccrackin.  Executor his daughter Ann.  Witnesses John Rawlings, 
Andrew Grubb, Letitia Grubb.   Proved 22 sep 1787. 

94. Noble Price (p. 160), no date?, daughter Mary, wife Catherine, brother Edward, Nicholas 
Hyland Price.  Executors his wife Catherine and brother Edward.  Witnesses Catherine 
Price, John Ward Veazey, Thomas Kimbar Walmsley.  Proved 17 oct 1787. 

95. Richard Griffie of Susquehannah Hundred (p. 162), 28 ―third month commonly called 
March‖ 1783, wife Ann, son John deceased, sons Richard and William, grandson George 
Griffie (<16), daughter Susannah Hewes.  Residual heirs William and Richard Griffie, Leah 
Hewes and Susannah Hughes.  Executors his sons William and Richard.  Witnesses Samuel 



Reynolds (Quaker), James Sotheland McLaughlin, Samuel England (Quaker).  Proved 24 oct 
1787. 

96. Empson Bird of Head of Elk (p. 164), 28 jul 1786, wife Marym sons Thomas, George, and 
Thompson (<21), daughters Margaret Gordon, Susannah Bird, and Mary Montgomary.  
Executors his wife Mary and son George.  Witnesses Henry Hollingsworth, Joseph Mattson, 
Enuch Bonsall.  Proved 12 dec 1787. 

97. John Ward son of John (p. 166), 08 dec 1783, wife Elizabeth, sons Robert, Joshua, George 
(<21), daughter Deborah (<18).  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Joseph Stockton, Thomas 
Wood, Mary Wilmer.  Proved 19 dec 1787 (but shows 1788, obvious error). 

98. Michael Earle (p. 168), 04 dec 1787, regarding bond of 19 may 1774 to Elisha and Jerusha 
Terry (Ferry? Jerry?), nephew James Earle son of his brother James, niece Henrietta daughter 
of his brother James, brother Richard Tilghman Earle, brother James, friend James Tilghman 
Esq of Charlestown, nephew Michael Earle son of James.  Executors his wife Mary, nephew 
Michael Earle, friend William Tilghman.  Witnesses Henry W. Pearce, Matthew Tilghman 
Sr., Henry Ward Pearce Jr.  Proved 19 dec 1787. 

99. Ephraim Thompson Sr. (p. 171), 20 nov 1787, wife Ann, 3 daughters Mary, Ann, and 
Rebecca, son Samuel, grandson Ephraim Thompson Mitchell.  Executor his son Samuel.  
Witnesses Elizabeth Armstrong, Robert Armstrong, William Whittam.  Proved 15 jan 1788. 

100. Isaac Turner (p. 173), 28 dec 1787, son George Chick Turner, father Peter Turner, 
brothers and sisters not named.  Executor his brother Daniel.  Witnesses John Ford, 
Bennoni Biddle, Nathaniel Chick.  Proved 28 jan 1788. 

101. David Ricketts (p. 175), no date?, Mary Rutter daughter of Moses Rutter deceased (or 
Putter?), brother-in-law Andrew Fisher, wife Ann, ―cussin‖ David son of my half brother 
John Ricketts.  Executor his ―cussin‖ David and wife Ann.  Witnesses Thomas Broom, Mary 
Broom, Amelia Fisher.  Proved 18 mar 1788. 

102. Enoch Bonsall (p. 176), 21 mar 1788, wife Jane, sons John and Edward.  Executors his 
wife and brother-in-law John Thomas Ricketts.  Witnesses Henry Hollingsworth, George 
Wallace, James Bonsall.  Proved 26 mar 1788. 

103. Joannes (John, Joanes) Lewis (p. 177), 12 mar 1788, friend Robert Molyneux of 
Philadelphia gentleman (various properties in Philadelphia and elsewhere, St. Mary’s Roman 
Catholic Church in Philadelphia), John Bolton of Talbot Co. gentleman.  These as executors 
also.  Witnesses James O’Donald, Benjamin Flintham, Alice O’Donald.  Proved 07 apr 1788. 

104. Hugh Beard Sr. of South Milford Hundred (p. 179), 28 nov 1787, Mary Beard, brother 
John, John Lawson Beard, Robert Blackburn, sons of brother John Beard.  Witnesses 
Samuel Miller, Willim Reasses (Reases).  Proved 07 apr 1788. 

105. James Relse (Relfe?) (p. 181), 08 nov 1785, brothers Richard, John, these 2 as executors as 
well.  Witnesses Benjamin Chew, Henry Ward Pearce, Peggy Pearce.  Proved 11 jun 1788. 

106. John Davis (p. 182), 14 jun 1788, son John, children Joseph and Rebecca.  Executors his 
wife Elizabeth and brother-in-law Joseph Stockton.  Witnesses William Ward, Edward Savin, 
Thomas Savin.  Proved 30 jul 1788. 

107. Deborah Brannam (p. 184), 09 jul 1783, grandchildren Michael Daley, Andrew Daley, 
Palley (=Polly) Daley, Nelly Daley.  Executor Richard Savin.  Witnesses William Matthews, 
Sarah Daley.  Proved 06 may 1788. 

108. James Evans of West Nottingham farmer (p. 185), 14 jul 1788, daughter Jean Thompson, 
son Robert, daughter Eleanor Heron, 3 children Jean, Robert, and Eleanor.  Residual heirs 
Robert and Eleanor.  Executors son Robert Evans, son-in-law John G. Heron.  Witnesses 
James Evans Sr., Samuel Beaty, Elianor Kirkpatrick.  Proved 19 aug 1788. 



109. Mary Reynolds of West Nottingham (p. 187), 18 sep (9th month) 1788, daughters 
Prudence, Mary, Sarah, son David.  Residual heir her son Elisha (Quaker).  Executor her son 
Elisha.  Witnesses Israel Reynolds (Quaker), Sarah Bryen.  Proved 13 oct 1788. 

110. Isaac Reynolds of West Nottingham (p. 188), 23 apr 1788, wife Ann, four sons John, Isaac, 
Ezekiel, Uriah, all <16.  Executor his brother Jesse.  Witnesses William Ewing, Jesse 
Reynolds (Quaker).  Proved 16 dec 1788. 

111. James Louttitt (Louttits, Louttit) (p. 190), 23 nov 1788, cousin Sidney George, nieces Sarah 
and Mary Veazey (<18).  Executor Sidney George.  Witnesses William Ward, Joshua George 
Sr.  Proved 27 dec 1788. 

112. Isaac Johnston (p. 191), 02 jan 1782, wife Elizabeth, sons James, John, Samuel, William, 
George, grandson Isack son of John, niece Nancy Maloy.  Executors his sons William and 
George.  Witnesses Hezekiah Smith, John Scott, William Price.  Proved 05 jan 1789. 

113. Richard Thompson (p. 193), 17 feb 1789, wife not named, granddaughters Mary Cochran 
and Rebecca Hynson (daughters of my daughter Sarah Ellis deceased), eldest son Abraham, 
sons Richard and Ephraim, daughters Sarah and Mary Thompson.  Witnesses Samuel Glenn, 
John Reynolds, Isaac Logue.  Proved 10 mar 1789. 

114. George Veazey (p. 196), 19 dec 1788, nephew Samuel Milbourne Veazey, children of his 
brother Samuel Veazey.  Executor his brother William Veazey and Dr. Joshua Clayton.  
Witnesses Sarah Stuart, James Gallaher.  Proved 12 mar 1789. 

115. John Stoops (p. 198), 06 nov 1784, son John (<21), daughters Rebecca and Mary (both 
<16).  Executors friend John L. Wilmer, John Ward son of John, William Ward.  Witnesses 
John Miller, Edward H. Veazey, Edward Savin.  Proved 23 apr 1789. 

116. Mary Abbott (p. 201), 02 nov 1788, daughters Mary, Ruth, Ann, son Jacob Freeman 
Abbott.  Executor her son William Freeman Abbott.  Witnesses Henry Hendrickson, 
Benjamin Money.  Proved 22 apr 1789. 

117. Lewis Lee of West Nottingham (p. 202), 12 apr 1789, children William, Samuel, John, 
Rachel Riely alias Lee.  Executor his son Samuel.  Witnesses William Allen (Quaker), James 
Allen (Quaker), James Egan.  Proved 05 may 1789. 

118. William Garish of Charlestown (p. 203), 01 apr 1789, eldest son Francis, daughter 
Elizabeth Loag, daughter Ann (<16), wife Rachel.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Jeremiah 
Oldham, John Banks, James Campbell.  Proved 12 may 1789. 

119. Thomas Littleton Savin (p. 205), 04 may 1789, Dr. James Fulton, Sarah Hessey, wife 
Margaret.  Executors his wife Margaret and Dr. James Fulton.  Witnesses Jacob Evertson, 
Thomas Hessey, John Sappington.  Proved 14 may 1789. 

120. Andrew Porter Sr. (p. 207), 06 aug 1788, wife Margrat, son James Leiper Porter, daughter 
Mary, daughter Margrat wife of Richard Gay, daughter Elizabeth wife of John Linsey of 
Pennsylvania, daughter Elinor wife of Robert Porter, daughter Catharine wife of James 
Evans, grandson Andrew son of Robert Porter deceased, unnamed brothers and sisters.  
Executor James Leiper Porter.  Witnesses John Hammond Cromwell, James Milholn 
(Millhollon), George Porter.  Proved 22 jun 1789. 

121. Elisha Gatchell of East Nottingham (p. 211), 21 apr 1789, wife Ann, son Jeremiah, son 
Joseph (his wife Hannah and daughter Mary), son Samuel, son David.  Executors his wife 
Ann and friend Richard Bond Esq.  Witnesses James Boggs, Jacob Gatchell, Nathan 
Gatchell.  Proved 02 jul 1789 (Richard Bond withdraws). 

122. Rebeccah Killgore (p. 213), 23 jun 1785, sons Matthew, Thomas, James, George, daughters 
Martha, Jane Barnet, Elioner Barnet, Elizabeth Alexander.  Executor her son James.  
Witnesses Hezekiah South, John Waggoner, John Evans.  Proved 25 oct 1789. 



123. Samuel Hill (p. 215),  23 jul 1789, wife Sarah, step-daughter Hannah, brothers Arter and 
Thomas.  Witnesses Francis Cruthers (Caruthers), Mary Peery.  Proved 13 oct 1789. 

124. Francis Brumfield of Charlestown (p. 215), 05 jul 1786, son Edward, other children not 
named, son John (<14), son Francis (<14), daughter Agness, daughter Sarah, daughter 
Elizabeth (<12).  Executor his son Edward.  Witnesses William Linton, Thomas Manuel.  
Proved 05 nov 1789. 

125. Patrick Nugent (p. 218), 19 jun 1787, wife not named, daughtersss Bridget, Sarah Carr, 
Hannah, Mary, Catherine, sons Peter and William.  Witnesses James O’Donald, Richard 
Flintham, John Flintham.  Proved 11 nov 1789. 

126. William Jones (p. 219), 06 jul 1782, wife Judith, daughter Deborah.  Executor his wife.  
Witnesses John Montgomery, William Taylor, Samuel Morrison.  Proved 28 nov 1789. 

127. John Passmore (p. 220), 20 oct 1789, eldest daughter Martha McVea (property in New 
Castle), granddaughter Mary Evans (her eldest son Jethro, her 5 children John, Silva, Jane, 
Joel, and Reese), son William, daughter Eleanor Anderson.  Executor son William.  
Witnesses Samuel Maffitt, William Harvey, Robert Lutton.  Proved 07 jan 1790. 

128. Richard Gay (p. 222), no date?, wife Margaret, three youngest daughters Margret, 
Elizabeth, and Mary (<20).  Residual heirs his six daughters:  Elinor, Barbara, Catherine, 
Margaret, Elizabeth, and Mary.  Executors his friends James Evans, James Lieper (Leeper, 
Leiper) Porter.  Witnesses John Hammon Cromwell, James Arbuckle, John Muir.  Proved 30 
jan 1790. 

129. Andrew Kidd (p. 224), 13 nov 1789, wife Martha, sons James, John, George, Andrew, 
daughters Martha, Jean, Betsey, sons Thomas, Richard.  Executors his sons George and 
James.  Witnesses John Patterson, George Kerr, Andrew Brisban.  Proved 01 feb 1790. 

130. John Foster Sr. (p. 225), 01 dec 1789, eldest son John, sons Jesse, James.  Residual heirs his 
children James and Rachel.  Executor his son James.  ―Where as I have suffered by the 
Brittish troops‖.  Witnesses Jacob Lum, Ebenezer Kelly, Nathan Nash.  Proved 18 feb 1790. 

131. Joseph Gilphin Esq. miller (p. 227), 26 dec 1786, wife Elizabeth, daughter Hannah 
(probably in Westmoreland Co., PA, her ―ant‖ Sarah Allison’s legacy), daughter Elizabeth 
(probably in Alexandria, VA), daughters Mary, Rachel, son Joseph, son John (legacy of his 
―ant‖ Sarah Allison).  Residual heirs his 6 children John, Hannah, Elizaabeth, Joseph, Mary, 
Reachel.  Executors his son John, brother Samuel Gilpin.  Witnesses Zebulon Rudulph, 
Tobias Rudulph.  Proved 13 apr 1790. 

132. William Longwill of New Munster (p. 229), 13 jan 1790, daughter Mary Loreman, daughter 
Martha Rutter.  Residual heir daughter Margeret Dysert.  Executors his friends Edward Wier, 
Samuel Evans.  Witnesses James Kilgore, John Evans, George Alexander.  Proved 14 apr 
1790 (presented by Archibald Dysert, executors both withdraw). 

133. William Pearce (p. 230), 12 feb 1789, wife Rebeccah, sons Thomas, William, James, John, 
Robert, Henry, daughters Mary Evertson, Sarah Beedle, Ann Ruley, Rebeccah.  Residual 
heirs his children William, James, John, Robert, Rebecca.  Executor his son Henry.  
Witnesses James Porter, James Fulton, Robert Hodgson.  Proved 29 apr 1790. 

134. Mary Pennington of Frederick Town (p. 233), 13 nov 1789, son Robert.  Residual heir her 
granddaughter Mary Murphy (<16, child of Francis Murphy and Ann Pennington).   
Witnesses Nathaniel Ford, John Rouse.  Proved 30 apr 1790. 

135. David Mackey of North Milford (p. 234), 21 apr 1788, wife Martha, sons Robert, John, 
David, William (<15), daughter Jenney (<20).  Executors his brother John, sons Robert and 
David.  Witnesses Hugh Black, James Macky son of Robert, James Macky son of James.  
Proved 15 jun 1790. 



136. George Ash (p. 237), 24 may 1790, wife not named, sons Nicholas, George, daughters 
Barbara Cashner (wife of Daniel), Elizabeth House, Mary Waggoner.  Residual heirs 
unnamed wife and children.  Executor his son George.  Witnesses Jacob Rudulph, John 
Gilpin, Patrick Rooney.  Proved 01 jun 1790. 

137. Silvester Nowland (p. 239), 06 may 1790, sons Jesse, Thomas, Silvester, wife Sarah, 
daughters Birdget Council, Sarah, Elizabeth.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses John Mercer, 
Joseph Pennington, James Fulton.  Proved 22 jun 1790. 

138. George Holt (p. 241), 18 jun 1790, son Andrew, daughter Rebecca. Executor friend 
William Price.  Witnesses Benjamin Porter, Morgan John Roberts.  Proved 29 jun 1790. 

139. William Steel (Steell, Steells) of North Milford Hundred (p. 242), 19 mar 1790, wife 
Margret, sister Mary, 5 sisters Marey, Retchil, Catrin, Ann, and Agness Steells, mother 
Margret, father Joseph Steel, grandfather John Steel.  Executors his mother Margret and 
sister Mary.  Witnesses Samuel Evans, Alexander McBeath, Thomas Scott.  Proved 31 jul 
1790. 

140. Thomas Jordan of Milford Hundred (p. 243), 06 feb 1790, sons Thomas, Benjamin, Hugh, 
daughters Elizabeth, Jean, wife Ann, grandson Samuel son of John Jordan deceased.  
Executor Thomas Camble.  Witnesses Starrett Gray, John Scott, William Price.  Proved 08 
sep 1790. 

141. John Murray (p. 244), 13 feb 1790, personal letter to his children written at Philadelphia; 
his wife has already died ―at a short warning‖, son and daughter not named. Executors (―for 
friendly advice from time to time‖) Leonard Dorsey, John Field, John Thompson in 
Philadelphia, and Mr. Z. Hollingsworth ―of this place.‖  No witnesses.  Proved 21 oct 1790 
(presented by John Fields and Israel Pleasants of Philadelphia, merchants, Quakers). 

142. James Anderson blacksmith (p. 245), 14 oct 1790, children William (<14) and Ann (<12), 
guardian Rachel wife of Jeremiah McDade.  Executor Dr. James Fulton.  Witnesses Charles 
Heath, Benjamin Ryland.  Proved 20 nov 1790. 

143. John McCall of West Nottingham Hundred weaver (p. 246), 25 sep 1790, son James of 
Virginia, daughter Jane.  Residual heirs wife Agnes, son Henry, daughter Margaret.  Executor 
William Johnson.  Witnesses John Hawkins, Job McKnight, John Scott.  Proved 02 dec 
1790. 

144. Andrew Barrett (p. 248), 04 sep 1790, wife Mary, four youngest daughters Rachel, Amelia, 
Mary, and Mirriam, sons William and Shepperd, grandson Thomas Williams (<21) son of his 
daughter Jane Williams, eldest daughter Ann is wife of William Harris.  Residual heirs 
daughter Jane wife of Bazil Williams, son William, daughter Catherine wife of Samuel 
Barrett, son Sheppard, daughter Amelia, daughter Rachel, daughter Mary, daughter Mirriam, 
and children of eldest daughter Ann Harris.  Executor his son-in-law Bazil Williams.  
Witnesses Nathan Norton, Philip Thomas, John Creswell.   Proved 04 dec 1790. 

145. Elihy Hall Esq. (p. 250), 07 dec 1790, eldest son Elihu, sons James, Elisha, Charles, Henry, 
Washington, daughters Susanna Lyon, Elizabeth Harrison, Catherine Orrick, Julia Hall, sons 
Samuel and George Whitefield Hall, mention of late father Elihu, wife Catherine, daughter 
Susanna is wife of Robert Lyon, daughter Elizabeth Harrison Hall, daughter Catherine 
Orrick Hall.  Residual heirs his children James, Elisha, Charles, Henry, Washington, Susanna 
Lyon, Elizabeth Harrison Hall, Catherine Orrick Hall, Julia Hall, Samuel, George Whitefield 
Hall.  Executors his sons Elisha, Samuel, and George Whitefield Hall.  Witnesses Elihu Hall 
of Elisha, Richard Hall, Alexander Johnson Edmiston, William Welsh.  Proved 16 feb 1791. 

146. Jean (=Jane) Scott (p. 256), 25 may 1789, grandsons Abraham, David, and Alexander Scott 
(sons of her son Thomas), late husband was Abraham Scott, granddaughter Jean Scott, 
granddaughters Margaret and Sarah Scott.  Executor her son Thomas.  Witnesses Samuel 



Edmiston, James Crawford, William Ewing.  Proved 17 mar 1791 (Thomas assigns execution 
to his brother-in-law David Edmiston). 

147. William Scott (p. 257), 03 jun 1788, wife Mary, son John, daughter Jean Kean, grandson 
William Kean (<21).  Executors his wife and friend George Gillespie Jr.  Witnesses Philip 
Wilson, Malcon McNear, Martha McNear.  Proved 16 mar 1791. 

148. George Lawson of North Milford (p. 259), 20 dec 1786, daughter Betcy (or Betey?) Macky, 
granddaughter Nancy Macky, grandson George Lawson, daughter Polly (her aunt Mary 
Smith), grandson George Macky, three children John, Polley, Betey?  Executors his son 
John, daughter Polly, nephew John Macky.  Witnesses David Mackey, James Macky, James 
Macky ye 3rd.  Proved 19 mar 1791 (John Mackey of Northumberland Co., PA withdraws, 
along with Polly and John on 23 apr 1791). 

149. John Fergus shopkeeper (p. 261), verbal will of 18 jan last (=18 jan 1791), brother Francis 
in America, sister Elizabeth in Ireland, brothers in Ireland are William, Joseph, and 
Alexander, brother James in Delaware.  Executors Col. Rodgers and Andrew Cochran.  
Recorded 08 mar 1791, witnesses John Rodgers, Elizabeth Rodgers, and Matthew 
Lockwood.  Proved 21 mar 1791. 

150. William Taylor (p. 262), 28 aug 1788, wife Jane, William Parrizett, brother Joseph, nephew 
William son of Joseph Taylor.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Edward Oldham, Richard 
Taylor, Mary Rees.  Proved 06 jun 1791. 

151. William Spear (Spiear) (p. 263), 01 sep 1779, heir and executor his brother Joseph.   
Witnesses James Hasson (Husson?), Charles Whitelock, Richard Sleater.  Proved 22 jul 1791. 

152. William Pearce Sr. (p. 264), 10 may 1790, brother John, mention legacy from their father, 
brother Robert (<21), sister Rebecca Pearce.  Witnesses Dennis James Nowland, John 
Makin, Gideon Longfellow.  Further notation the same day:  ―I the said William Pearce am 
going a trip sea and should I not return by the twentyfifth day of Next December, it may be 
expected that I am entirely lost…‖  Proved 20 jul 1791. 

153. Samuel England of East Nottingham (p. 265), 13 3rd month called March 1787, wife Sarah, 
son George, daughter Margaret Rowls, granddaughter Mitcha Rowls, daughter Hannah 
Brown, daughter Rachel Reynolds (less amount due from Richard Reynolds), son Joseph, 
sons Elisha and John.  Executors sons Joseph, John, and Elisha.  Witnesses Abner Kirk 
(Quaker), Jehu Brown (Quaker), Isaac Chandler (Quaker).  Proved 15 aug 1791 (Elisha 
withdraws in favor of his brother George). 

154. Rebeckah Brown (p. 268), 12 apr 1791, daughter Rebeckah McDowell (plantation in Kent 
Co.), son William McDowell.  Witnesses William Nelson, Lewis Roberts, Richard Sewall.  
Proved 07 sep 1791. 

155. Edward Beezeley of Charlestown (p. 269), 30 aug 1790, wife Anne, son John, daughter 
Anne, daughter Elizabeth, daughter Sarah wife of Robert McCormick.  Witnesses Ann 
Gatchell, David Stone, Thomas Manuel.  Proved 25 aug 1791. 

156. Alexander Williamson (p. 271), 05 feb 1786, wife Milliscent, daughter Mary, daughters 
Elizabeth, Miliscent, son John (plantation of uncle John Williamson late of Kent Co., left by 
Rev. Alexander Williamson to his son James Williamson), son James.  Residual heirs children 
Mary, Elizabeth, Meliscent, John, and James.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses James Hughes, 
Henry Hendrickson, William Freeman Abbott, Sampson G. Hyland.  Proved 03 dec 1791. 

157. Joseph Lusby (p. 273), 03 mar 1792, son Thomas, youngest daughter Eliza.  Residual heirs 
his 4 children Thomas Veazey Lusby, Anna Maria Lusby, Sarah Veazey Lusby, and Eliza 
Cowrcey Lusby, Sarah to continue to live with her uncle Miller.  Executor his brother-in-law 
Edward Veazey.  Witness Archibald Shields.  Proved 13 mar 1792. 



158. David Poak (p. 275), 26 may1786, sons Thomas, John, David, Barklay, daughter Anna wife 
of Stephen Lowrey.  Executor his son David.  Witnesses James Patten, Samuel Hynman 
(=Hindman).   Proved 27 mar 1792. 

159. Evan Beal (p. 276), 31 mar 1792, daughter Ann to be raised by Mrs. Harden in Elkton, 
daughter Rachel to be raised by Mrs. Smith in Elkton.  Witness Richel Boldin.  Proved 05 
apr 1792. 

160. John Currer (=Currier) of North East Cecil County (p. 277), 28 jun 1792, Mr. Francis 
Asberry Bishop of Coosbury College, Ann Throo widow of the late David Throo, Hannah 
Hines, niece Millicent Holiday of Duck Creek, Mathey Fourd, niece Martha Greenwood wife 
of Joseph Greenwood in Kent Co., Jacob Joens (=Jones).  Residual heir Jacob Jones, John 
brother of Jacob Jones, James, Sarah, and Enoch Jones.  Executors Col. Sephen Hyland, 
Jacob Jones.  Witnesses Amos Miller (Miles?), John Hendricks, John Cruickshanks.  Proved 
16 jul 1792. 

161. Peter Lawson (p. 279), 01 jun 1787, sister Elizabeth Mahar, Ann Crook daughter of Biddey 
Crook, Eloziabeth Bryan daughter of Benjamin Crook, Dr. Joshua Clayton, Mrs. Mary 
Augustine Lawson widow.  Residual heir Richard Bassett Esq. of Delaware.   Exeucutor 
Richard Bassett.  Witnesses George Ward, Ann Price, John Ward son of John.  Proved 18 jul 
1792 (George Ward is the only surviving witness). 

162. Robert Young (p. 282), 06 aug 1792, wife Rebeccah?, three sons <21 (one is Robert, the 
other two not named).   Executor friend Dr. Michael Wallace.  Guardian Captain James 
Mackey.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Thomas Gilliland, James Steel, John Witherspoon.  
Proved 29 aug 1792. 

163. Isaac Logue (p. 284), 14 sep 1792, stepson Henry McCoy (sedon son of my deceased wife), 
brother Ephraim Logue, sister’s children (children of Andrew and Sarah Lawrenson 
deceased), stepson John McCoy (eldest son of my deceased wife).  Witnesses Samuel Glenn, 
Robert Armstrong, Peregrine Chick.  Proved 24 sep 1792. 

164. Ephraim Logue (p. 286), 24 sep 1792, daughters Sarah, Elizabeth, Margaret, son Manassah, 
wife Elizabeth.  Residual heirs wife and five children Jemima, Sarah, Elizabeth, Manassah, 
and Marget.  Executor Edward Foard (Ford).   Witnesses Hezekiah Foard, Samuel Bayard, 
Benjamin Sluyter.  Proved 04 oct 1792 (widow elects dower). 

165. Michael Helm (p. 288), 03 oct 1792, wife Margaret, youngest daughter Mary (<18) (being 5 
years, 9 months from this date), son Michael (<21), daughter Margaret wife of John Sevigart, 
daughters Elizabeth, Catherine.  Executor his wife.   Witnesses Jacob Conrad, Samuel 
Coppach, Jacob Conrad Jr.  Proved 24 oct 1792. 

166. Hezekiah Wingate (p. 290), verbal will of 21 oct 1792, son Edward heir and executor.  
Residual heirs his daughters Elizabeth and Mary.  Witnesses Edward Wingate, Sampson 
George Hyland, John Lain, Philip Welch.   Proved 13 nov 1792. 

167. Alexander McCloud (p. 291), 07 nov 1792, John son of John Ward and Hennerita Mary 
Ward, Elizabeth daughter of William and Sarah Walmsley, the said John Ward and Sarah his 
wife, James Logue, Sarah wife of Samuel Pennington, Elizabeth daughter of the said John 
Ward, William son of John and Henrietta Mary Ward.  Residual heir the said John Ward.  
Executor the said John Ward.  Witnesses Benjamin Porter, John Pennington, William Price.  
Proved 18 dec 1792. 

168. Isaac Caulk (p. 292), 08 dec 1792, son Oliver.  Residual heirs his children Oliver and 
Elizabeth, Sarah Mahary, Head of Chester Meeting.  Executor his brother Oliver (Quaker).  
Witnesses Lewis Beard, Thomas Stephens, William Richardson.  Proved 22 dec 1792. 

169. Hyland Price (p. 293), 01 mar 1788, sons Thomas, Benjamin, Christopher, George, and 
John Hyland Price, daughters Hester Beestons? And Henny Retto (=Henrietta!) Mary Price.  



Executor his wife Henny Retto Mary Price.  Witnesses William Worth, Vachel Terry, John 
Ward.  Proved 27 dec 1792. 

170. William Davis (p. 295), 15 oct 1791, sons William, Richard, four children Rebeccah, 
Richard, Thomas, James.  Executor his son William.  Witnesses Jacob Freeman Abbott, 
William Freeman Abbott, Thomas Price.  Proved 27 dec 1792. 

171. Ann Marcer (Mercer) (p. 297), 27 oct 1789, son John Merder, daughter Rebecca Veazy.  
Witnesses William Ward, John Cox.  Proved 28 dec 1792. 

172. Samuel Beedle (p. 298), 07 dec 1789, wife Rebeccah, sons Samuel, Hermon, daughters 
Mary Pennington, Rebecccah Sappington.   Executor his son Samuel.  Witnesses William 
Davis Sr., William Davis Jr., Richard Davis.  Proved 27 dec 1792. 

173. Aquila (Aquilla) Etherington (p. 299), 07 dec 1792, sister Rebeccah Cowarden wife of 
James.  Executor sister Rebecca Cowarden.  Witnesses John Allen, William Flinn, Hyland 
Hendrickson.  Proved 28 dec 1792. 

174. John McClain of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 300), 27 dec 1790, wife Anne, sons 
Robert, William, John, James, Andrew, daughters Lydia Saunderson, Mary.  Excutor his son 
William.  Witnesses James Patton, David Pollock, Alexander Long, Amos Ewing.  Proved 08 
jan 1793. 

175. Bartholomew Hendrickson (p. 302), 03 jan 1793, daughter Miliscent Stacey (<16) daughter 
of Rebeccah Stacey, brother Henry.  Executor his brother Henry.  Witnesses Henry 
Hendrickson, James Logue, Mathias Hendrickson.  Proved 22 jan 1793. 

176. Jane Taylor (p. 303), 18 feb 1793, ―my relation William Taylor Parrizett who lives with 
me‖, mention estate of deceased husband William Taylor, Sarah wife of Nicholas Parrizett.  
Executor Edward Oldham.  Witnesses Nathan Biggs, Jane Biggs, Margaret Crow.  Proved 25 
feb 1793. 

177. Joseph Brown of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 304), 18 aug 1787, sons John (Quaker), 
Joseph, daughter Hannah.  Residual heirs his children William (Quaker), Rachel (Coulson), 
Hannah, Margaret.  Executor his sons William and John.  Witnesses John Blackburn, Nathan 
Harris (Quaker), John Scott.   Proved 06 mar 1793. 

178. Benjamin Brevard (Bravard) Sr. (p. 306), 21 feb 1792, wife Rebecca, sons Joshua, Adam, 
Benjamin, daughters Rachel, Clarissa.  Witnesses James Faris, Asenath Faris, Sarah Cochran.  
Proved 27 mar 1793. 

179. Rebeccah Emmitt (Emitt) (p. 305), 07 sep 1791, grandson John Emitt, granddaughter 
Susana Whitlock, granddaughter Ann Beasley. Mention estate of late husband Abraham 
Emmitt.   Residual heir her grandson Samuel Emitt.  Executors John McAntine 
(=McIntyre), Philip Wilson, Samuel Smith.  Witnesses Hezekiah South, Joseph Phillips, 
William McClelland.   Proved 27 mar 1793. 

180. Nathaniel Dawson (p. 310), 16 feb 1793, wife Ann.  Executor his wife Ann.  Residual heirs 
his son Samuel Hughs Dawson (<21).  Witnesses Charles Beaston, William Eliason.  Proved 
25 may 1793. 

181. Lewis Beard (p. 311), 01 mar 1793, three grandchildren Nancy Hodgson, Richard 
Hodgson, Sarah Hodgson, son Lambert Beard.  Executor his son Lambert Beard.  Witnesses 
Enoch Johns, Benjamin Porter, Moses Briscoe.  Proved 10 jun 1793. 

182. Isabella Bailey (p. 313), 25 apr 1793, daughter Ann (mention of will of Ann’s father), 
Robert Wilkinson (mention of Robert’s grandfather’s will), four daughters Catharine Jenny, 
Mary Russell, Isabella Bathers, Anne Bailey, son James.  Executors his son James and his 
daughter Ann.  Witnesses John Oglevie, John Witherspoon.   Proved 24 jun 1793. 

183. Hezekiah South (p. 314), 26 jul 1791, granddaughter Ann Philips (<18), other 
grandchildren Susanna (<18), Margret (<18), William (<21), and Mary Philips (<18).  



Executors George Alexander, John Evans.  Witnesses Edward Weir, Archibald Dysert, 
Philip Wilson.  Proved 06 aug 1793. 

184. Neal Bradley (p. 316), 04 aug 1793, friend Barbara Trofield?  Executor Barbara Trofield?  
Witnesses William Taylor, Jere ( Jeremiah) Taylor, Adam Walace (Wallace).  Proved 12 aug 
1793. 

185. Sarah England widow (p. 317), 17 7th month (jul) 1793, mention estate of deceased 
husband Samuel England, sons Joseph, Elisha, John, children George (Quaker), Margaret 
(Rowls), Hannah (Brown), Rachel (Reynolds), her youngest child is John.  Witness George 
Churchman (Quaker).  Proved 15 aug 1793. 

186. Hannah Brevard (Bravard) (p. 319), 06 sep 1793, son Robert Crozier, nephew Oliver 
Bravard (<21), daughter Assinea Faris.  Witnesses James Foster, George Turner, John G. 
Richardson.  Proved 17 sep 1793. 

187. Mary Louttit (p. 320), 15 sep 1793, daughter Mary George, granddaughters Sarah Louttit 
Veazey and Mary Veazey, brother Joshua George.  Witnesses Richard Oldham, Sarah 
Willson.  Proved 10 oct 1793. 

188. Robert Lusby (p. 321), 31 mar 1792, oldest son William (his son James), oldest daughter 
Rebeccah wife of John James (her son William), son John, five children Thomas, Edward, 
Robert, Anne, and Sarah, daughter Milcah <16).  Executor his son John.  Witnesses Dr. 
Thomas Brocus Veazey, James Morgan, James See?  Proved 06 nov 1793. 

189. Margaret Murphy (p. 323), 14 nov 1793 (verbal will), Hannah Alcorn.  Witnesses Samuel 
Phillips, David Owens (Owans).  Proved 02 dec 1793 (presented by Joseph Murphy). 

190. Eleanor Campbell (p. 323), 26 jul 1782, nephew John Currier Campbell, sister Elizabeth 
McManis, niece Mary Campbell daughter of James.  Residual heir John Campbell Chambers.  
Executor John Campbell Chambers.  Witnesses Benjamin Bravard (deceased when will was 
proved), Rebecca Bravard, Rachel Bravard (known as Rachel Taylor when will was proved).  
Proved 14 dec 1793. 

191. Abraham Sidwell of Township of West Nottingham (p. 325), 27 mar 1774, wife Charity, 
children not named.  Executor his brother Hugh Sidwell, William Allen, Nathan Harris.  
Witnesses George Gartrill, Joshua Haines, John Irvine.  Proved 10 feb 1775.  (Recorded out 
of order.) 

192. Alexander Johnston Edmiston (p. 326), 17 dec 1793, wife not named, daughter Susanna.  
Executors his uncle Dr. John McDowel, friend James Evans.  Witnesses John Miflin Jr. 
(Quaker), E. J. Hall, George Hall.  Proved 20 jan 1794. 

193. Vachel Terry (p. 327), 15 jan 1793, wife Elizabeth, son Benjamin (<21), Ruth Boyer (and 
her children), William son of William Terry (and his sisters Sarah and Amelia), Jacob son of 
John Price, Henriette Mary Price daughter of Hyland Price.  Executor his wife Elizabeth.  
Witnesses Thomas B. Veazey, Thomas Price, Alphonso Cosden.  Codicil 02 jan 1794.  
Proved 24 jan 1794. 

194. Rebeccah Cox (p. 329), 30 jan 1793, daughters Sophia, Rebecca, Alice.  Residual heir her 
son John.  Other sons excluded because sufficiently provided for in their father’s will:  
Benjamin, Thomas, Samuel, George, Elija.  Executor her son John.  Witnesses James 
Mercer, Samuel Penington (Pennington).  Proved 03 mar 1794. 

195. Ann Armstrong of North Milford Township (p. 331), 03 jan 1794, sons John, Ephraim, 
three grandchildren Nancy Whann, Hannah Griffith, Mary Griffith.   Executors her sons 
John and Ephraim.  Witnesses Samuel Maffitt, Moses Scott, James Lutton.  Proved 08 mar 
1794. 



196. Samuel Currier (p. 332), 20 may 1786, wife Abigail, nephew John George son of Sampson.  
Residual heir nephew John Campbell.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Adam Dobson, Samuel 
Redgrave, Hiland Beedle.  Proved 03 mar 1794. 

197. John Read of North Milford Township (p. 334), 22 oct 1793, Dr. White, grandson John 
son of Alexander Read, son Alexander.  Executor his son Alexander.  Witnesses Archibald 
Dysart, William Hutchison.  Proved 06 mar 1794. 

198. John McCay (McCoy) (p. 335), 15 mar 1794, son Hugh McCay, sons William, James 
(mention of property ―McCay’s Island‖), daughter Esther Rowland, daughter Ann Love, 
daughter Margaret Goddon (=Gordon), daughters Jean, Agness, Elizabeth, Frances, 
Catharine.   Wife Fances McCoy.  Executors his sons William and James.  Witnesses James 
Evans, Robert Evans, William McCrakin.  Proved 28 mar 1794. 

199. Henry Pennington (p. 338), 08 sep 1793, five children Julin, Edward, Henry, Elizabeth, 
Mary.  Executor George Hastings of Kent Co., Edward Pennington of Cecil Co.  Witnesses 
Robert Crouch, William Hacket, Cornelia Pennington (known as Cornelia Hacket when will 
was proved).  Proved 05 apr 1794. 

200. Nathaniel Hynson (Hanson) (p. 339), 14 sep 1792, daughter Rebecca Hanson, 
granddaughter Martha Dufoit? (or Dusoit?), grandson Nathaniel Hynson, daughter Ann 
Moore, grandson Samuel Hanson, daughter Mary Rumsey.  Residual heirs his daughters 
Rebecca Hanson and Susannah Stevens.  Executor his son-in-law Thomas Stevens.  
Witnesses Peregrine Ward Sr. and Jr., Rebeccah Ward (known as Rebeccah Veazey when the 
will was probated).   Proved 05 apr 1794. 

201. Ann Butteel? (p. 34019 feb 1794, daughter Sarah Miller, daughter Rachell (Rachel), son 
Empson (<21).  Executor her son-in-law Thomas Miller Jr.  Witnesses Samuel Maffitt, 
Samuel Miller, Thomas Miller Sr.  Proved 26 apr 1794. 

202. William Veazey (p. 342), 12 feb 1793, daughter Elizaabeth, son James.  Residual heirs son 
James, Cathran Segr? (and her children Stephen, John, Josiah, Ann).  Executor his son 
James.  Witnesses Francis Partridge, John Gilpin, James Partridge.  Proved 25 apr 1794. 

203. Andrew Walker Sr. (p. 343), 19 feb 1794, sons William, David, James, daughter Margaret.  
Residual heirs his four sons John, Andrews, William, David.  Witnesses Joshua Hartshorn, 
James Orrick, David Patten.  Proved 20 may 1794. 

204. Mathias Johnson Sr. (p. 345), 06 jul 1793, son Simon, wife Ann, daughter Ann Marey 
Johnson.  Executors his wife Ann and son Simon.  Witnesses Levi Johnson, Adam Short.  
Proved 09 jun 1794. 

205. John Jack (p. 346), 05 may 1791, James Jack, daughter Jean Hamlinton, John Hamlinton, 
Alexander McMun.  Witnesses Benjamin Barefoot, Charles Brookings, Andrew Wier, 
William Corbet.  Proved 12 aug 1794. 

206. John Murphy (p. 347), 15 sep? 1793, wife (Margaret?), wife’s son Aaron Wark, John 
Brown, Margret McMaster wife of Robert, other ―eldest daughters‖ not named, specifies his 
own tombstone:  born 11 jun 1708, died 21 apr 1794, James Mackey, ―my nameless 
grandson‖.  Executors Robert McMaster, Samuel Gay.  Witnesses Robert Hays, Samuel Mc. 
McMaster (McMasters).  Proved 12 sep 1794 (presented by Margaret Murphy, the executors 
withdraw).   

207. Thomas Cord weaver? (p. 349), 23 nov 1793, daughters Ann, Elizabeth, Susannah, 
Margaret, Hannah, Rachel, wife Rosannah, sons James, William, John.  Executors his sons 
James and John.  Witnesses William Killpatrick, Thomas McCleary, John Milligan.  Proved 
07 oct 1794. 
 



Book 6 should have been designated ―FF 6‖, 549 pp., containing 298 probates numbered 1-294 and 
296-299 (there is no 295) (FHL microfilm #0013868).  The following pages were missed in the 
microfilming:  92-93, 178-179. 
 

1.  John Mevey (McVea, signed McVegh) (p. 1), 24 apr 1794, wife Mary, sons Benjamin, Jacob, 
daughters Sarah Oins (=Owens?), Ann Willocks (=Wilcox?).  Residual heir his son 
Benjamin.  Executor his son Benjamin.  Witnesses Thomas Russell, John McVey Jr.  Proved 
08 oct 1794. 

2. Andrew Willson (p. 2), 23 aug 1794, brother John (his wife Mary, his daughter Eleanor 
Willson), Margaret Willson John Willson’s wife, James Maxwell, Margaret Maxwell, Rebecca 
Maxwell, Elenor Willson, friend James Egan.  Residual heirs his brother Thomas Willson 
(and Andrew son of Thomas).  Executors his brother John and friend James Egan.  
Witnesses James Hegan, William McCullough, James Egan.  Codicil not dated.  Proved 09 
oct 1794. 

3. Harman Kankey (Kankie) (p. 3), 20 oct 1794, daughters Rebecca and Meriah Kankie, mother 
Rebecca Kankey, friend and uncle Stephen Hyland Esq.  Executor his mother and uncle 
aforesaid.  Witnesses James Allen, George Hill, Nicholas Kankey.  Proved 28 oct 1794 and 
05 feb 1795. 

4. Thomas Cooper resident at Susquehannah? Canal (p. 5), 26 jul 1794, family in Ireland.  
Executor Robert Barr.  Witnesses Thomas Brown, Colin McLachlin, John Campbell.  
Proved 30 oct 1794. 

5. Samuel Hammond of Kent County, Maryland (p. 6), 07 nov 174), daughter Jane, son John.  
Witnesses Samuel Beaty, Andrew Thompson, William Patten.  Proved 26 jov 1794. 

6. Jacob Manley planter (p. 8), 02 nov 1792, wife Rebecca, son Jacob (<21), son William, children 
Elizabeth, Sarah, Rachel, Jacob.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses David Smith, George 
Wallace, Sampson Currer (=Currier).  Proved 13 dec 1794. 

7. Moses Thompson (p. 10), 03 aug 1793, cousin Henry Douherty.  Residual heir his brother 
James Thompson ―which is in Ireland‖.  Executor John Cameron.  Witnesses John Beard, 
Richard Brookings.  Proved 05 jan 1795. 

8. Daniel Job of West Nottingham (p. 11), 04 12th month (=dec) 1794, wife Mary, sons Samuel, 
Daniel, Andrew (land in Pennsylvania), youngest son Archibald, sons Jacob and Thomas, 
four daughters Ann, Elizabeth, Hanah, Lydia.  Executors his sons Samuel (Quaker) and 
Daniel (Quaker).  Witnesses Samuel Brown, Joseph Brown (Quaker), Elisha Brown 
(Quaker).  Proved 21 jan 1795. 

9. Thomas Jones Esq. (p. 14), 15 jan 1795, two sons Thomas Jones and John Leach Knight 
Jones, ―Martha, Mary and Sarah Bateman and Francis B. Chandler‖.  Executor Francis 
Bellows Chandler.  Witnesses Thomas Brocus Veazey, John Maxwell, John Allen.  Proved 09 
feb 1795. 

10. James Foster (p. 16), 12 oct 1793, wife Mary, son Hermon, ―my orphan boy William 
Hatton‖ (<21, mention of his unnamed father).  Residual heirs his three daughters Mary, 
Nancy, Sarah.  Three other daughters Anne, Elizabeth, and Lydia have already received 
legacies.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses William Taylor, Richard Hukill, William Hukill.  
Proved 19 feb 1795. 

11. Jean Alexander of Pencader Hundred in New Castle County, Delaware (p. 17), 12 feb 1795, 
son ―Jocob Fairis‖, second daughter Jean Whan, youngest daughter Annabella Williams, 
grandchildren who are children of David Thomas deceased (eldest is Jean, second is Mary, 
youngest is David), granddaughter Jean Bouldin, eldest daughter Margaret Black widow.  



Executor her son Jocob Faires, daughter-in-law Caziah Fairis.  Witnesses Samuel Ireland, 
Nicholas Chambers.  Proved 10 mar 1795 (presented by Jacob Fairis). 

12. Messer Brown of East Nottingham (p. 18), 25 jan 1791, wife Martha, son Jehu.  Residual 
heirs sons Jesse and Jehu.  Daniel Perry (his wife is Brown’s daughter Jane), grandson Messer 
Perry.  Executors his sons Jesse and Jehu.  Witnesses Thomas Manuel, Elisha Kirk (Quaker), 
Samuel McRoy?  Proved 14 mar 1795. 

13. John Money (p. 20), 20 feb 1795, son Jesse, Robert Walmsley, wife Ann.  Residual heirs his 
seven children Ann Cooper, William Comegys Money, Abbathea? Corden?, John Money 
(<21), Cornelius Money (<21), Alphonse Money (<21).  Executor his son William.  
Witnesses William Ward, James Morgan, Alexander Younger.  Proved 18 mar 1795. 

14. Joseph McNeiley (McNeeley) (p. 22), 06 mar 1795, daughters Elizabeth Gibony and Martha 
McNeeley, David Marcus husband of his daughter Lydia McNeiley.  Executors George Kidd 
and John Starrett.  Witnesses John Starrett (Sterratt), James Steel.  Proved 03 apr 1795. 

15. John Morgan (p. 23), 25 mar 1792, ―nefew‖ James Morgan. Executor Edward Price.  
Witnesses Thomas Severson, Thomas Kimber Walmsley, Rebecca Hendrickson.  Proved 08 
apr 1795. 

16. Robert Hill (p. 24), 16 apr 1795, brother’s son James Hill, John Hill a brother of this James, 
William Hill, Samuel Hill, Ann Hill, William Cather.  Executor James Beard Sr.  Witnesses 
John Alexander, James Mathews, Sarah Lesslie.  Proved 02 may 1795 (presented by George 
Beard). 

17. Robert Thompson (p. 25), 04 sep 1792, brother Ephraim.  Executor Ephraim Thompson.  
Witnesses Peregan (=Peregrine) Chick, David Black, Nathaniel Chick.  Proved 06 may 1795. 

18. Mary Thompson (p. 26), 27 apr 1787, niece Hester Veazey daughter of John Ward Veazey, 
cousin Sarah Willson, brother John Thompson of Queen Anne’s County, niece Sarah 
Thompson daughter of my brother Samuel Thompson of Queen Anne’s County, nephew 
John son of John Dockery Thompson deceased, 4 nieces Sarah and Hester daughters of 
Samuel Thompson, Sarah daughter of John Thompson, and Hester daughter of John Ward 
Veazey.  Executor her brother Samuel Thompson.  Witnesses John son of John Ward, 
Joshua Ward, Elizabeth Ward.  Proved 23 may 1795. 

19. John McCoullogh (McCollogh) of West Nottingham (p. 28), 08 apr 1791, daughter Hannah 
Hutchenson, son James McCoulloug, son John, son Alexander McCollough, son Archibald 
McCollough, daughter Martha.  Executor his sons John and James.  Witnesses Robert 
Caldwell, Frederick Quig, Jehoackim (Jehoaickim) Brackley, John Scott.  Proved 02 jun 1795. 

20. Edward Donley (p. 29), 12 dec 1794, wife Sarah. Executor his wife.  Witnesses Jacob Lum, 
John Manley.  Proved 20 jun 1795. 

21. John Mercer (p. 31), 24 apr 1795, brother Benjamin, daughter ―Julian‖ Mercer Brown, 
Hezekiah and John sons of my brother William Mercer, Rebecca Brown.  Executor his 
brother Benjamin.  Witnesses Otho Pennington, Joseph Pennington, Lambert Beard.  
Proved 22 jul 1795. 

22. Stephen Biddle (p. 32), 26 sep 1794, sons Peregrine and Thomas, six daughters Mary, Ann, 
Hosey, Sarah (<16), Eliza (<16), and Margaret (<16).  Executor his wife Sarah.  Witnesses 
―W.‖ Mathewes, Thomas Tull, James Scanlan.  Proved 13 aug 1795. 

23. Cornelius Jewell (p. 34), 16 jan 1795, daughter Rachel Todd.  Executor his daughter Rachel 
Todd and friend Jacob Hollingsworth.  Witnesses John Hamm, Richard Barrington, Thomas 
Evans.  Proved 17 aug 1795. 

24. Mathias Hendrickson (p. 35), 07 oct 1776, wife Sarah, sons Henry, Mathias, Bartholomew, 
James, Hyland (<21), William (<21), Joseph (<21), Margaret Fann.  Residual heirs his sons 



James, Ephraim, Hyland, William, Joseph.  Executors his wife Sarah and son James.  
Witnesses William Davis, Joseph Davis, John Davis.  Proved 04 sep 1795. 

25. Moses Scott (p. 37), 05 oct 1795, wife Rachel, daughters Rachel (<18), Eleanor (<18), 
stepdaughter Hannah Howard.  Executors his wife and friend Joseph Philips.  Witnesses 
James Davidson, Alexander Willson.  Proved 27 oct 1795. 

26. Henry Hendrickson (p. 38), no date?, wife Elizabeth, unnamed daughters, son Henry.  
Executor his wife.  Witnesses Edward Tilden, Bartholomew Etherington.  Proved 11 nov 
1795. 

27. Henry Stedham (p. 39), 03 sep 1795, daughter Mary (<16), sons Henry (<21) and John 
(<21).  Executors his grandson William Simpers, friend Joshua Rutter.  Witnesses Thomas 
Owans (=Owens), John Keitley, James Ramsey.  Proved 07 dec 1795 (presented by Thomas 
Giles, Joshua Rutter withdraws 26 mar 1796, William Simpers withdraws 07 nov 1795). 

28. Robert Smith (p. 41), 20 dec 1795, wife Eleanor, sons William, John, Joseph, Robert, 
Francis, Jesse, daughter Mary wife of John Jones, daughter Eleanor wife of David McCrea, 
daughter Hannah wife of William Whann, daughter Esther wife of Levi Cully.  Residual heirs 
his children William, John, Esther.  Executors his sons William and John and his wife 
Eleanor.  Witnesses John Miller, William Miller, George Culley.  Proved, date not given. 

29. Thomas Biddle (Bittle) (p. 42), 20 jan 1796, four sons Thomas, John, Jacob, Tobias, ―Joe‖, 
―Sina‖, ―four smallest children‖.  Executors his sons Thomas and Jacob.  Witnesses John G. 
Richardson, John Willson, Richard Bouldin.  Proved 04 feb 1796. 

30. Frances (Francis) McCay (p. 44), 05 oct 1795, mention land ―McCay’s Purchase‖, mention 
deceased husband John McCay Sr., oldest son Hugh McCay, son William, daughter Easter 
Rowland wife of Robert Rowland, daughter Anne wife of Robert Love, son John McCay Jr., 
daughter Margaret Gordin (=Gordon), daughter Jean Hofsinger (or Nofsinger?) wife of 
Peter, four daughters Agness, Elizabeth, Frances, and Catrain.  Executor her son James.  
Witnesses William McCraken, Andrew Richard, Samuel McCree (McCrea).  Proved 09 feb 
1796. 

31. Nathaniel Gillespie (p. 46), 06 apr 1796, wife Martha.  Executor his friends James Sims, 
James Evans Esq.  Witnesses John H. Cromwell, Edward Lafferty, John Land.  Proved 07 
mar 1796. 

32. Francis Partridge (p. 48), ?? dec 1795, late wife’s brothers and sisters John, Joseph, Elizabeth, 
Mary, and Rachel Gilpin (sons and daughters of Joseph and Elizabeth Gilpin), brother 
James, ―viewing my ingagements with one of the most amiable of her sex the same as if 
every ceremony of the Church had been complied with, I give and bequeath to Mary Black 
daughter of the late James Black Esquire of the State of Delaware and sister to the wife of 
Doctor George Walace…‖, William, Thomas, and Hannah Eynon, ―to my brothers and 
sister‖, brother James.  Executors his brothers John and James Partridge.  Witnesses Henry 
Hollingsworth, Joseph Wallace.  Proved 22 mar 1796 (Molly Black quitclaims her share to 
the others on 21 mar 1796). 

33. Eleanor Smith (p. 50), 13 mar 1796, grandson Robert Smith (<21) son of Francis, son 
Robert, daughters Eleanor McCray, Esther Culley, sons John, Jesse.  Executors William 
Miller, John Smith.  Witnesses George Culley, Jethro Barr, Ann Barr.  Proved 12 apr 1796 
(William Miller withdraws). 

34. George Beaston (Beasten) of Bohemia Manor farmer (p. 51), 25 mar 1796, son George, 
brother Andrew.  Executor his brother Andrew.  Witnesses Hezekiah Foard, Josiah Foard, 
Michael Harrison.  Proved 09 may 1796. 



35. Thomas Price (p. 52), 24 jan 1796, brother William, sister Rebeccah.  Residual heirs children 
of his brother William:  George, Anne, Eleanor, and Jane.  Executor Benedict Jones.  
Witnesses Ebenezer Eliason, James Logue, John Ward.  Proved 28 may 1796. 

36. Rachel (Reche) Rodgers (Rogers) (p. 54), 14 fifth month (=may) 1796, son Elisha (his 
daughter Rachel and son Rowland), Catherine Day (her sister Lydia, her daughter Rachel).  
Executor her cousin Thomas Rogers (Quaker).  Witnesses William Mullin, William Rodgers 
(Quaker), Joseph Rodgers (Quaker).  Proved 07 jun 1796. 

37. William Price (p. 55), 05 sep 1795, mother Mary Price, daughter Ruth wife of Benjamin 
Ferguson, brother Lewis Price, nephew William Roberts Price.  Executor his brother Lewis.  
Witnesses Edward Henry Veazey, Thomas Ward Veazey, Benjamin Porter.  Proved 30 jul 
1796 (Lewis Price withdraws). 

38. Andrew Ricker (Rikard) (p. 58), 23 jul 1796, brothers John Rikard, Samuel Rikard, James 
Rikard, Thomas Rikard, father Frederick Rikard, mother Catrain Rikard, sisters Cara, Mary, 
Rachel, Catrain.  Executor James McCay (McCoy).  Witnesses William Miller, William 
McCracken.  Proved 09 aug 1796. 

39. Dr. George Wallace (p. 59), 16 jun 1796, wife Elizabeth, children James, Mary, Joseph (all 
<21), cousin Andrew McCreary.  Executor his wife Elizabeth, brother Joseph.  Witnesses 
Jacob Hollingsworth, Thomas Reynolds, John Partridge.  Proved 25 aug 1796. 

40. Noble Biddle farmer (p. 61), 30 apr 1796, daughter Elizabeth (her children John, Mary,   
James, Noble, George, and Rachell), son Andrew (and his children), son Bouldin ,daughter 
Tamar, son Samuel, Jane (<16) daughter of Richard and Sarah Bouldin, Jane’s brother 
Andrew Bouldin, sons Levy, Stephen, Rayman, ―daughter Elizabeth or Noble Veazey’s 
heirs‖, wife not named, son Spencer.  Witnesses John Barnaby, John Bouldin, Adam 
Armstrong.  Proved 29 aug 1796. 

41. Samuel Porter (p. 64), 09 apr 1796, brother William, sister Elinor Porter, James Porter 
Carpenter, nephew Andrew Richard Porter.  Executors James Porter Carpenter, James 
Porter Ewing.  Witnesses Patrick Ewing, Richard Adams, John Troy.  Proved 17 sep 1796. 

42. Samuel Brown of Township of West Nottingham (p. 67), 4th day 1st month 1777 (=04 jan 
1777), wife Sarah (Quaker), sons Samuel, Jacob, William, three daughters Elizabeth, Mary, 
Sarah.  Executors his wife and friend Jacob Haines.  Witnesses William Allen, Daniel Job 
(Quaker), John Scott, Jacob Brown, Joseph Brown.  Proved 24 sep 1796. 

43. Mathias Hendrickson (p. 70), 23 jun 1796, three brothers Hyland, William, Joseph, Henry 
son of Henry Hendrickson deceased.  Witnesses Edward Tilden, Bartholomew Etherington, 
Perygen (=Peregrine) Cox.  Proved 06 oct 1796. 

44. James Corden of Middle Hundred (p. 71), 05 sep 1796, wife Rebeccah, sons Benjamin, Jesse, 
Edward, James, daughters Rebeccah Corden, Ann Corden? (or Cosden?).  Executor his son 
Benjamin.  Witnesses Robert Walmsley Jr., Elizabeth McComb (McCombs), James 
McComb.  Proved 17 dec 1796. 

45. James Barns (Barens, Barnes) (p. 73), 24 dec 1795, daughter Isabel Hird (her two youngest 
children Isabellow and Moses Hird), George McCullough Esq., son James Barens, James 
Barens (<21) son of James Barens.  Residual heir his son Joseph.  Executors his son Joseph 
Barens and James Evens (Evans).  Witnesses George McCullogh, Robert Love, Robert 
Ewing.  Proved 20 dec 1796 (James Evans withdraws). 

46. Lydia Montgomery (p. 75), 31 oct 1796, son John Eliason, daughters Araminta Monmelia 
Montgomery, seven children now living, except for two sons John and William, her son 
James is <21.  Executor her son John Eliason.  (Her sons John and William are counted 
among her seven living children, but the whole list is not given.)  Witnesses William Craig, 
Joseph Oldham, William Moore.  Proved 06 jan 1797. 



47. John Oglevie (p. 77), 11 oct 1794, sons Joseph, John, daughters Judith, Mary, Sarah, 
Margaret, Ann.  Executors his son John and Richard Bond.  Witnesses William Terry, Hugh 
Logan, James Jearvis.  Proved 10 jan 1797 (Richard Bond withdraws). 

48. James Beard (p. 80), 14 feb 1776, brother Lewis, cousin Lambert Beard.  Witnesses Hyland 
Pennington, Richard Bronson?, Patrick Drugan.  Proved 17 jan 1797. 

49. Dorothy (Doritha) Cochran (p. 81), 07 may 1796, sons Andrew, William, James, daughters 
Nancy, Polly, grandson Richard.  Executors John Evans, Alexander Scott.  Witnesses James 
Wallace, James Johnston.  Proved 07 feb 1797. 

50. Esther McCoy (p. 83), 20 oct 1792, daughters Jane Crothers, Ann Johnston, grandson John 
McCoy, children of her daughter Mary, ―my children now living‖:  Batey, Lilly, Mary, 
Easther, Elizabeth, Jane, and Ann, grandson Henry McCoy.  Executors Josiah Alexander, 
George Alexander.  Witnesses Edward Weir, Hugh Fulton.  Proved 15 feb 1797. 

51. Charles Quigley (p. 85), 06 jun 1791, daughter Rebecca, grandsons Nathan and Charles 
Buchanan (―they being sons of my daughters Margaret and Grace‖), daughters Margaret and 
Grace.  Witnesses B. Bravard, Edward Quin, Thomas Cloward.  Proved 08 mar 1797. 

52. Joseph Mehaffey (MeHaffey) (p. 87), 04 sep 1793, wife Mary, sons Hugh, Joseph, William 
Rowland, Alexander, daughters Rafy? Hall, Elizabeth Steel.  Executors his wife and son 
Alexander.  Witnesses James Macky, Thomas McCleland, David Macky.  Proved 09 mar 
1797. 

53. Elisabeth Haines of West Nottingham (p. 88), 30 oct 1793, sons William, Nathan, Isaac, Job, 
granddaughter Elizabeth Reynolds (her sister Ann Sidwell).  Executors his sons William, 
Isaac, and Job (Quaker).  Witnesses Hannah Dougherty, John Scott.  Codicil 10 jun 1795 
(Ann Sidwell is now known as Ann Wilson).  Proved 09 mar 1797. 

54. Samuel Philips of Elk Beaver Neck (p. 90), 12 mar 1797, Hermen (Harmon) Philips, Samuel 
oldest son of my brother Nicholas, Thomas Philips, ―Zebulon Philips yungest sun‖, Syne 
Kankey, Nathan Philips, ―brother Nicholases doter Ann‖.  (However, a later passage says 
that Samuel is the ―yungest‖ son of brother Nicholas.)  Witnesses Michael Lum, Edward 
Wingate, Nicholas Winget (=Wingate).  Proved 17 mar 1797. 

55. Mary Foster (p. 91), date missing (pages 92-93 not included on the microfilm). 
56. Owen Crow (ends on p. 94), 25 mar 1797, only the end of the will is copied on the 

microfilm, children Amelia, John, James, Owen, William, Aramintha.  Executors his wife 
Mary, brother Andrew Crow.   Witnesses John Walmsley, James Scanlan.  Proved 07 apr 
1797. 

57. Augustine Savin of Sassafrass Neck (p. 95), 13 mar 1797, sons Richard, William, others not 
named.  Executor his son William.  Witnesses William Mathews, Peregrine Ward 3rd, Richard 
Savin.  Proved 10 apr 1797. 

58. Francis Boyd (p. 96), ?? jan 1797, wife Esther, daughters Esther, Elizabeth, son Hugh (his 
son Francis), daughter Sarah Williams (her children John, Esther, Mary Williams).  Executors 
his son Hugh, son-in-law Hugh Steel.  Witnesses James Egan, Arthur Alexander Jr. Robert 
Weir.  Proved 11 apr 1797. 

59. Dr. Sluyter (Sleighter) Bouchelle (Bouchell, Boushell, Boushelle) formerly of Cecil County 
―but for some years past of Burke County in the State of North Carolina‖ (p. 99), 14 may 
1796, nephews (sons of brother Thomas Bouchelle) who are John Sleighteyr and Peter 
Boushell. Residual heirs, lands, houses, mills, wharves, and warehouses in Maryland (also 
North and South Carolina, Kentucky, Georgia, Delaware, and Pennsylvania, to the executors 
to be sold, then the proceeds to his 5 grandchildren David, Thomas, John, Mary, and Martha 
Witherspoon, children of his daughter Susannah Witherspoon, to the 4 children of his 
brother Thomas deceased who are John, Sleighter Jr., Peter, and Mary, to Dr. Joshua 



Clayton, to Dr. Thomas Boushelle son of my brother Thomas deceased. Executor James 
Byard attorney at law, John Carman merchant, both of the State of Delaware, and nephew 
Sleighter Boushelle Jr.  Further executor his nephew Thomas Boushelle.  Witnesses 
Waightstill Avery, William White Esq., Reuben White farmer, Thomas Coleman Esq. of 
Burke Co., NC.  Proved in Burke Co., NC January term 1797, copied 20 mar 1797 by clerk 
of court in Burke Co., certified by the governor of NC 03 apr 1797, recorded in Cecil Co. 20 
apr 1797. 

60. Levi Reynolds of West Nottingham (p. 106), 30 day 1st month (=jan) 1797, children James, 
Abraham, Levis, Miriam.  Executors his wife Jane (Quaker), brothers Reuben Reynolds 
(Quaker) of Little Brittain, Joseph Reynolds (Quaker) of West Nottingham.  Witnesses 
Vincent King (Quaker), James Jackson Jr. (Quaker).  Proved 09 may 1797. 

61. William McCoy (McCay) (p. 108), 11 apr 1797, son John (<20) (mention of island in 
Susquehannah River, ―McCay’s Island‖, 3 acres), wife Mary, nephew William Rowland (son 
of Robert Rowland), nephew Samuel son of Robert Love.  Executors friend Robert Love 
son of Thomas, and John Hammond Cromwell.  Witnesses William McCraken, John 
Tymony, Peter Tirgis.  Proved 13 may 1797. 

62. John Lassell (Lassel) (p. 111), 18 apr 1797, mother Mable Lassel, son Joseph (<21), son John 
R. (<21), three daughters Mary, Elizabeth, Anne.  Executor his brother William Campbell 
Lassell.  Witnesses James Parks, Benjamin Porter, Alexander Greenwood.  Proved 17 may 
1797. 

63. Joanna Reynolds of West Nottingham (p. 113), ?? 5th month (=may) 1797, brother Levi 
Reynolds deceased, brothers Richard, Reuben, Joseph, children of her brother Samuel by his 
first wife, children of brother Lewis.  Residual heirs her sister Rachel and sister-in-law ?Mary 
Reynolds.  Executors his brother Reuben (Quaker) of Little Brittain, and brother Joseph. 
Witnesses Joseph Reynolds (Quaker) and Mary Kirk (Quaker).  Proved 03 jun 1797. 

64. Susannah Eakin (Eaken) of West Nottingham Hundred relict of James Eaken (p. 115), 29 
oct 1793, cousin James Alexander son of Andrew of Virginia, cousin Mary Ewing, cousin 
Sysannah Cooper (her daughters Mary and Susannah), cousin John Blackburn (his daughter 
Susannah), friend James Maxwell, others? (not clear), cousins Rebecca Wisbey, cousin 
Ephraim Blackburn and his sister Susannah Cooper.  Executors friends Robert Caldwell, 
James Maxwell.  Witnesses James Thompson, John Thompson, John Scott.  Proved 08 aug 
1797. 

65. Thomas Short (p. 117), 02 nov 1794, wife Elizabeth.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses John 
Miller, George Culley, Levi Culley.  Proved 17 aug 1797. 

66. Mary Thompson (p. 119), 13 aug 1797, bishop Francis Asberry, Reverend Jeremiah 
Causdon, Elizabeth Brown, nephew John Bryan, niece Ann wife of Thomas Wirt.  Executor 
Thomas Wirt, John Bryan.  Witnesses Joshua Clayton, John Carman.  Proved 29 aug 1797. 

67. Joseph French (p. 120), 12 aug 1797, wife Mary, daughter Jinny, William French and his 
sister Bettey (if she comes from Ireland), mention John McMulan deceased, Frances Shelds.  
Executors Mr. George Russell and Mr. John McIntyre.  Witnesses Henry McMonagle, John 
Karr.  Proved 26 aug 1797 (28 aug, widow claims dower, George Russell withdraws). 

68. Peter Springer (p. 122), 10 jun 1797, brother Joh0n (his daughter Sarah and son Peter), wife 
Mary Ann.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Lewis Miller, Peter Evans, Thomas Bird.  Proved 
29 sep 1797. 

69. Elizabeth Boyd (p. 123), 23 jun 1797, mention estate of late father Francis Boyd, sister Sarah 
Williams and her children, mother not named, sister Esther Steel and her children, brother 
Hugh Boyd.  Executor friend Hugh Steel.  Witnesses Richard Rutter, Hugh Steel, James 
Egan.  Proved 03 oct 1797. 



70. Benjamin Foster (p. 125), 23 aug 1797, son Benjamin, son John Jackson Foster (<21), wife 
Nancy, son Edward, daughter Leah.  Executor sons Edward and Benjamin.  Witnesses 
Arthur Alexander, Samuel Scott, Alexander Tagart.  Proved 03 aug 1797. 

71. Robert Veazey (p. 127), 12 sep 1797, brother Samuel (his daughters Ann and Elizabeth), 
nephew Samuel M. Veazey, George Lewis.  Executor friend George Lewis.  Witnesses 
Samuel Bayard, Benjamin Sluyter.  Proved 25 oct 1797. 

72. Benjamin Ryland (p. 128), 25 may 1797, three children Maria, Margaret, Catherine Maria.  
Executor Abraham Pennington.  Witnesses Henry Pearce, Joseph Pennington, Benjamin 
Pennington.  Proved 25 oct 1797. 

73. Elizabeth Tanner of East Nottingham Hundred (p. 130), 05 may 1796, grave of husband 
Philip Tanner, son Hugh, 6 grandchildren Philip Tanner, Frances Tanner, Elizabeth Tanner, 
Rebeccah Tanner, Betsey Tanner, Mary Tanner.  Executor her son Hugh, grandson Philip 
Tanner.  Witnesses John Dickey, David Dickey.  Proved 25 nov 1797. 

74. Benjamin Willsson (Willson, Wilson) of East Nottingham (p. 131), 8 day 6th month (=jun) 
1797, wife Lydia Wilson, sons Job, Daniel, Thomas, Benjamin, Samuel, daughter Ann 
Wilson, daughter Elizabeth Kirk, Rachel Cromwell, Sarah Sidwell, Rebekah Sidwell.  
Executors her sons Thomas (Quaker), Benjamin, Job.  Witnesses Robert Brown (Quaker), 
William Griffith (Quaker), Elisha Brown.  Proved 22 jan 1798 (Benjamin and Job withdraw). 

75. John Hartshorn (p. 133), 24 apr 1794, wife Agness.  Executor Dr. William Miller.  Witnesses 
Joshua Hartshorn, William Miller, Mary Milligan.  Proved 27 feb 1798 (04 mar 1798, William 
Miller withdraws). 

76. Mary Campbell (p. 134), no date?, children Mary, Hannah, Sarah.  Executors William 
Armstrong, William Morrow.  Witnesses Jean Campbell, James Morrow.   Proved 07 mar 
1798 (Armstrong withdraws). 

77. William Malden (p. 135), 05 dec 1795, son Zebulon Kankey Malden, daughters Elizabeth, 
Margery (<21).  Witnesses Jeremiah Baker, Jacob Glen (Glenn), Thomas Pallen.  Proved 19 
mar 1798. 

78. William Thomas (p. 137), ?? sep 1797, wife Hannah, daughters Assenath, Hannah, Mary 
(wife of James Rickey, with children William, John, Jesse), sons Lewis, John B., Theodore.  
Executors his wife Hannah and son Theodore.  Witnesses John Gilpin, Alexander Kinkead, 
John Partridge.   Proved 09 apr 1798. 

79. Samuel Evans (p. 140), 08 nov 1797, daughters Mary Gillespie, Hannah Thompson, Sinay, 
Anne, Cathey (Anne and Cathey had bequests originally from Caleb Ricketts deceased unto 
William Elliott Griffith and his heirs), son Caleb (mention another bequest from Caleb 
Ricketts deceased), son John.  Executor his son John.  Witnesses John Groome, Andrew W. 
McCrery, James Polke.  Codicil 30 mar 1798 witnessed by William Howard and James Polke.  
Another codicil of 30 mar 1798 withessed by James Johnston, William Howard, and James 
Polke.  Proved 25 apr 1798. 

80. Ann Griffith (p. 143), 18 mar 1798, daughters Mary, Serah, Ann, son George, daughter 
―Margora‖, granddaughter Ann Griffith, grandchildren Margorey Richard, Ann Williams, 
Mary, John, Rachel, and Samuel Griffith, son Daniel.  Executor her grandson Richard 
Griffith.  Witnesses James Patten, Andrew Dunn, James Gorie.  Proved 02 may 1798. 

81. Joseph Nisbitt of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 145), 14 feb 1794, wife Margaret, sons 
Moses, Samuel, John.  Executor her son Samuel.  Witnesses Thomas Patten, John Borris (see 
probate no. 89 below, this is probably Burris), Amos Ewing.  Proved 22 may 1798. 

82. John Crookshanks  (p. 146), 13 may 1798, verbal will dictated to Daniel Sheredine, heir Letty 
McElwee ―should have his property that he had to enable her to maintain her children by 



him‖, Lettitia Crookshanks widow.  Proved 15 aug 1798 (mention William Crookshanks, 
brother, who has no objections). 

83. Michael Catts of North Susquehannah Hundred (p. 147), 3 day 8th month (=aug) 1798, 
children Mary, Hannah, John, Susanna, George, Samuel, Jane, Sarah.  Executor his friend 
Thomas Waring (Quaker).  Witnesses Samuel Cookson Jr., Isaac Barger?, Jehu Gay.  Codicil 
17 day 8th month (=aug) 1798 witnessed by Samuel Cookson Jr., Isaac Barger (Quaker), Jehu 
Gay (Quaker).  Proved 28 aug 1798. 

84. Daniel Craddock (p. 150), 24 jul 1798, brother William (his son William), friends James and 
John O’Donald, Alice O’Donald.  Executor his brother William.  Witnesses John Patten, 
Abraham Pennington, Ann Neal.  Proved 11 sep 1798. 

85. Edward Oldham (p. 151), 28 oct 1798, children Maria, Nancy, George Charles, Harriot, son 
Edward is now heir-at-law of Joseph Ensor, wife not named (=Mary, who presented the will 
for probate?), ―should my dear wife survive the aforesaid Joseph Ensor‖.  Executor his wife.   
Witnesses Tobias Rudulph, Thomas Marsh Foreman, George Lewis.  Proved 19 nov 1798 
(presented by Mary Oldham). 

86. Joseph Gale (p. 154), 11 oct 1798, wife Hester, daughters Rachel, Hannah, sons Joseph, 
James, William, Thomas.  Executors William Howell and John Currier Campbell.  Witnesses 
Frisby Henerson (=Henderson?), John ―Camble‖ Chambers, Richard Sewell.  Proved 21 nov 
1798 (executor Campbell withdraws). 

87. Joseph Bolton (p. 155), 11 oct 1797, son Joseph, wife Anna, children Susannah and John.  
Witnesses Lewis Thomas, Lewis Miller, John B. Thomas.  Proved 11 jan 1799. 

88. Martha Whittam (p. 156), 30 sep 1794, granddaughter Martha Hyatt daughter of Francis and 
Sarah Hyatt, grandson William Whittam son of William, children James, Lydia Ellsbury, 
Mary, Elizabeth.  Executor her son James.  Witnesses John Carnan, William Whittam.  
Proved 04 feb 1799. 

89. James McMullin (McMullen) (p. 158), 07 dec 1796, sons James, Thomas, Robert, grandson 
James Burris, granddaughter Rosannah Burris.  Executors his sons James and Thomas.  
Witnesses Robert Ekans, John McCalla, James Campbell.  Proved 04 mar 1799. 

90. Jacoby Reynolds of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 159), 6 day 8th month (=aug) 1796, wife 
Sarah (land bequeathed to her by her father), sons Joseph, Jacob, Israel, Henry, Stephen, 
Jonathan, Thomas, daughters Hannah, Rebeccah, sons Samuel, Reuben, Ebenezer (<16).  
Executors his wife Sarah (Quaker) and son Jacob (Quaker).  Witnesses William Johnson, 
James Egan, Jonathan White Jr.  Proved 05 mar 1799. 

91. Robert Lutton of South Millford Hundred (p. 165), 29 mar 1799, wife Ann, son James 
(<21), daughters Ann Spence, Rachel Bowman, Jane (Lutton), Margarett (Lutton).  Executor 
his brother James.  Witnesses Samuel Maffitt, Thomas Miller, John Taylor.  Proved 03 apr 
1799 (07 may 1799 widow’s statement about dower). 

92. Peregrine Savin (p. 166), 13 nov 1797, wife Mary, brother Joshua.  Executors his wife Mary, 
friend Dr. William Briscoe of Kent Co., Maryland.  Witnesses Lambert Beard, Philip Welsh, 
James Scanlan.  Proved 04 apr 1799. 

93. Ann Abbott (p. 168), 21 dec 1798, brother William Freeman Abbott.  Executor her brother.  
Witnesses Francis Bellows Chandler, Bartholomew Etherington, Edward Cosden.  Proved 
06 apr 1799. 

94. Ruth Abbott (p. 169), 21 dec 1798, brother William Freeman Abbott.  Executor her brother.  
Same witnesses as previous will.  Proved 06 apr 1799. 

95. Mary Abbott (p. 169), 21 dec 1798, same provisions as previous will.   Proved 06 apr 1799. 
96. Edward Hyland (p. 173), 07 mar 1795, mention his grandfather Nicholas and father John, 

also grandfather Edward Johnson, son Nicholas, son Johnson (<21), sons William, Stephen, 



Joshua, daughters Mary, Rebeccah, Emmily, Araminta, wife ―Julian‖.  Executor his wife 
Julian.  Witnesses Jacob Lum, John Cazier, Michael Lum.  Proved 03 may 1799. 

97. Benjamin Price Sr. (p. 176), 03 jan 1799, nephew Thomas son of Thomas Price deceased, 
Meliscent Price daughter of Rebecca Tool.  Executors the said Melliscent and Thomas.  
Witnesses Joseph Stockton, John Ward, Robert Pennington 3rd.  (Pages 178-179 not on 
microfilm.) 

98. Alphonso Commegys (p. 178), pages 178-179 not copied on the microfilm, information 
from the index at the end of the volume, executor John Comegys. 

99. Samuel Gilpin (p. 179), 06 sep 1799, page 179 not copied on the microfilm, sister Rechel 
Evins, brother George, sister Mary Griest, John son of Joseph Gilpin, Samuel son of George 
Gilpin, wife Margery, brother Joseph Gilpin.  Executors his wife Margery and brother 
Joseph Gilpin.  Witnesses Richard Bond, Levi Bond, Abel Bond.  Proved 01 jul 1799. 

100. Samuel Taylor (p. 181), 22 jul 1799, grandchildren Rebecca Sproat, Ann Sproat, sons 
Edward and Benjamin.  No witnesses listed.  Proved 31 jul 1799 (presented before 
―kindred‖ Susannah Ellis, Sarah Whittam, and Richard Whittam). 

101. Rebeccah Porter of Kent County, Maryland (p. 182), 30 may 1799, sister Elizabeth Porter, 
nephew William Porter.  Witnesses William Gleaves?, John Ward, Jesse C. Ireland.  Proved 
06 aug 1799. 

102. Samuel Reynolds of West Nottingham (p. 183), 05 2nd month (=feb) 1798, four sons 
Richard, Samuel, Reuben, James, daughter Rachel wife of Vincint King, Susannah daughter 
of John Sidwell.  Executors his sons Richard and Joseph.  Witnesses James Egan, Ezekiel 
Reynolds.  Proved 13 aug 1799 (Richard Reynolds withdraws). 

103. Peregrine Ward (p. 185), 27 nov 1794, son Peregrine, daughters Mary Chew Lloyd, 
Rebecca Veazey, Elizabeth Harrison Ward (mention bequest from their grandmother), wife 
not named.  Executor his son Peregrine Ward.  Witnesses Thomas Jones, Peregrine Biddle, 
Nathaniel Ford.  Codicil 13 feb 1798, son-in-law Frisby Lloyd, son-in-law Edward Veazey, 
witness Robert Milligan.  Proved 13 aug 1799. 

104. Mary Moore (p. 187), 22 apr 1799, nephew Outerbridge Horsey, son George W. Moore 
(<21), son-in-law James B. Robins, daughters Elizabeth, Patty, youngest children Ann 
Moore (<16) and John Irving Moore (<21), another son John, testatrix is the surviving 
executrix of Isaac Horsey, next youngest child is George, nephews Outerbridge and Isaac 
Horsey, late husband William Moore.  Executors Outerbridge Horsey, Isaac Horsey, Patty 
Horsey, and James B. Robins.  Witnesses John P. Beeston, Salley Welch.  Proved 27 sep 
1799. 

105. William Rogers of East Nottingham (p. 189), 7 2nd month (=feb) 1799, wife Catharine.  
Residual heirs his four children Thomas, Elizabeth, Grace (wife of Robert Cornthwaite), and 
Deborah (wife of John Wilson).  Executors his son Thomas, son-in-law Robert Cornthwaite, 
son-in-law John Wilson, both of the City of Baltimore.  Witnesses Hezekiah Rowls, Joseph 
Rogers (Quaker), Simeon Woodrow (Quaker).  Proved 08 oct 1799 (Cornthwaite and Wilson 
withdraw). 

106. Bartholomew Etherington (p. 191), no date?, sons Joseph, John, William, Levi, Lambert, 
wife not named, daughters Elizabeth, Rebecca.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses William 
Mathews, Thomas Porter, David Hairs?, F. (or T.?) B. Chandler.  Proved 17 oct 1799. 

107. Rebeccah Manley (p. 193), 06 jan 1798, oldest son William, daughters Elizabeth, Rachel, 
Sary, youngest son Jacob, four youngest children Elizabeth, Racheal, Sarah, Jacob.  
Witnesses Michael Lum, John Manley.  Proved 18 oct 1799. 

108. Augustine Hendrickson (p. 195), 03 feb 1800, wife Rosamond, son Peregrine, two children 
―Pere‖ (=Peregrine) and Ann.  Residual heirs children Edith Pennington, Pere, and Ann, and 



children of my daughter Mary (who is alive), son-in-law Hyland B. Pennington.  Excecutors 
his wife Rosamond, son-in-law Hyland B. Pennington.  Witnesses William Ward, William 
Matthews, Isaac Benson.  Proved 03 aug 1800. 

109. Clement Hollyday (p. 197), 10 jan 1800, wife Hedwick, nephew Clement Hollyday, son 
Abraham, daughters Sarah Ann (<21), Eleanor Henrietta, son Urban (<21).  Executor his 
wife.  Witnesses Samuel Gillespie, James Gillespie Jr., Peggy (Margaret) Gillespie.  Proved 17 
apr 1800. 

110. John Jones of Little Brittain Township of Lancaster County, Pennsylvania (p. 199), 14 day 
12th month (=dec) 1799, wife Ann, her two children.  Residual heirs ―my‖ children Joel, 
John, Cyrus, Lydia (Joel and John to care for their grandfather Joel Bailey).  Executors his 
friends Jeremiah Brown, Joseph Harlan of Little Brittain, and Thomas Richard of West 
Nottingham.  Witnesses John Channel, Nathan Webster, Samuel Richardson, Jonathan 
Jones.  Codocil 26 day 1st month (=jan) 1800, his literary work ―The power of deception 
unveiled and the man of sin revealed‖ to be published by Joseph Churchman, witnesses 
John Channel, Nathan Webster, Johathan Jones.  Proved in Lancaster Co. 05 apr 1800 
(widow withdraws), then proved in Cecil Co. 15 apr 1800. 

111. Sarah Flintham widow of Richard Flintham (p. 204), 17 apr 1800, sons Benjamin, John (if 
he is alive and should come into this part of the country), daughters Elizabeth, Mary, 
Susannah (=Susannah Bullard), Sarah, son Richard (being special bail for his brother John 
Flintham’s appearance at Kent County Court).  Witnesses Edward Taylor, James O’Donald, 
Ann Sproat.  Proved 12 may 1800. 

112. William Crothers Sr. of South Susquehanna Hundred (p. 206), 14 apr 1797, James 
Crothers one silver dollar, daughter Jane Cowdon, Susanne Cowden, Samule Crothers, son 
William.  Residual heirs his children Mary, John, William.  Executor his son John.  Witnesses 
John Thatcher, William Smith, James McCollough, George Beard.  Proved 10 jun 1800. 

113. Richard Savin (p. 208), 26 may 1800, nephew Richard son of my brother Thomas Savin if 
he should return from sea (if not, then to his brother John my nephew), nephew Richard son 
of my brother Augustine Savin, nephew Benjamin Benson (his son John), nephew Isaac 
Benson, Benjamin son of Benjamin Benson before named, niece Sarah daughter of Thomas 
Savin, Thomas son of John Makin (mention partnership of Savin and Makin), my old 
woman Mary (pension), Smauel Savin the son of Molly Scorrey, nephew William son of 
William Savin, antoher nephew Dr. William Savin.  Executor his nephew William son of 
William Savin.  Witnesses William Mathews, John Makin, Hyland Pennington.  Proved 03 jul 
1800. 

114. Andrew Willcock (Willcocks, Willock) Sr. (p. 211), 23 may 1798, wife Elenor, son-in-law 
Jacob McVea and his wife Mary, son-in-law Samuel Wilson and his wife Hanna, son-in-law 
James Wilson (Willson) and his wife Martha, son-in-law Joseph Wilson and his wife Jean, 
grandson James son of James Willock deceased, granddaughter Elenor daughter of Andrew 
Willock deceased, son William.  Witnesses Benjamin Taylor, Robert Oar, Thomas Russell.  
Proved 14 aug 1800. 

115. William Haines of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 213), 11 day 9th month (=sep) 1800, 
daughters Sarah Reynolds, Hannah Carty, Lydia Haines, sons William, Joseph, Thomas, 
Isaac, wife Rebecca.  Residual heir his son Thomas.  Youngest son Jacob.  Executor his wife 
Rebecca (Quaker) and son Thomas (Quaker).   Witnesses William Knight, Eli Haines 
(Quaker), Elisha Brown (Quaker).  Proved 30 sep 1800. 

116. William Griffee Sr. of Susquehannah Hundred (p. 217), 09 dec 1799, wife Mary, sons 
Richard, Samuel (<21), William, John, daughters Ann, Margary Smith, Mary, Rachel, sister 



Leah Huse (=Hughes?).  Executor his son Richard.  Witnesses Samuel Patterson Wallace, 
George Lesley (Lesslie), Gesse (=Jesse) Reagh.  Proved 06 oct 1800. 

117. John Taylor of South Susquehanna Hundred (p. 219), 20 jun 1798, son Thomas, 
granddaughter Elizabeth Taylor daughter of his son Thomas, granddaughter Sarah Taylor 
daughter of his son John.  Residual heirs his four sons John, William, Moses, and Cornelius.  
―To the inhabitants in general one acre of land for the use of a Burying Ground‖.  Executors 
his sons John and Moses.  Witnesses John Reed, Joseph White, Margret Spear.  Proved 20 
oct 1800. 

118. Alexander Penharwood (p. 221), 05 apr 1800, heir and executor his friend Manasa Logue.   
Witnesses John Carnan, Jacob Hugg, Peter Jackson.  Proved 21 oct 1800. 

119. Joseph Gilpin gentleman (p. 222), 26 jul 1800, brother John (who was his guardian), 
property in Washington County, Pennsylvania, Baltimore, etc.  Witnesses Robert Alexander, 
James Alexander.  Proved 25 oct 1800 (Mark Alexander and James Partridge ―were present 
and did not object against the taking of the above Probate‖). 

120. James Orrick (p. 223), 20 sep 1800, sister Mary Elliot, wife Hannah.  Executor his wife.  
Witnesses James Beard, David Cather, Mary Cather.  Proved 31 oct 1800. 

121. Walter Carson of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 225), 21 sep 1800, wife Agnes, ―my 
acknowledged sons John and Walter‖, daughter Agnes.  Executors John Wiley of Chester 
Co. and my acknowledged son John Carson.  Witnesses John Knight, Eli Kirk (Quaker).  
Proved 24 nov 1800. 

122. Edward Taylor (p. 227), 1800 (day and month not given), brother Benjamin (mention of 
their father’s will), three sons of Richard Flintham (John, Benjamin, and Joseph), niece Ann 
Sproat, Susannah Ballard’s five children (William, Benjamin, Sarah, Richard, Johathan).  
Executor Richard Flintham.  Wintesses not given.  Proved 10 dec 1800 (John Shelligan 
proved that the will was found by Mrs. Sproat and Mr. Flintham). 

123. Rebecca Kankey widow (p. 229), 20 apr 1800, granddaughters who are heirs of Herman 
Kenkey deceased, sons Zebulon and Charles, eldest daughters Ann Cooper and Rebecca 
Cooper, ―other three children‖ Milesent, Stephen, and Elizabeth.  Executor her son-in-law 
Edward Wingate who married my daughter Elizabeth.  Witnesses William Robertson, Mary 
Hyland, Stephen Hyland.  Proved 26 dec 1800. 

124. Robert Pennington (p. 231), 10 jun 1800, wife Mary, son Edward (his wife Rebecca, two 
children not named), sons Benedict, Hyland B. Pennington, Robert, daughter Mary, 
granddaughter Margaret daughter of his son Samuel Pennington.  Executor his son Samuel.  
Witnesses Jeremiah Clesdon? Jr, Robert Ward, Benjamin Porter.  Proved 30 dec 1800. 

125. James Burgoyne (Burgoine) (p. 235), 18 jan 1801, wife not named, oldest son Cearon?, 
second son Edward (when he arrived in America), sons John (<21) and Richard (<21), 
daughter Marget (<20).  Residual heir his son John.  Executors William Howell, John 
McNealens (McNeelens).  Witnesses William Miller, David Swesey, George Rich (Rice), 
Frederick McNamee.  Proved 27 jan 1801. 

126. Dr. David Hairs physician (p. 236), 22 dec 1800, wife Jemima, ―whereas my Dear Mother 
may have suffered much by the late and present Dreadful times in Ireland…‖, brothers and 
sisters in Ireland not named?, mother had annuity as parson’s widow.  Executor his wife 
Jemima.  Codicil of same date.  Witnesses Joshua Ward, William Richardson, Joseph 
Pennington.  Proved 05 mar 1801 (presented by Dr. William Mathews). 

127. Jemima Hairs (p. 238), 27 feb 1801, relations Andrew Hughes, James son of Rowland 
Hughes, John Hairs brother of my deceased husband, Samuel Hugues, William Shipton 
nephew of my deceased husband, Salley Hughes, Mrs. Smith wife of David Smith, Mrs. 



Hairs, mother of my deceased husband.  Executor Dr. William Mathews.  Witnesses Sidney 
George, Joshua Ward, William Richardson.  Proved 05 mar 1801. 

128. John Currier Campbell (p. 240), 14 feb 1801, heir and executor his wife Margaret.  
Witnesses Frances Segar, Richard Barrington, Henry Thomas.  Proved 11 mar 1801. 

129. William Ireland (p. 242), no date given?, nephew William Pope Ireland, daughter Allethea, 
wife Susanna, ―my brothers, half-brothers, and half-sister‖.  Executors and witnesses not 
given.  Proved 19 mar 1801. 

130. Richard Hodgson (p. 243), 24 apr 1800, wife Helen, children not named.  Executor his 
brother Robert Hodgson.  Witnesses Richard Bassett, Francina Hodgson, Rachel Peckard.  
Codicil 05 apr 1801, withesses Richard Bassett, Samuel Thompson, Rachel Peckard.  Proved 
21 apr 1801 (presented by Johathan Hodgson). 

131. John Walker (p. 245), 25 may 1801, wife Mary, five children all minors:  David, Samuel, 
John, Polly, and Margaret, wife’s daughter Jean Beaton (minor).  Executors his wife and 
father-in-law William Conway.  Witnesses Joshua Hartshorn, David Patten, Samuel 
Patterson.  Proved 02 may 1801 (William Conway withdraws). 

132. John Beedle (Biddle) Sr. farmer (p. 247), 30 aug 1800, wife Elizabeth, grandson Joseph 
Etherington.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Benjamin Porter, John Othoson, John Porter.  
Proved 05 may 1801 (mention of deceased’s two daughters not contesting the will, one of 
those daughters is the wife of Edward Price). 

133. Elizabeth Terry (p. 248), 11 may 1801, three children Jeremiah Cosden, Rebecca Price, and 
Benjamin Terry, sister Hester Evertson.  Executor her son Jeremiah Cosden.  Witnesses 
Thomas B. Veazey, Benjamin E. Price, John Conoly.  Proved 03 jun 1801. 

134. Joseph McClelan (McClellan) (p. 250), 18 jun 1801, verbal will, all to James Carns (Carnes), 
witnesses Patrick O’Bryan and James Bryson.  Proved 04 aug 1801. 

135. Rachel Hyland (p. 251), 23 apr 1801, grandmother Ann Creswell (her husband John 
Creswell).  Executor John Creswell.  Witnesses Samuel Miller, Robert Porter, James Egan.  
Proved 12 aug 1801. 

136. Hezekiah Rowls of East Nottingham (p. 252), 20 day 9th month (=sep) 1801, wife 
Margaret (her father and mother named England), her brother George England, son Elihu 
(Quaker), daughter Katherine Jackson, daughter Milcah (<21), granddaughter Martha 
Mathews, grandson Hezekiah Rowls son of Elihu.  Executors his brother-in-law Jeremiah 
Brown (Quaker) of Little Brittain and son Elihu.  Witnesses Robert Brown (Quaker), 
William Rogers (Quaker), George Churchman Jr.  Codicil 25 day 9th month (=sep) 1801, 
witnesses Richard Churchman and George Churchman.  Proved 30 oct 1801 (presented by 
Richard Reynolds, Quaker). 

137. John Blackburn of West Nottingham (p. 255), 15 may 1798, daughter Mary Keagan, son 
Aphram (=Ephraim) Blackburn, daughter Susannah, son Jehn (<21), son Uriah.  Executors 
his brother Aphram (Ephraim) of State of Pennsylvania and son Uriah.  Witnesses Jesse 
Reynolds (Quaker), John Brown (Quaker), Nathan Harris (Quaker).  Proved 10 nov 1801. 

138. George Simcoe (Simco) farmer (p. 257), 11 mar 1801, son William (<21), wife (Mary?), 
daughters Hannah, Harrott (Harriott), Jean.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses Jeremiah Baker, 
John Porter, John Notherman.  Proved 18 dec 1801 (presented by Mary Simcoe). 

139. John Alexander (p. 259), 15 may 1798, grandson John Jourdan, daughter Agness Copeland, 
daughter Mary Jordan, daughter Jane Alexander and Rebecca, grandson John Jordan, 
grandson John Campbell.  Residual heirs his daughters Agness, Mary, Jane, Ruth, and 
Rebeccah.  Executors his friends John Jordan and James Alexander Jr.  Witnesses George 
Alexander, Josiah Alexander, William Johnston, James Fulton.  Proved 12 jan 1802. 



140. Rebecca Brevard Sr. (p. 260), 25 sep 1799, five children Adam, Rebecca, Benjamin, Joshua, 
and Clarissa, daughter Rachel’s four children (Rebecca, Samuel, Sarah, and Levi).  Executors 
her son Joshua and daughter Clarissa.  Witnesses James Alexander, Samuel Hughes, 
Benjamin Miller.  Proved 17 feb 1802. 

141. Thomas Attix of Frederick Town (p. 262), 12 jan 1802, slaves only, to be freed.  Witnesses 
Jonathan Fiddis, William Works.  Proved 04 mar 1802. 

142. Rebecca Whitesides (p. 263), 01 feb 1801, daughter Letitia (Lettishia) Elsbury, Lydia Lewis, 
and Rebecca Elsbury.  Executor her daughter Rebecca Elsbury.  Witnesses Frisby 
Henderson, Samuel Hughes, Jehu John. Undated codicil witnesses by John H. Price and 
Benjamin E. Price, brothers, believed to have been written August-September 1801.  Proved 
04-05 mar 1802. 

143. Andrew Dunbar of Octararah Hundred (p. 265), 17 nov 1794, daughters Megery, Sarah, 
Mary, son Andrew, wife Mary.  Witnesses Samuel Gilpin (deceased when the will was 
probated), Elizabeth Conrad, Isabella Conrad.  Proved 08 mar 1802 (Nancy Dunbar does 
not object). 

144. Mary Breward (p. 266), 09 dec 1800, daughter Henrietta wife of Edward Pennington, 
daughter Batrice (Battrice).  Executor her daughter Batrice.  Witnesses Nicholas H. Price, 
John Porter, Benjamin Porter.  Proved 17 mar 1802. 

145. John Dickey of the Township of West Nottingham (p. 268), 13 mar 1798, daughters 
Elizabeth Jeain, Ellener, Rebeckah (her two youngest), son Joseph.  Witness Joseph Coulson 
Jr.  Proved 25 mar 1802 (Eleanor and Rebeccah withdraw and ask administration to be 
granted to their uncle Robert Moore). 

146. James Trimnell store-keeper now of North Millford Hundred (p. 270), 05 nov 1801, Binah 
Lowery, Thomas Hatton of Concord, Reverend Samuel Leacock minister of Rock Meeting 
House, mention wife and children in England, Hugh Black farmer, ―as I and my wife Mary 
Trimnell did in the year 1792 jointly execute a deed of trus of my Estate in Jamaica for the 
purposes therein mentioned to John Sims Esquire of London wherein ample provision was 
made for wife and daughter Ann…‖, son James, sister Betty of Devizes, children of elder 
sister Rebecca Gray (late wife of William Gray, Tottenham Court, London).  (Mr. Sims is at 
New London Court, Fenchurch Street, or elsewhere, son James possibly has not been heard 
from in 5 years?, wife and daughter are of Abathaw near Cowbridge in Glamorgan, South 
Wales.)  Witnesses Joseph Wolleston (Quaker), Cornelius McAllister, William Brown.  
Proved 30 mar 1802. 

147. Jacob Brown (p. 272), 8 day 12th month (=dec) 1801, wife Elizabeth (Quaker), son 
William, daughters Phebe and Rebeckah, daughter Margaret Ward, other sons John, 
Thomas, Nathan, Isaac, daughter Elizabeth, sons Jacob and Elisha, sons-in-law Thomas 
Brown and Philip Ward.  Witnesses William Rogers, Samuel Brown (Quaker), Eli Kirk 
(Quaker).  Proved 05 apr 1802. 

148. Sarah Alexander (p. 275), 26 oct 1801, sons Amos, Mark, James, daughters Priscilla, 
Rachel, Jemimah, Ruth, Mary, Dorcas, Sarah, Margaret.  Executor her son James.  Witnesses 
Joshua Alexander, John Scott.  Proved 06 apr 1802. 

149. Adam Dobson farmer (p. 276), 07 dec 1801, daughter Ruth wife of Lewis Miller, wife 
Tamer.  Executors his wife Tamer and son-in-law Lewis Miller.  Witnesses Thomas Lackey, 
John Barnaby, George Ash, Isaac Tyson.  Proved 07 apr 1802. 

150. Jacob Mevey (=McVey) (p. 278), 23 mar 1802, sons John, Benjamin, Henery, Jacob, 
William, Andrew, daughters Mary, Eloner, wife Mary.   Signs ―Jacob Mcv‖.  Witnesses Jacob 
Mevey, Benjamin Mevey, John Creswell.  Proved 28 apr 1802. 



151. John Beard MD (p. 279), 21 mar 1801, daughters Margaret, Jane, Mary Ann wife of 
Nicholas Lewis, John Marshall, daughters Elizabeth and Nancy, sons George, James, and 
Hugh. ―I will and bequeath my Shopt and Shop Furniture to my sons that Practice Physic‖, 
also property in County Armagh, Ireland, in Lissera and Darrynaugh by virtue of a marriage 
contract by and between Daniel McDowell of Darrynaugh and John Moody of Lissera when 
William Moody my father-in-law was married to Jane McDowell, and also whatever property 
I am entitled to by virtue of a second contract of marriage by John Moody aforesaid and 
Robert Hamilton when Margaret Hamilton married the aforesaid William Moody and also 
whatever property I am entitled to by the aforesaid William Moody’s signing and 
acknowledging his wife Margaret’s last will and testament…‖  Witnesses Samuel Patterson, 
William Crothers, Richard Hall.  Proved 13 apr 1802. 

152. Samuel Buckwith farmer (p. 281), 08 mar 1802, wife Ann, four children Susannah, Ann, 
Charles, Samuel.  Executor his wife Ann.  Witnesses Joseph Foard, Thomas Ford.  Proved 
21 may 1802. 

153. Samuel Glenn Esq. (p. 282), 02 feb 1801, wife Jane, sons John W., Jacob, Elias.  Executor 
his son John W.  Witnesses Laslie Curts, Alexander Kirk, Isaac Wilcox, Peregan (=Peregrine) 
Chick.  Proved 07 jul 1802 (wife takes dower). 

154. Harman Foster (p. 285), 15 mar 1802, sister Mary, nephew Benjamin Whittham, ―three 
nephews‖ (the other two are John Whittham and James Hukell?).  Executor his sister Mary.  
Witnesses Nicholas Chambers, Henry Davis.  Proved 08 jul 1802. 

155. Elizabeth Gilpin widow (p. 286), no date given?, son John, daughter Elizabeth Alexander, 
daughter Mary Partridge, daughter Rachel, granddaughter Hannah Eynon (possibly daughter 
of her son Joseph deceased?), her late husband was Joseph Gilpin Sr.  No executors named.  
Proved 23 jul 1802. 

156. James Craige (p. 287), 09 aug 1802, wife Gartrude, nephew William Craige.  Executors his 
wife Gartrude and Alexander Craige.  Witnesses John Eliason, Samuel Thompson, Charles 
Beaston.  Proved 28 aug 1802. 

157. Robert Roberts (p. 289), no date given?, wife Sarah, daughter Ruth.  Executor his wife and 
nephew James Morgan Jr.  Witnesses James Scanlan, Richard Savin, Richard Davis.  Proved 
16 sep 1802. 

158. Nathan Ireland (p. 290), 25 mar 1802, Mary Manly daughter of John and Susannah Manly, 
Elizabeth and Rebecca sisters of Mary Manly, Nathan son of Richard Ireland, Nathan son of 
John Ireland, two daughters of Hope Thornton (supposed daughter of the testator).  
Executor John Manly.  Witnesses James Foster, Peter Graham, Fridus Aldridge.  Proved 01 
oct 1802. 

159. Elizabeth Wilcox (p. 292), 12 oct 1802, first son Isaac, sons Joseph, Jacob, William James, 
daughter Margrit Isral, sister Magrit Ratliff, granddaughter Elizabeth Wilcox, ―littel Polly 
Harvey‖, son Nathaniel.  Executor her brother James Ratliff.  Witnesses John Kirk, Sarah 
Stuard, Elizabeth Dawson.  Proved 20 oct 1802. 

160. Joseph Coulson of West Nottingham (p. 294), 02 oct 1802, wife Mary, daughter Deborah 
Ewing, granddaughter Rachel Coulson, daughter Mary Coburn, grandson Seth McClure 
(whose brother is Richard Hanah), son Nathaniel, grandson Joseph Coulson, grandson 
Jackson Foster, son Joseph.  Executors his wife Mary, son Joseph (Quaker).  Witnesses 
James Egan, James Thompson, Benjamin Foster.  Proved 24 nov 1802 (widow withdraws). 

161. William C. Money (p. 296), 26 oct 1802, wife Araminta, daughter Mary Ann (<16), 
―brothers and sisters‖ not named.  Executor his friend William Cooper.  Witnesses William 
Ward, Ann Money, Samuel Money.  Proved 01 dec 1802. 



162. William Gillespie (p. 298), 15 feb 1802, sons George, Samuel (<21), William (<21), Robert 
(<21), Stephen (<21), Nathaniel (<21), daughters Temperance, Eleanor, son-in-law John 
Thompson.  Executor his son George.  Witnesses James P. Ewing, Jacob Conrad Jr., 
Andrew Dunbar Jr.  Codicil ?? feb 1802, same witnesses.  Proved 18 dec 1802. 

163. Margaret Porter widow of Andrew (p. 301), 19 may   180000, childred of late daughter 
Elizabeth Lindsey, daughter Nelly wife of Robert Porter, daughter Catherine wife of James 
Evans, grandson Andrew Arbuckle, grandson Andrew (<21) son of James Leiper Porta 
(=Porter), daughter Polly, son James Lieper Porter.  Executor her son James Leiper Porter.  
Witnesses James Sims, William Linch.  Proved 18 dec 1802. 

164. Adam Armstrong (p. 302), 20 mar 1800, Stephen Iler, Anna Armstrong (<21) or Anna 
Peirce (the illegitimate child of Patty Armstrong).   Witnesses John J. Richardson, John 
Groome, Benjamin Arterge.  Proved 28 dec 1802. 

165. Richard Boulden (p. 304), 01 feb 1803, daughters Jane, Tamer.  Residual heirs his six sons 
Harman, Reuben, William, Richard, Andrew, and Samuel.  Executor his son Harman.  
Witnesses Frisby Henderson, Richard Sewall (Swall), John Gilpin.  Proved 15 feb 1803. 

166. Thomas Jenney (Jeney) Sr. (p. 305), 27 apr 1801, wife Catren, sons William, John, Thomas, 
son-in-law Edward McVea and his wife Isabela McVea, daughter Ann.  Executor his son 
Thomas.   Witnesses Thomas Russell, William Edmundson, Benjamin MVey (McVey).  
Proved 25 feb 1803. 

167. Jacob Hollingsworth (p. 307), 27 may 1802, mother Mary Hollingsworth, wife Ruth, niece 
Ruth Tobin, brother Stephen.  (His brother Thomas is wealthy and has but one son, his 
father was Zebulon Hollingsworth who had nine sons.)  Executors wife Ruth and son 
Stephen.  Witnesses Diana David, Davidson David, Robert Alexander.  Proved 22 mar 1803. 

168. Nicholas George (p. 309), 23 sep 1803, son John, daughter Elizabeth, sister Rebecca 
Manly.  Executors Stephen and Nicholas Hyland (guardians).  Witnesses Robert Kirk, 
Thomas Crouch, Mary Crangle.  Proved 04 apr 1803. 

169. Mary Savin (p. 311), 01 mar 1801, Thomas Yardly (<21) natural son of my son Thomas 
Savin deceased, nephew William Davis, daughter Elizabeth Fulton (husband of David 
Fulton?), grandchildren Elizabeth Nowland, Maria Nowland, Harriott Nowland, and 
Thomas W. P. Nowland (these are children of Peregrine Nowland, who serves as their 
guardian), Mary daughter of John Stoops.  Witnesses William Ward, Mary Stoops.  Proved 
08 apr 1803 (presented by David Fulton). 

170. Samuel Whan ―treader‖ (=trader) (p. 313), 09 jan 1802, wife Sarah, eldest son William, 
second son Adam, youngest son David, eldest daughter Sara Armstrong, daughter Margaret 
Wallace, youngest daughter Mary.  Residual heir his son Samuel.  Executors his wife Sarah 
and son Samuel.  Witnesses Henry Reynolds (Quaker), Edward McBane, John Evans.  
Proved 17 may 1803. 

171. Lewis Price (p. 314), 24 jan 1803, sons William Roberts Price, Lewis, daughters Ann, Anna 
Maria, Deborah, Elizabeth.  Executor his friend Edward Henry Veazey and daughter Annn.  
Witnesses Robert C. Walmsley, James Morgan, Mary Henderson.  Proved 11 jun 1803. 

172. Thomas Owens (Owans) Sr. (p. 317), 03 mar 1803, sons Thomas, Nathan, Lawrence, 
Stephen, John, daughter Blanchy.  Executor his son Thomas.  Witnesses Peter Graham, 
Joshua Rutter, Sylvester Newgent (Nugent).  Proved 01 jul 1803. 

173. Mathew Cunningham (p. 318), 08 may 1802, wife Mary, sons William, Thomas, Bazel, 
daughters Jane, Serah, friend Sharlott Corswell alies Willson (=Charlotte Carswell alias 
Wilson).  Executor sons Thomas and Bazel.  Witnesses John Ricketts Evans, William 
Howard.  Codicil 10 may 1803, witnesses John R. Evans, Thomas Philips.  Proved 19 jul – 
02 aug 1803. 



174. Rebeccah Haines of West Nottingham (p. 322), 14 feb 1803, sons Isaac, Jacob, Sarah wife 
of Jesse Reynolds.  Executor her son Isaac (Quaker).  Witnesses William Howell (Quaker), 
Jeremiah Knight (Quaker), Jesse Reynolds.  Proved 06 aug 1803. 

175. Robert Eken (Akins) (p. 324), 21 jul 1803, daughter Ann Whitelock, granddaughter 
Elizabeth Whitelock (<16), granddaughters Ann and Martha Whitelock (<16), grandson 
Robert Akins (<21) son of Samuel, sons Samuel and James, daughter-in-law Margaret Akins.  
Executors his sons Samuel and James.  Witnesses Robert McMullin, Thomas McMullin, 
Jonathan Currier.  Proved 16 aug 1803. 

176. Col. Henry Hollingsworth (p. 326), 16 may 1797, son William, daughter Mary, wife Jane, 
brother Zebulon.  Executor friend John Gilpin.  Witnesses Thomas Reynolds, John Bennett, 
Robert Alexander.  Proved 07 oct 1803. 

177. Joshua Rutter (p. 330), 09 oct 1803, wife (Elizabeth?) and children not named.  Executor 
David Smith, Cecil County recorder.  Witnesses Peter Graham, John Short, Jeremiah Ball.  
Proved 18 nov 1803 (presented by Elizabeth Rutter). 

178. Edward Lusby (p. 331), 17 dec 1803, wife Ann, sons John, Samuel, Joseph, Nicholas, 
William (<21), daughter Sarah, son Edward if he should at any time return home from sea.  
Executors his wife Ann and son John.  Witnesses Robert Walmsley, James Morgan, William 
Ward.  Proved 12 jan 1804. 

179. John Cazier (Cazair) (p. 333), 10 mar 1803, wife Martha, son John Ford Cazier (<21), son 
Abram (Abraham), daughters Melicent, Eliza.  Executors not named?  Witnesses John 
Manly, Nicholas Hyland, James Cook.  Proved 16 jan 1804. 

180. Edward Ginn (p. 335), ?? dec 1803, mother Rachel Ginn, sister Alice Underwood, brother 
John Ginn (his eldest son and daughter), Rachel Thompson and Polly Evans ―now living in 
my house‖.  Executors his brother John Ginn and his mother Rachel.  Witnesses Uriah 
Slack?, Robert Megaraugh, Samuel Davis.  Proved 02 feb 1804. 

181. Sarah Ashbaugh wife of Jacob and daughter of Peter Boyer (p. 337), 24 may 1803, three 
youngest daughters Elizabeth, Sarah, and Rachel, daughters Ann, Hannah, and Mary (the 
eldest daughter), sons John and Jacob.  Executors not named?  Witnesses Joseph Ray, John 
Manly, Augusteen Stoops.  Proved 24 feb – 15 mar 1804. 

182. Joseph Davis (p. 339), 07 feb 1804, daughter Perpetual Hendrickson which I had by 
Susanna Hendrickson.  Witnesses John Makin, John Benson.  Proved 22 feb 1804. 

183. Ebenezer Booth (p. 340), 14 feb 1804, wife Mary, daughter Elizabeth, sons John, 
Ebenezer.  Executor his wife Mary and son John.  Witnesses Edward Weir Jr., John Booth 
―Cener‖ (=Senior), Andrew Harvey.  Proved 05 mar 1804. 

184. Samuel McKeown of South Millford Hundred (p. 342), 10 mar 1803, wife Mary, brother 
William, John McCrery’s son Samuel McKeown (<21), Samuel son of his brother James 
McKeown.  Executors his wife Mary, John McCrery.  Witnesses Samuel Maffitt, Elizabeth 
Kenedy, Anne Maffitt.  Codicil 30 dec 1803 witnesses Elizabeth Kenedy (Kennedy), Richard 
Simpson, John Sharpe.  Proved 06 mar 1804. 

185. Leah Hukill (p. 345), 03 oct 1803, daughters Leah, Sarah, Zipora, Casaina, Elizabeth.  
Residual heir her son Levi.  Executor her friend Levi Bolden (Bouldin).  Witnesses William 
Phillips, Mattheu Cantwell, John Faries.  Proved 22 oct 1804. 

186. Benjamin Malden (Maulden) (p. 347), 21 feb 1804, sons Thomas, James, Benjamin, John, 
granddaughter Maryann Baker, granddaughter Melicent Ford, wife Mary.  Residual heirs his 
children Rebeccah Baker, Mary Foard, Thomas, James, John, Benjamin.  Executor his wife 
Mary.  Witnesses Nicholas Hyland, Samuel Aldridge, Zbulon Mauldin.  Proved 09 mar 1804. 



187. Henry Pearce of Sassafras Neck (p. 350), 16 mar 1804, sons Thomas (youngest), Joshua, 
William, John, daughter Henrietta, Polly Ryland.  Witnesses William Matthews, Hyland 
Biddle Pennington, William Richardson.  Proved 23 apr 1804. 

188. Samuel McCullough of South Susquehannah (p. 353), 20 aug 1802, daughter Margaret 
(wife of Robert Wilkinson), son John, daughter Mary (wife of James Hindman), daughter 
Eleanor (wife of Passmore McVea), grandson Samuel McCay (<21), daughter Suzannah 
(wife of William McDowell), son-in-law John McCullough, son-in-law Alexander McCay, 
son Samuel.  Executors friend James McCullough of West Nottingham, son Samuel.  
Witnesses James Egan, Levi Biddell, Mary Biddell.  Proved 24 apr 1804 (James McCullough 
withdraws). 

189. Robert Ewing of East Nottingham Hundred (p. 355), 30 dec 1803, wife (Isabell?) not 
named, daughter not named.  Witnesses Charles Williams, Joseph Matthews, Thomas 
Gilliland.  Proved 02 may 1804 (presented by Isabell Ewing). 

190. Samuel Ireland (p. 356), 05 oct 1803, friend John Carnan, ―brother in Christ‖ John Allman 
Jr., friend John Lum, heirs of John Ireland deceased, Rev. William Hunter, books 
bequeathed to Bethal Church of Cecil County for the use of the Methodist Preachers, 
Nicholas Chambers Sr., friend James Radcliff, friend Abraham Kagey, friend Isaac 
Robertson, Henry Supple, Ann Baxter, Lydia Groves, Alecy Hempfield, Sarah Stuart.  
Executors John Carnan, Nicholas Chambers Sr.  Witnesses Edward Larkins, Martha Farrell.  
Codicil 07 oct 1803, Rebecca wife of John Carnan, same witnesses.  Proved 26 may 1804. 

191. Benjamin Taylor (p. 358), 28 mar 1804, wife Rosanah, youngest daughter Emby, children 
of first wife (eldest son John, eldest daughter Elizabeth Hendrickson, Mary George, Mancy 
Tyson, Nathan, Jonah).  Executors his son Nathan, brother Levy (Levi) Tyson.  Witnesses 
Nathan Crouch, James Jones.  Proved 02 jun 1804 (Levi Tyson withdraws). 

192. Jane Williams (p. 360), 15 apr 1804, daughters Eleanor Harding, Cave, Caroline, son 
Barratt.  Residual heirs her children Mary, Cave, Rachel, Elizabeth, Barratt, and Caroline.  
Executor Joseph Baxter.  Witnesses John Groome, Ann Harris, Miriam Barratt.  Proved 19 
jun 1804. 

193. Susannah Scott (p. 362), 06 may 1803, niece Mary Hardy, nephew John Bryan.  Executor 
her nephew John Bryan.  Witnesses John Carnan, Catherine Ray..  Proved 22 jun 1804. 

194. John Hall of Susquehannah Hundred (p. 363), ?? aug 1804, daughters Ann Reah, Margaret, 
Sally, Mary McCullough, son Richard, John son of Robert Hall a friend of mine (living in 
Delaware).  Executors Samuel Maffitt, George Alexander, James Lackland.  Proved 28 sep 
1804 (presented by Samuel McCullough, Samuel Maffitt withdraws). 

195. Edward Jackson Jr. (p. 364), 24 mar 1804, wife Margret, sons Edward, Hugh, John, 
Samuel, James (his son Edward), Robert, daughter Margaret, niece Rachel Campbell.  
Executors his sons John and Edward.  Witnesses William Callander, William Taylor, James 
Campbell.  Proved 20 jul 1804 (John Jackson withdraws, 14 aug 1804 widow takes dower). 

196. Margaret Brookings (p. 367), 05 oct 1804, sons Richard, Charles, daughters Susana 
Williams, Elizabeth Atkinson, Margaret Akins, Presbyterian Meeting House in West 
Nottingham, Martha wife of Charles Brookings.  Executors James Akins, Charles Brookings.  
Witnesses John Shaw, Levi Reynolds (Quaker).  Proved 12 oct 1804. 

197. Isaac Haines of West Nottingham (p. 368), 25 9th month (=sep) 1803, wife Mary, son 
Joseph (Quaker), daughter Elizabeth, grandson Isaac Reynolds (<21), cousin Prudence 
Brown.  Executor his son Joseph.  Witnesses Henry Sidwell (Quaker), William Brown 
(Quaker), Samuel Brown (Quaker).  Proved 23 oct 1804. 

198. Samuel Patterson Wallace of North Susquehannah Hundred (p. 370), 20 oct 1804, 
illegitimate daughter Katherine (Catherine) Wallace, legitimate daughter Frances Wallace, 



sister Sarah Wallace, brothers Thomas and John Wallace.  Executor his father Thomas 
Wallace.  Witnesses Robert Johnson, Thomas Patten Jr., James Christie.  Proved 23 mov 
1804. 

199. Mary Barrett (Barratt) (p. 372), 17 dec 1804, youngest daughter Miriam Barrett, her 
deceased husband was Andrew Barrett, sister Ann Creswell (mention partition dated 21 may 
1792), daughters Ann Harris, Catherine Barrett.  Executor her friend Philip Thomas Sr. and 
daughter Miriam.  Witnesses John Groome, Joseph Baxter, William Howell.  Proved 29 dec 
1804. 

200. Joseph Hutchison (p. 374), 30 dec 1804, executors his wife not named (Ann?) and his son 
Walter.  Witnesses Bartholomew Parsley, Samuel Parsley.  Proved 07 jan 1805 (presented by 
Ann And Walter Hutchison). 

201. John Walker (p. 375), 02 dec 1800, Robert Cann, John Walker Cann son of Robert Cann, 
John Hynman, William Patten, Lattice Cann.  Executor his friends Robert Cann and William 
Johnson.  Witnesses James Patten, John Graham, James Gerry.  Proved 01 feb 1805. 

202. John Mounce (p. 376), 02 jun 1802, daughter Rebecca, granddaughter Nancy, son Elie, 
daughter Nancy (<16).   Executor James Coppin.  Witnesses Peregrine Biddle, James 
Coppin, Elisha Cooper.  Proved 06 feb 1805. 

203. Francis Lynn (p. 377), 07 feb 1805, friend Patrick Ewing, sisters in Ireland.  Executor 
Patrick Ewing.  Witnesses James Ewing, Joseph Death.  Proved 12 feb 1805. 

204. Robert Porter (p. 378), 21 aug 1804, sister Margaret Aurelia Porter, who is also executor.  
Witnesses Patrick Ewing, Nicholas Lewis, Mary A. Lewis.  Proved 12 feb 1805. 

205. Isaac Gooding (p. 380), 07 mar 1805, grandsons William, John, and Isaac Walmsley, 
granddaughter Rebecca Walmsley, granddaughters Eliza and Mary Ann Walmsley, 
granddaughter Elisa Roberts, grandchildren Mary Ann and William Childen, grandson Isaac 
Roberts, grandsons Lewis, William, and James Roberts, Rebecca Price, children of two 
daughters Mary Tilden deceased and Margaret Walmsley.  Executor Peregrine Biddle.  
Witnesses James Porter Jr., John Veazey Price.  Proved 15 mar 1805. 

206. William Comegys (p. 382), 07 oct 1804, son John Ward Comegys, daughter Hanna 
Elizabeth Ward Comegys (<16), father-in-law John Ward, brother John Comegys.  Executor 
his father-in-law John Ward.  Witnesses Robert Pennington, Jess (Jesse) Money, Henrietta 
Maria Ward.  Proved 23 mar 1805. 

207. Joshua Hartshorn (p. 383), 12 aug 1804, graves of parents Jonathan and Ann Hartshorn, 
graves of Col. John Hartshorn and Samuel Hartshorn, cowzen (=cousin) David Hartshorn, 
cowzens Jonathan Glasgow and William Glasgow, housekeeper Margaret Cather, brothers 
Benjamin and Jonathan, brothers-in-law James McCullough, Samuel Patterson, and Robert 
Creswell, James McCullogh.  Executors his brother Jonathan and neighbor Robert Caldwell.  
Witnesses Thomas Williams, James Thompson, James Egan.  Proved 26 mar 1805. 

208. Starrat (Starret) Gray (p. 386), 06 feb 1805, ½ to my beloved daughter Sarah McFall senior 
and her two sons John Alexander McFall and James Starret McFall, ¼ to my beloved (son?) 
James Alexander Gray, ¼ to my beloved Fanny Otho Anderson.  Executors Thomas Garret 
and Frances McFall.  Witnesses William Singleton, William McDaniel, John Marchall.  
Proved 27 mar 1805. 

209. James Hegan of South Susquehannah Hundred (p. 388), 29 mar 1805, wife Catharine, son 
James, daughter Martha Bracklay (her son James Hegan Brackley), daughter Ann Thompson, 
grandchildren Kitty and George Hegan, John and William Hegan.  Executors his two 
neighbors and friends John Cameron and James Egan.  Witnesses Michael Cosgrove, Henry 
McVey, James Egan.  Proved 24 apr 1805. 



210. Hannah Eynon (p. 389), 26 mar 1805, heir and executor her friend and relation Elizabeth 
Alexander.  Witnesses William Alexander, John Gilpin, John Galloway.  Proved 20 may 
1805. 

211. Thomas Ford (p. 390), no date given, wife Elizabeth, children not named.  No witnesses.  
Proved 09 apr 1805 (presented by Nicholas Chambers and Tobias Beedle who found the 
will, they believe it was written in the last two years). 

212. William Buchanan (p. 391), 25 may 1805, son William, daughter Mary.  Executor Oliver 
Rease Howell.  Witnesses Frisby Henderson, John Heir (Hare), Jacob Nowland.  Proved 29 
jun 1805. 

213. John Miller (p. 393), 24 oct 1802, verbal will, wife Rachel.  Witnesses James McCall, Lyda 
Taylor, Sarah Taylor, Cornelius Taylor.  Proved 16 nov 1802. 

214. Edward Lusby son of Robert (p. 394), 03 oct 1805, Rosana Batemen, four sons (children I 
had by the said Rosanna Bateman:  Benjamin, Richard, Peregrine, and Elias).  Executor his 
brother William Lusby.  Witnesses Thomas B. Veazey, Benjamin Price, John Biddle.  Proved 
04 dec 1805. 

215. Thomas Crouch (p. 396), 18 jan 1804, wife Rebecah (Rebeccah), son Richard, daughters 
Amela (Amelia), Margaret, Mary.  Witnesses Robert Hart, Elizabeth Simpers, Anne Huton 
(Hutton).  Proved 11 dec 1805. 

216. Francis Caruthers Sr. (p. 397), 27 jan 1801, sons Robert and Walter, daughters Elizabeth 
(absent? Her son is William Washington Alexander), Ann, Rachel, and Leah, son Francis.  
Executors his sons Walter and Francis.  Witnesses Francis Hindman, Josiah Alexander, 
Rebeccah Alexander, Henry Reynolds (Quaker).  Proved 14-19 dec 1805 (Walter and Francis 
withdraw). 

217. Robert Ward (p. 400), 21 oct 1805, wife Mary, six children Maria, Emily, Eliza, George, 
Susan, and Joshua.  Executor his brother Joshua Ward.  Witnesses Edward H. Veazey, Hugh 
Price, Lawrence Simmons.  Proved 26 dec 1805. 

218. Jane Dennison (p. 403), 20 oct 1805?, husband William.  Witnesses Henry Lyle, Edward 
Jackson, William Taylor.  Proved 11 feb 1806. 

219. John Simpers Sr. (p. 404), 02 apr 1804, daughter Nancy wife of Frederick Stagel, sons 
Jesse, Reuben, John, William, daughter Amy Holt, daughter Mary Simpers, granddaughter 
Amelia Holiday (<20, she has unnamed brothers).  Executors his sons John and Jesse.  
Witnesses John Miller, Isaac Tyson, Jesse Bouldin.  Proved 24 feb 1806. 

220. Dr. Thomas Brockus (Brochus) Veazey (p. 408), 05 feb 1806, wife Maria, son John 
Thompson Veazey, son Thomas Brockus Veazey, daughters Juliana Ross Savin, Mary 
Veazey.  Executor his wife.  Witnesses William Ward, Edward H. Veazey, Thomas W. 
Veazey.  Proved 26 feb 1806. 

221. Miriam Barratt (p. 410), 18 jan 1806, friend Sarah Margaret Thomas wife of Philip Thomas 
(mention property bequeathed by her late mother Mary Barratt to said Sarah Margaret 
Thomas), Miriam Skettatow daughter of Elijah Skettatow of Wilmington, niece Caroline 
daughter of Basil Williams, friend Margaret Purvait?, friend Ann daughter of Philip Thomas 
(her late sister Mary), niece Ann daughter of John Hasson of Charlestown.  Executor her 
friends Philip Thomas of Cecil County and Abel Marple of Harford County.  Witnesses John 
Stump, William Alexander, James Archer.  Proved 16 mar 1806. 

222. Joseph Barnes of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 413), 05 feb 1806, wife Elizabeth, 
children (including sons) not named, sons James, Joseph, Washington Barnes, four daughters 
Jane, Nancy, Mary, and Eliza, nephew James Barnes (mention legacy bequeathed to him by 
my father).  Executor James Sims.  Witnesses William Johnson, Samuel Love, Andrew Grass 
Jr.  Proved 10 mar 1806. 



223. John Deviney (Devinney) (p. 417), 03 feb 1806, George Wiliam son of Maria Hollis, 
brother Mathew Devinney.  Executors his brothers George and Matthew.  Witnesses Abram 
Jones, Thomas McIntire, Benedict Nowland.  Proved 18 mar 1806. 

224. Charles Wheelan (p. 419), 14 nov 1805, friend Rev. Leonard Neale of Georgetown, DC, 
friend Robert Tink? Esq. of Queen Anne’s County.  Executor Rev. Neale.  Witnesses James 
Donald (O’Donald), Jacob Conn.  Proved 06 apr 1806 (presented by William Pasquil). 

225. Jesse Crosby of Alexandria County, DC (p. 421), 04 nov 1804, sisters Rebecca Thomas of 
Cecil Co. (her seven children David, Susannah, Christia, Thomas, Jesse, Rachel, and Caty), 
Timme Bare (as I believe her to be my child).  Executor John Gilpin.  Witnesses Elijah Shay, 
Thomas BillMyres, Custis Northam.  Proved in Alexandria County 20 nov 1804, recorded in 
Cecil Co., 15 nov 1805. 

226. Richard Foard (p. 422), 04 apr 1806, sons Richard, John, Zebulon, daughter Sarah Biddle, 
daughter Margaret Foard, children Margaret, Mancy , Jemima, Mary, Fanny, John, Dela, 
Priscilla.  Witnesses Richard Bouldin Ford, Thomas Bittle, John G. Richardson.  Proved 28 
apr 1806. 

227. Thomas Underhill (p. 424), no date given, wife Mary (Quaker), half-sister Sarah Cookson.  
Proved 24 apr 1806, believed to have been written ―last summer after harvest‖). 

228. John Latta (p. 425), 02 mar 1806, brother Ephraim near Greensburgh, Westmoreland Co., 
PA.  Residual heir his sister Mary Latta.  Witnesses Marcellus Keene.  Proved 25 apr 1806. 

229. Thomas Price of Powhatan Co., VA (p. 426), 19 apr 1805, heir and executor his wife 
Melicent Price.  Witnesses Thomas Hanes Jr., R. L. Pleasants, Gottlieb Runge.  Proved 15 
may 1805 in Powhatan Co. VA, copied and attested there 02 apr 1806. 

230. Mellicent Price of Powhatan Co., VA (p. 427), 30 may 1805, Sally Thomas, mother(-in-
law?) Rebecca Price.  Witnesses R. L. Pleasants, William Collier, Judith Cox.  Proved 19 jun 
1805 in Powhatan Co., and 17 jul 1805 Gottlieb Runge requested letters of administration, 
copied 02 apr 1806. 

231. George Beard (p. 428), 09 jul 1804, brother James (my estate in America except… and ½ 
of my estate in Irland by virtue of my father’s last will and testament), Hugh Beard.  
Executor James Beard.  Witnesses Thomas Wilson (Willson), Caleb Rogers,Phebe Harris.  
Proved 19 may 1806. 

232. Joshua Savin (p. 429), 04 apr 1806, eldest daughter Peggy (reversionary rights to farm 
willed to me by my late brother Peregrine Savin after the death of his wife Mary Savin now 
Mary Eliason to her and her lawful heirs forever, but in default of lawful issue...) (but further 
passage seems to make this farm descend to ―my youngest daughter Mary‖, perhaps an 
error?), daughter Ann.  Executors his friend Lambert Beard and nephew Peregrine Biddle.  
Witnesses Richard Davis, James Scanlan, Andrew Hughes.  Proved 13 jun 1806. 

233. Ann Thomas (p. 433), 17 may 1793, letter to  ―My dear daughter‖, legacy from her late 
husband Philip Thomas to his son, ―my two children‖ (brought into court by John 
Pemberton, son of Ann Thomas).  Proved 18 jun 1806. 

234. Thomas Biddle of Sassafrass Neck (p. 435), 08 jul 1806, sister Mary Biddle, brother 
Peregrine.  Residual heir his mother Sarah Biddle, then to his two sisters Mary and Margaret 
Biddle.  Executor his mother.  Witnesses Dennis Nowland, Richard Davis, Henry L. Davis.  
Proved 05 aug 1805. 

235. James Steel of North Susquehannah (p. 437), 17 sep 1798, wife Mary, son Hugh, daughter 
Jane Steel alias Boyd.  Witnesses Greenberry Rawlings, Rebekah Rawlings, James Egan.  
Proved 18 aug 1806. 

236. Samuel Patterson Esq. (p. 438), 25 jul 1806, Thomas Burns and Ann his wife, Edward 
Foster and his children, son Jonathan, three youngest children John, Elizabeth, and Samuel.  



Residual heir his wife Elizabeth.  Executors his wife Elizabeth and Jonathan Hartshorn.  
Witnesses David White, John McCordel, Aquila Pritchard.  Proved 02 sep 1806. 

237. Richard Bolden Foard (p. 439), 09 jul 1806, son Levi G. Ford, son James.  Executors his 
sons.  Witnesses Adam Wallace, Benjamin Pearce, John G. Richardson.  Proved 04 sep 1806. 

238. Samuel Conden (Condon? or Coudon?) (p. 440), 14 sep 1806, Jane Coudon? otherwise 
called Jane Megally? of the City of Philadelphia, daughter Susan Coudon?  Executors John 
Evans [son] of Robert, and John R. Kirk.  Witnesses Lewis Miller, William Fletcher, William 
M. Wiley.  Proved 28 oct 1806. 

239. James Roach (p. 442), 20 aug 1805, oldest son Philip, daughter Mary McDermont, son 
Thomas, youngest son Homard (<21) Roach.  Residual heirs his 3 sons, Thomas, Richard, 
Homard (if my son John Roach shall be alive he shall have…).  Executors his sons Thomas 
and Richard.  Witnesses Thomas Scott, John S. Maffitt (perhaps Moffitt?), Jacob Roach.  
Codicil of same date, same witnesses.  Proved 28 aug 1806. 

240. Milcah Richardson (p. 444), 28 sep 1806, daughter Elizabeth Biddle, daughter-in-law Ann 
Richardson, son John G. Richardson (his son Harvey, or Harrey?), sons Richard and William 
G., grandson Joseph Richardson.  Executor her son John G. Richardson.  Witnesses Richard 
F. Richardson, Joseph Cummens, Josiah Alexander.  Proved 19 nov 1806. 

241. Susannah Ellis (p. 446), 28 oct 1806, daughter Mary Brown, granddaughter Mary Collins, 
Mary Sullivan, son William C. Ellis (his wife Rebecca), grandchildren Richard, Susannah, 
Ann Ellis, Rebecca Carnan (her 4 daughters Sarah, Nancy, Polly Hynson, Rachel Carnan).  
Executors Richard Flintham and Edward Oldham.  Witnesses Jacob Lum, Ann Oldham.  
Proved 08 dec 1806 (Richard Flintham withdraws). 

242. Philip Roach of Elk River Neck (p. 448), 11 nov 1806, wife Elizabeth, sons Elihu, 
Thomas, and Ira, daughter Leviss? (<16).  Executor his wife Elizazbeth.  Witnesses 
Alexander Wilson, Richard Roach, Thomas Pryor?  Proved 09 dec 1806. 

243. Sidney George (p. 450), 20 nov 1806, family burying ground in Middle Neck, wife Mary, 
daughters Phebe, Ann Eliza.  Written by William Ward, dictated to him.  Other witness John 
Marcer.  Proved 17 dec 1806. 

244. Richard Dunn (p. 452), 08 dec 1806, wife Sarah, two children Mary Ann and Susanna, 
sister Sarah Hilliard. Executor William Bouldin.  Witnesses Samuel McKeown and William 
Winchester.  Proved 27 dec 1806. 

245. Mary Macrery (p. 453), 31 jna 1807, aunt Margaret Wallace, sister Ann Macrory (Macrery?), 
sister Jane M. Shields.  Executors Adam Whann, George Gillespie.  Witnesses G. C. 
Mitchell, George Ricketts, Philip Harding.  Proved 27 feb 1807. 

246. Joseph Mills (p. 455), 25 feb 1807, wife Letitia, children not named, eldest daughter Sarah, 
daughters Maria, Elisa, Letitia, son Joseph.  Executor friend Richard Bassett.  Witnesses 
Rebecca Crow, John Hudson, Benjamin Cochran.  Proved 24 mar 1807. 

247. Gassaway Watkins (p. 457), 26 feb 1807, wife Milcah, children not named, three youngest 
children Gassaway, Robert, and John.  Executor friend Edward H. Veazey.  Witnesses 
Thomas Severson, Jesse Money, James Scanlan.  Proved 06 apr 1807 (Edward H. Veazey 
withdraws). 

248. William Hill of Octorara Hundred (p. 459), 24 mar 1807, wife Isabella, brother Thomas.  
Executor friend Thomas Grubb.  Witnesses Thomas Grubb, Robert Love, James B. Porter.  
Proved 11 apr 1807. 

249. John White of East Nottingham (p. 460), 22 day 5th month (=may) 1805, sons Edward, 
Israel, Levi, daughters Rebecca Brown, Mary Garnell (should this be Garnett?), Esther 
Rowles, Sarah, grandson William Kirk, granddaughter Lydia Kirk.  Executors sons Edward 



and Israel, son-in-law Elihu Rowles.  Witnesses Ellis Chandler, Isaac Chandler, Robert 
Johnston.  Proved 11 apr 1807. 

250. Alexander Thompson (p. 462), 21 mar 1807, sister Mary, daughter Elizabeth Douglass, son 
John Thompson.  Executor his son John.  Witnesses John R. Evans, Moses Scott, James 
Davis.  Proved 14 apr 1807. 

251. Mary Haines widow of Isaac of West Nottingham (p. 463), 1 day 5th month (=may) 1806, 
sons Nathan and Joseph, daughters Elizabeth Reynolds, grandson Isaac Reynolds.  
Executors his son Joseph (Quaker).  Witnesses Jacob Gisiner (Gissiner?) (Quaker), Prudence 
Brown, Elisha Brown (Quaker).  Proved 21 apr 1807. 

252. Daniel Richardson of Elkton (p. 465), between 20 oct and 1 nov 1805, daughters Rebecca 
and Ann, daughter-in-law Sophia Hart, sons and daughters and step-daughters William L. 
Richardson, Joshua Richardson, Nathaniel Richardson, Rebecca Richardson, Ann 
Richardson, Sophia Hart.  Witnesses James Sewals, Tobias Rudolph Sr. and Jr., Dr. John 
King, Polly McCombs, Sarah Frost.  Witnesses state that the deceased had told them he 
wanted Sarah Hart to be treated by his children as their own sister.  Probated 12 feb-11 jun 
1806 (Joshua Richardson withdraws his objections regarding Sarah Hart). 

253. Mary Bird (p. 471), 29 feb 1804, five grandchildren Noble Turner, Ann H. Hamm, Jacob 
Hyland, Mary Hyland, and Martha Hyland, son Thompson Bird now residing in State of 
Georgia.   Executor grandson Jacob Hyland.  Witnesses Stephen Hyland, Maria Kankey, 
Rebecca Kankey.  Codicil 30 sep 1805, nephew Richard Bassett, witnesses Ann Garnett, 
Jacob Hudson, William C. Hazell.  Proved 09 jun 1807. 

254. Mary Hollingsworth (p. 473), 22 apr 1803, daughter Lidia Wallace, sons Thomas, Stephen, 
and John, bonds from Zebulon and Levi Hollingsworth.  Executor his sons Stephen and 
Samuel.  Witnesses Jeremiah Cosden and John Gottier.  Proved 07 aug 1807. 

255. Arthur McDate (p. 474), 10 jul 1807, brother Hugh, friend Henry Lilley, friend William 
Howell.  Witnesses William Howell, Henry Lilly, John McNeelance?  Codicil 10 jul 1807, on 
death of brother Hugh, inheritance reverts to Charles Wesley Howell, same witnesses.  
Proved 4-5 sep 1807 (Hugh McDade withdraws). 

256. Thomas McLeary (McCleary) of North Susquehanna Hundred (p. 476), 25 may 1807, sons 
Joseph McCleary, Thomas, daughter Hannah wife of Elisha Harris, Reverend James Magraw.  
Residual children James, Abraham, Elizabeth McVey widow, Joshua Davis McVey.  
Executors his son Abraham, John Cord.  Witnesses John Megrady, Mary Cather, Elizabeth 
Cather.  Proved 09 sep 1807. 

257. Esther Haines (daughter of Jacob deceased) of West Nottingham (p. 478), 6 day 6th month 
(=jun) 1807, her sisters that live with her mother, viz. Sarah and Prudence.  Executor her 
brother-in-law Daniel Job.  Witnesses Jehu Brown, William Kirk, Elisha Brown.  Proved 12 
sep 1807 (presented by Mary Haines, Quaker, widow). 

258. Dennis James Nowland (p. 479), 25 jul 1807, wife Mary, children not named.  Witnesses 
William Mathews, James Scanlan, William Woodall.  Proved 02 oct 1807. 

259. Richard Foard (p. 480), 08 sep 1807, sister Margrett (Margaret), brother Zebulon, sister 
Sally Biddle, sister Lydia Lancaster.  Witnesses John G. Richardson, Francis Segars.  Proved 
05 oct 1807. 

260. John Mifflin (p. 481), about July 1807, son James Ewing Mifflin, friend Ezekiel Cook, 
nephews Joseph and Lloyd Mifflin (land in Allegany or Westmoreland Count, Pennsylvania), 
sister Rebecca Archer, friend Reuben Aken.  Witnesses Hugh Beard, John Rawlings.  Proved 
26 oct 1807. 

261. Jonathan Hartshorn of North Susquehannah Hundred (p. 482), 06 apr 1807, wife Mary 
Gillespie.  Executor friend James Gillespie Jr., James Jenney (Janney).  Witnesses James Egan 



(Egun), James McCullough (McCollogh), Aquilla (Aquila) Pritchard.  Proved 23 nov 1807 
(James Janney withdraws).   

262. John Scott Sr. (p. 484), 10 dec 1807, wife Martha, sister Jane, stepmother Mary Scott, 
Adam Crozer, nephew William McKean.  Residual heirs nephew John McKean, nephew 
Samuel McKean, children of sister Jane (James, Andrew, Rebeccah, Robert, Benjamin, and 
Jane).  Executor James Alexander of Chester County, Pennsylvania.  Witnesses Thomas 
Hammond, Joseph Hossinger?, William Anderson.  Proved 06 jan 1808. 

263. Elisha Kirk of West Nottingham (p. 486), 07 dec 1807, wife Mary, his father was William 
Kirk of East Nottingham, younger children Nathan and Elisha, father-in-law was William 
Allen, six sons Allen, Jonathan, William, Joseph, Nathan, Elisha, two daughters Hanah, 
Rachel.  Executors his wife Mary and neighbor James Egan.  Witness James Egan.  Proved 
16 jan 1808 (Mary and James withdraw). 

264. Ann Thackery (p. 488), 18 dec 1804, son Robert Hart, daughter Margery George, daughter 
Elizabeth Hyland, witnesses John Barnett, John Hylan, Ann Hart.  Proved 30 jan 1808. 

265. Thomas Simpers Sr. (p. 489), 16 dec 1805, natural son Henry Simpers son of Mary 
Boulden, the natural sons listed in order:   Henry, Thomas, John, Richard, and William (all 
by Mary Boulden), Mary Boulden, to be buried in the orchard next to his daughter Harriet.  
Executor his son Henry.  Witnesses Jeremiah Cosden Esq., Andrew Harvey, John Booth.  
Proved 10 feb 1808. 

266. Dr. William Mathews (p. 494), 11 dec 1807, family burying ground, sisters Rebecca and 
Katherine, deceased brother Arthur, deceased brother James, brother Hugh, nephew James 
Knight (2000 acres patented in my name in Huntingdon County), estate of his uncle James 
Mathews, nephew William Knight (his sister Katherine Knight), nephew Dr. James Scanlan 
and his sister Katherine, three children of nephew John Knight (Edward, Caroline, and 
John), schoolmaster Patrick Edwards.  Executor his nephews Dr. James Scanlan, William 
Knight. 

267. Ann (or Nancy) Rider (she signs Nancy) (p. 496), no date given, sister Susannah Boyles, 
Sister Sarah Foard, Zebulon Foard, Abraham Lancaster.  Witnesses Peter Jackson, Mary 
Kleinhoff.  Proved 27 feb 1808. 

268. William Whann (Whan) (p. 497), 11 mar 1808, wife Elizabeth, daughter Margaret Gillespie 
Whann, son James Gillespie Whann, brothers Ephraim and Levi.   Executors Thomas 
Grubb, Jacob Job.  Witnesses James Janney, James A. McDowell.  Proved 15 mar 1808. 

269. Jeremiah Taylor of Back Creek Hundred (p. 499), 16 apr 1807, sons Isaac, Benjamin 
(absent), Jeremiah Jr., John (to be provided for by Isaac and Jeremiah), daughter-in-law 
Sarah Taylor wife of Benjamin, granddaughter Harriett Clark, grandchildren by my son 
William Taylor (Rebecca, Sarah, Levi, and William), children of Isaac Taylor (Jesse, Jacob).  
Executor his son Jeremiah Jr.  Witnesses Stephen Foulke, William Reynolds (Quaker).  
Proved 02 apr 1808. 

270. John Hussan (perhaps = Hudson?) (p. 501), 22 jun 1808, wife not named, three children of 
my brother William, children of deceased sister Ellinor, daughter Anne (<18), sons James 
and John.  Executors his friends William Howell, Thomas W. Veazey.  Witnesses James 
Wyllie, Robert Brown, John N. Black.  Proved 06 apr 1808. 

271. Hermon Bouldin (p. 503), 23 apr 1808, daughters Mary, Ann, Margaret Stevenson Bouldin, 
burying ground in my orchard, wife Sophia.  Executor Andrew McIntyreof Newcastle 
County my brother-in-law.  Witnesses Richard F. Alexander, Spencer Biddle, William 
Bouldin.  Proved 13 may 1803. 

272. Samuel Watkins (p. 504), 13 may 1803, verbal will, two sisters not named.  Witness William 
Jones.  Proved 28 may 1808. 



273. Francina Hodgson widow (p. 505), 29 dec 1807, heir and executor her brother Richard 
Bassett Esq.  Witnesses Richard Lyon, Ann Garnettt, George Dixon.  Proved 07 apr 1808. 

274. Jonathan White (p. 506), 11 oct 1807, son Jacob (mention patent of 19 nov 1789), 
daughters Rachel, Polly, Sally, Lydia, son Job.  Executor son Job.  Witnesses John Chandler 
(Quaker), Jesse Brown, Elihu Rowls (Quaker).  Proved 31 may 1808. 

275. Jacob Hyland (p. 507), 04 may 1808, wife Ann (Anne).  Witnesses Joseph Baxter, Benjamin 
McKinsey, Samuel Hewett.  Proved 13 jun 1808. 

276. John Ryan (p. 509), 02 apr 1808, wife Priscilla, daughter Leah Burrows, Polly Ryan, Betsey 
Ryan, son Joseph Kerr Ryan, George Ryan, son Walter (<21), son John New Year Ryan.  
Executor his son Joseph Kerr Ryan.  Witnesses Edward Jackson, Elisha Reynolds, James 
Jackson, Alexander Craige, Moses Whitelock.  Proved 23 jun 1808. 

277. Samuel McMullin (p. 511), 16 aug 1807, wife not named, sons Joseph, Samuel, daughters 
Mary Hinds, Margaret (<16), sons Thomas, John, James, Edward, Philip (all <21).  
Executors his wife and his cousin Thomas McMullin.  Witnesses Robert McMullin, 
Jehoiachim Braickley, Samuel Akins (Akers?).  Proved 05 jul 1808. 

278. Charles G. Brookings (Brookins) (p. 512), 09 jun 1808, wife Martha, daughter Elizabeth 
Margaret Gordon Brookings, daughter Mary (both <16), land in Westmoreland Co., 332 
acres, son Richard (<21).  Executor his wife.  Witnesses John Smith, William Oar.  Proved 
06 jul 1808. 

279. John Willson (Wilson) (p. 514), 11 nov 1808), wife Margaret, sons John and Thomas, 
daughters Jane, Mary.  Executors his wife Margaret, son John.  Witnesses James Hegan, 
Mary Johnston.  Proved 12 aug 1808. 

280. Edward Kelly (p. 515), 26 aug 1808, heir and executor his wife not named.  Witnesses 
Hugh Beard, Jean Campbell, Esther Boyd.  Proved 22 sep 1808. 

281. Elizabeth (Ellezebeth) Redgrave (p. 516), 04 sep 1808, sons John and Samuel, Elizer 
Craige (she <16, her sister Sarah ―Crge‖).  Residual heirs her four children Margrat, Sarah, 
John, and Samuel.  Witnesses William Richardson, John Bird, William Jones.  Proved 05 nov 
1808. 

282. Henry Thomas (p. 517), 11 feb 1808, son Henry (<21), nephew Thomas son of his brother 
Christopher Thomas.  Executor Thomas Thomas.  Witnesses Dr. John King, Lewis 
Thomas, William Bolton.  Proved 10 dec 1808. 

283. John Carswell of East Nottingham Hundred (p. 519), ?? nov 1808, son Amor (<60), 
grandson John Carswell Cameron (<21), grandson? James son of Robert Cameron, William 
son of Robert Cameron, grandchildren? Mary, Margaret also children of Robert Cameron, 
Admintar Carswell daughter of Amor aforesaid, daughter Elizabeth wife of Robert 
Cameron.   Executor his son-in-law Robert Cameron.  Witnesses William Terry, Nathaniel 
Oldham, Hugh Beard.  Proved 01 feb 1809. 

284. David Edmiston of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 521), 11 feb 1809, my two newphews 
living in Holstein, Washington County, near Abington, Virginia (the nephews are described 
as ―one of the sons‖ of Samuel Edmiston, and ―one of the sons‖ of John Edmiston, to be 
nominated by their fathers), niece Mary Stephenson daughter of John Stephenson, Martha 
Moore, brother Samuel, sister Mary wife of John Stephenson, niece Hannah McKee (wife of 
Robert), children of deceased sister Hanna Scott (Abraham, David, Alexander, Jean, and 
Sarah), brother-in-law John Stephenson, trustees of West Nottingham Church, nephew 
Samuel Donnol (son of my sister Margaret Donnel, and his brothers and sisters).  Executor 
his friend James Cummings Sr.   Witnesses Naylor Child, Jonathan Reynolds, Jacob Gisiner.  
Proved 16 feb 1809. 



285. Thomas Etherington (p. 523), 04 mar 1807, grandson Elija Etherington, daughter Mealy 
Redgrave, daughter Ann Davis (her children, not named, one is William), grandson Elija 
Davis, children of deceased son Spencer Etherington by his first wife, grandson Thomas 
Davis, grandsons Peregrine Cox, Thomas Cox, Benjamin Cox.  Executors friend John J. 
Cox, John Mercer, Hyland B. Pennington.  Witnesses John J. Cox, John Ward Etherington, 
John Bird.  Proved 22 feb 1809. 

286. Abner Kirk of West Nottingham (p. 527), 31 oct 1808, sons William, Joseph, Benjamin 
Chandler, Abner, daughters Rachel, Elizabeth, Nancy, Hannah, children of daughter Mary 
England (not named, one is Nancy), daughter Susannah Folwell.  Executor Isaac Chandler.  
Witnesses Elisha England (Quaker), Jehu Brown, Hugh Beard.  Proved 22 apr 1809 
(presented by Isaac Chandler, Quaker). 

287. Samuel Clements (p. 529), 2 day 12th month (=dec) 1808, sons Thomas, Jacob, Marsh, 
Isaac (<21), Samuel, daughter Hannah (her mother’s silver teaspoons marked E+C).  
Executor his son Samuel (Quaker).  Witnesses Samuel Hill, Anthony Chamness, Elisha 
Tremble.  Proved 24 feb 1809. 

288. Christopher Johnson (Johnstone, Johnon) a free black man (p. 530), no date given, 
nephews Joseph and Christopher Garnett (both now servants), wife Agnes, children not 
named.  Executors John Maslin (Quaker) merchant of Cecil Cross Roads, Dr. James Scanlan 
of Sassafrass Neck.  Witnesses Frisby Lloyd, Peregrine Briscoe, William Hackett.  Proved 08 
jun 1809. 

289. Joshua George (p. 532), 03 jan 1809, half-brother Andrew Peterson of Newcastle County, 
Delaware, Hugh Patterson.  Executor his half-brother Andrew Peterson.  Witnesses William 
H. Ward, John Mercer (Marcer), Joseph Tibbit, William Davis.  Proved 26 jun 1809 
(presented by John T.? Veazey). 

290. Samuel Gillespie (p. 534), 12 apr 1809, brother Robert, estate of deceased sister 
Temperance Gillespie, aunt Martha Chandlear, brother-in-law John Etherington.  Executor 
his brother-in-law John Etherington.  Witnesses Peregrine Biddle, Francis B. Chandlear.  
Proved 19 aug 1809. 

291. Henry Ewing (p. 535), 29 mar 1808, three sons John, Moses, and James, daughter Susanal 
Gatchel, daughter Nancy Scott, daughters Polly and Betsey, heirs of son Robert Ewing 
deceased, son Henry.  Executor his son John.  Witnesses Thomas Reynolds (Quaker), Jacob 
(Samuel?) Clements (Quaker), Joseph Steel.  Proved 11 dec 1809. 

292. Joshua Pearce (p. 537), 30 nov 1809, Louisa (<16) daughter Samuel Whitlock.  Residual 
heir his wife Julia B. Pearce.  Executor his friend Isaac Price.  Witnesses Joseph Coudon, 
Hugh Flanagan, George Beaston.  Proved 22 dec 1809. 

293. William Richardson (p. 538), 13 jul 1808, wife Sarah, sons James and Matthey, his children 
Rebecca, James, Sarah, Matthew.  Executor his wife Sarah, Edward Henry Veazey.  
Witnesses James Scanlan, John Biddle, William Jones.  Proved 22 dec 1809 (Veazey 
withdraws). 

294. William Johnson of West Nottingham Hundred (p. 540), 27 nov 1809, nephew George 
Gillespie, niece Ann Thompson, niece Mary Donaldson, niece Elizabeth Nisbit, sister 
Rosanna (Rosannah) wife of James Barnes (their sons James and William), niece Jane Graff, 
niece Mary Barns, niece Isabella Barns, nephew James Barns, nephew William Barns, 
nephew Robert Johnson, niece Mary Thompson, niece Elizabeth White, sister Mary 
Johnson, James Cochran Magraw son of Rev. James, trustees of Lower West Nottingham 
Presbyterian Congregation, mill in Drumore Township, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, 
William Johnson Thompson son of niece Mary Thompson.  Residual heirs his nieces and 



nephews above mentioned.  Executor his friend Rev. James Magraw.  Witnesses Abner 
Coulson, John Patten, Samuel Ramsey.  Proved 31 jan 1810. 

296. William Higgins (p. 544), 02 sep 1803, proceeds to be sent to Ireland, sister Sarah, nephew 
John son of Thomas Higgins, Alexander Rogers, Jacob Dunn.  Executor Jacob Dunn.  
Witnesses Catherine Wallace, Mary Rogers.  Proved at Philadelphia, 08 nov 1808 (presented 
by Allen Ridgeway Bricklay of the City of Philadelphia). 

297. Hugh Matthews (p. 545), 08 apr 1809, Margaret Morton, the three boys (she?) ascribes to 
me:  William, Henry, and Hamilton.  Executor Margaret Morton.  Witnesses Joseph 
Rothwell, David Witherspoon, East Mitchell.  Proved in New Castle County 03 oct 1809. 

298. James Gillespie of North Susquehannah Hundred (p. 546), 28 feb 1810, son Robert, 
daughters Nancy Hutchman, Mary Hartshorn, Margaret Janney, grandson Joseph? 
Hutchman son of daughter Nancy, grandson James Gillespie (<21) son of John, grandson 
James Hartshorn (<21), grandson Tillotson Janney (<21), granddaughter Margaret Whan, 
grandson James Gillespie Whan, sons John, James.  Executor son James.  Witnesses Robert 
Evans, James T. McLeary, Jonathan Glasgow.  Proved 21 apr 1810. 

299. Josiah Foard (p. 548), 29 apr 1810, Richard son of brother Hezekiah Foard, nephew 
Richard Mansfield, wife Hannah, Rosa Veinmon, Francina Bayard, Elizabeth Wingate, James 
and Levi G. Foard sons of late brother Richard Boulden Foard, Joseph R. son of brother 
Jeremiah.  Residual heirs:  wife Hannah, brothers Edward, Hezekiah, sisters Tamison, Letitia, 
and Lydia.  Executor his wife Hannah.  Witnesses Fielding Donaldson, Elisha Joyce, Andrew 
Crow Sr.  Proved 14 may 1810. 


